
 

Agenda - Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a 

Chyfathrebu 

Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 2 - y Senedd 

Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 24 Mai 2017 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Steve George 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddDGCh@cynulliad.cymru

Rhag-gyfarfod anffurfiol  

(09:15 - 09:30) 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

   

2 Newyddiaduraeth newyddion yng Nghymru: Sesiwn Dystiolaeth 1 

(09:30 - 10:30) (Tudalennau 1 - 31)  

 

Emma Meese, Rheolwr y Ganolfan, Ysgol Newyddiaduraeth, y Cyfryngau ac 

Astudiaethau Diwylliannol, Prifysgol Caerdydd 

Dr Andy Williams, Uwch Ddarlithydd, Ysgol Newyddiaduraeth, y Cyfryngau ac 

Astudiaethau Diwylliannol, Prifysgol Caerdydd 

 

Ymatebion i'r Ymgynghoriad: Newyddiaduraeth yng Nghymru 

 (Tudalennau 32 - 119)  

3 Newyddiaduraeth newyddion yng Nghymru: Sesiwn Dystiolaeth 2 

(10:30 - 11:30)   

 

Dylan Iorwerth, Golygydd Gyfarwyddwr, Golwg  

Robert Rhys, Cadeirydd, Barn  

 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



4 Trwydded weithredu drafft ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus y 

DU y BBC: sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda Phwyllgor Cynghori Ofcom. 

(11:30 - 12:15) (Tudalennau 120 - 133)  

 

Glyn Mathias, Cadeirydd, Pwyllgor Cynghori Ofcom 

Hywel William, Aelod, Pwyllgor Cynghori Ofcom 

 

5 Papurau i'w nodi 

   

Ymateb Llywodraeth y DU i adroddiad y Pwyllgor: Y Darlun Mawr – Safbwyntiau 

cychwynnol y Pwyllgor ar ddarlledu yng Nghymru 

 (Tudalennau 134 - 135)  

Dyfodol S4C: Rhagor o wybodaeth gan BECTU 

 (Tudalennau 136 - 139)  

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer eitem 7 

   

7 Ôl-drafodaeth breifat 

(12:15 - 12:30)   



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2



The provision of hyperlocal news journalism in Wales 
Emma Meese, Manager, Centre for Community Journalism, Cardiff University  

 
There are in the region of 40 hyperlocal news publications across Wales which we  
are aware of, in addition to more than 50 Welsh language Papurau Bro, which have  
been printed and sold for over 40 years in communities across Wales. It is of vital  
importance that we recognise the value these publications bring to communities,  
and that we find a way to nurture them and help them grow. 
 
Among the valuable work contributing to civic discourse, hyperlocal and community  
news publishers are holding authority to account, delivering contemporaneous and  
in-depth election coverage, campaigning, encouraging civic participation, giving  
communities a voice, storytelling, reflecting cultural identity, promoting civic pride,  
changing perceptions, and plugging gaps in news provision. 
 
Shining examples of leading local news publications across Wales – which are small 
in terms of staffing but huge in terms of impact and importance to the communities 
they serve – are the Caerphilly Observer, Wrexham.com, My Newtown, My 
Welshpool and Deeside.com. Each is run by a handful of individuals who regularly 
publish new, original and up-to-the-minute newsworthy content. 
 
They tackle issues that matter and report on all aspects of civic life, including courts 
and council meetings. These micro businesses are agile and entrepreneurial, and are 
vital to ensuring a thriving news sector in Wales. 
 
We need to ensure that smaller run organisations such as these are no longer 
disadvantaged in that they cannot access the same level of funding and support as 
the large traditional newspapers, which have a monopoly across Wales. 
 
The Port Talbot Guardian closed its doors in 2009, which overnight left 139,000 
residents without access to a single source of local news or information. Around the 
same time seven journalists all lost their jobs from other mainstream media 
organisations. They formed a co-operative and created the Port Talbot Magnet. This 
was of great importance to residents during the uncertainty over the future of Tata 
Steel. However, without access to funding or support, and small local business 
cutting back on their advertising spend, the Magnet was forced to cease operations. 
No town in Wales should be deprived of their local news publication, particularly 
when a small amount of help could have ensured the Magnet continued to provide 
good quality, and essential, local journalism. 
  
Last year Nesta produced a report into revenue streams for hyperlocal publishers 
across the UK and Europe. The findings show that a sustainable business model is an 
increasing challenge, and evidence suggests that the ‘hardest to fund has been local 
news reporting’. Advertising is a common, yet unpredictable, income for hyperlocals 
yet few have the capacity or skills to market their service or sell advertising.  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 10

https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/directory-of-hyperlocals-in-wales/
http://www.nesta.org.uk/publications/hyperlocal-revenues-uk-and-europe


The Centre for Community Journalism (C4CJ) is part of Cardiff University’s 
Transforming Communities engagement projects that demonstrate the University’s 
commitment to the communities of Cardiff, Wales and beyond. We were established 
in 2013 to support new forms of local digital journalism and to explore new, 
sustainable models for news. Our focus is at the local level; the place where 
journalism is most valued, but also most at risk. As well as sitting on the National 
Assembly’s Digital News and Information Taskforce, the BBC’s Local Journalism 
Working Group and the Institute of Welsh Affairs Media Policy Group we have 
trained more than 32,000 learners from 130 different countries. We also provide 
training to Welsh Government, PR professionals, universities and members of the 
community.  
 
Our mission is to promote quality journalism, help address the democratic deficit in 
news poor communities and help create more jobs in journalism at the local and 
hyperlocal level.  
 
We are in the process of launching Independent Community News Network (ICNN), 
which is the UK representative body for the independent community and hyperlocal 
news sector.  
 
There are currently over 400 independent community publications, across the UK, 
many of which are holding decision makers and public services to account; they are 
now a mainstay of the modern media ecology. 
 
But they still face numerous challenges. Chief among these is economics – how to 
make community publications sustainable or viable. 
 
To this end, our objectives are to increase recognition of community publishers, make 
representations on their behalf to policy makers, regulatory bodies, third sector 
funders, businesses and other organisations, and fight for opportunities and fair 
treatment. 
 
In addition to lobbying and advocacy work, the network will draw upon C4CJ’s ongoing 
research in order to inform high quality journalism and sustainability in the local and 
community news sector. 
 
ICNN will broker collaborations with industry partners to contribute to sustainable and 
innovative development within the sector. 
 
ICNN will offer free consultancy services to start-ups and established publications 
alike on issues concerning media law guidance, funding, and new media.  
 
ICNN is in a unique position to deliver the recommendations of this consultation to 
the drastically under-funded community news sector. 
 
ICNN will promote and protect the shared interests of the community news sector in 
the UK by: 

Tudalen y pecyn 11

https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/about-us/


 acting on behalf of all community news publications, from start-ups to 
established businesses; for profits and nonprofits; committed volunteers and 
experienced journalists, and entrepreneurs;  

 to attain recognition and accreditation for the valuable contribution they 
provide to their respective communities and to the democratic process, and to 
advance the case for strong community journalism; 

 by seeking to enhance and foster a dynamic and sustainable community news 
sector through lobbying, advocacy, training, networking, research and 
monitoring 

 to ensure the success of our members’ organisations through leveraging 
economic opportunities; 

 to lead innovation and collaboration that serves the aims and ambitions of the 
sector; 

 to promote and help maintain the highest possible standards of journalism; 

 to seize opportunities to strengthen job growth in the sector by researching 
and investing in models of good and effective practice and in technology based 
solutions. 

 
There is a myth that we need to continue to support and prop up traditional print 
media in order to save local journalism from certain death. Whilst continued support 
is important, what is even more important is that hundreds of other deserving news 
publishers are no longer ignored. 
 
The BBC reported  that Newquest was awarded £245,808 in 2015 to secure 50 jobs 
and safeguard a further 15 positions in Newport. This is in addition to the £95,226 
support it received under the Skills Growth Wales programme in 2013/14. 
 
Giving money to a single news provider, which has continued its steady flow of job 
cuts for a number of years, was never going to be the solution to saving jobs in 
journalism. However, sharing a slice of the pie among many smaller independent 
publishers would be of far greater democratic and economic benefit to tax payers 
across Wales. 
 
We need to stop thinking in terms of ‘newspapers’ and start thinking in terms of 
‘news publishers’. This is as crucial when deciding who can publish public notices as 
it is when giving out funding. It’s time to balance the scales and ensure that all news 
publishers are given the same opportunities to grow and flourish. 
 
We live in a digital era and news providers no longer look the same. The media 
ecology has expanded far beyond local news simply being provided via a local 
newspaper. 
 
The growing hyperlocal and community news sector thrives in various guises across 
the UK. Many are plugging the gap left behind by traditional print media, which have 
either diminished in communities or left altogether. 
 
The smaller news publications may not all look the same, but they have one thing in 

Tudalen y pecyn 12

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-39217385


common – they play an increasingly important role in addressing the democratic 
deficit and supporting the information needs of communities. These individuals 
choose to suffer long council meetings and monotonous briefings in order to 
scrutinise those representing them and provide civic value. 
 
Look at the amazing work they do with only one or two members of staff, and 
imagine the impact they could have as a team of three or four. A relatively small 
amount of funding can go a long way, in the right hands. 
 
Local news needs reporters who are embedded in the communities they serve, not 
filing remotely from the other end of the country. Geographic proximity delivers 
nuance, accountability, and better journalism. It helps build trust between 
journalism and local people. Something that is needed now more than ever. 
 
It’s time to start looking at the big picture and provide funding to those who really 
can make a difference: hyperlocal and community news publishers. 
 
Instead of ignoring the individual contributions of these relatively smaller publishers, 
it is the recommendation of C4CJ and ICNN that governments and public bodies start 
to realise the potential of the sector as a whole and its capacity to affect positive 
change in communities. 
 
Money shared between several grassroots publications across Wales could have a 
much bigger impact and genuinely helped revive journalism at the local level. 

 
The NJ News Commons is a groundbreaking initiative established to connect news  
organisations throughout the state of New Jersey. It reflects the commitment of  
Montclair State University and its innovative Center for Cooperative Media at the  
School of Communication and Media to ensure that New Jersey’s news ecosystem is  
healthy, vibrant and dynamic.  
 
A project which is this inquiry may be interested in looking at is The NJ Story 
Exchange. It is an initiative to facilitate sharing within the New Jersey news 
ecosystem. The Story Exchange is powered by iCopyright, which allows news 
organisations to offer their content for embedding on other sites for free (with ads) 
or for payment (without ads). iCopyright also helps publishers brand and sell reprints 
of their stories. 
There are advantages to sharing content: views you receive on embedding sites  
counts toward your overall web traffic; click-throughs bring you new readers; there  
is no Google indexing penalty for stories running on other sites; and you can send  
ads with your content. 
 
Another project of interest is The Knight Foundation, which funds journalism 
projects in the USA. Wales has no equivalent offering seed corn funding for small 
start up news organisations. Like any other sector, journalism start-ups need support 
in order to be sustainable and viable.  
Hyperlocal media is already an established part of the Welsh media ecology. We  

Tudalen y pecyn 13

http://njnewscommons.org/
http://centerforcooperativemedia.org/story-exchange/
http://centerforcooperativemedia.org/story-exchange/
http://info.icopyright.com/
https://knightfoundation.org/


believe all that is needed is a perception change about the value it adds, so that not  
only communities and publishers are actively aware, but that businesses, potential  
advertisers, public bodies, funders and governments are too. 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 14



 1 

 1 

Hyperlocal Community News: Its current state and future prospects 2 
 3 
Dr. Andy Williams, Cardiff University School of Journalism, Media and Cultural Studies 4 
 5 
In the second of two essays about local news in Wales I draw principally on my own UK-wide research1 6 
into the emergent field of hyperlocal community news. Along with my collaborators, and colleagues at 7 
Cardiff University’s Centre for Community Journalism, I have been researching hyperlocal news in the 8 
UK since 2013. In this article I draw on a series of interviews with, and a large internet survey of, 9 
community news producers, along with a large content analysis of the news produced by UK 10 
hyperlocals, to provide a detailed overview of the growth of this sector, its wide-ranging impacts, its 11 
considerable challenges, and future prospects. 12 
 13 
 14 

Who produces hyperlocalcommunity  news, and how do they describe what they do? 15 
 16 
Our survey results suggest that the UK hyperlocal news sector is now reasonably well-established, in 17 
internet terms, and is dominated by players who have achieved a degree of longevity (nearly three 18 
quarters have been producing news for over three years, and around a third for more than five years). 19 
Seven out of ten of these producers see what they do as a form of active community participation, over 20 
half see it as local journalism, and over half as an expression of active citizenship (Williams et al 2014).  21 
 22 
Almost half also have some mainstream journalistic training or experience. So this is not, as it is often 23 
assumed, a sector dominated by citizen journalists at the expense of those with more professional 24 
training or experience. That said, apart from a growing professional and professionalising minority, this 25 
is a sector dominated by volunteers who are not primarily motivated by making money from what they 26 
do (ibid.).  27 
 28 
 29 

What, and who, gets covered in hyperlocal community news? 30 
 31 
Many thousands of mainstream UK local and regional news reporters have been made redundant in 32 
recent years (see accompanying essay about the established news media Wales). Local newspaper 33 
editions serving individual districts have also gone, along with the local offices that used to make it 34 
easier to meet residents and audiences and to truly embed oneself in a community. As a result local 35 
news has become much more remote from the communities it is meant to serve, and independent local 36 
stories (which are expensive to gather and source) have been increasingly replaced by cheap wire copy 37 
and PR-based churnalism (Williams et al 2015). 38 
 39 
By contrast, hyperlocal news is almost always produced by people in and of their communities, and 40 
many serve areas which have been hit by the closure of a local newspaper, or where there never was 41 
much traditional local coverage in the first place (Harte et al 2017; Williams et al 2014). Almost all the 42 
posts analyzed in our content analysis had a very strong local angle. We found that the largest topic of 43 
news in our content analysis related to local, day-to-day, community activities and events. These are 44 
mainly stories about the meetings of community groups and local clubs & societies (think meetings of 45 
the WI or the camera club), or one-off community events held for the general public (such as summer 46 
fetes). We also found a lot of stories about local councils and the services provided by local 47 
government, so hyperlocal news audiences are exposed to a lot of information that could be high in 48 
civic value (Williams et al 2015).  49 
 50 
Another common thing to track in studies like this is the use of different kinds of news sources, the 51 
people who are quoted in local news, and who therefore have the power to define local issues and events 52 

                                                        
1 This research was part of a big AHRC-funded project entitled Media, Community, and the Creative Citizen. 

Tudalen y pecyn 15



 2 

on these news platforms. We know from existing studies that more established commercial local news 53 
outlets, like newspapers or more professional news websites, are very authority-oriented in their 54 
sourcing strategies, sometimes at the expense of regular, everyday, residents of an area. As with the 55 
more established press, official sources in government, business, the police are very important in the 56 
community news sector. But a key difference is the role afforded to members of the public, and to 57 
people from local community groups. Ordinary people get more of a voice in UK hyperlocal than 58 
studies of more traditional local news indicate, so communities are, in these respects, well represented 59 
by hyperlocal news (ibid.). 60 
 61 
 62 

Campaigning and investigative hyperlocal community news: 63 
 64 
In its plurality of voices and topics covered, its coverage of a range of areas of local life, and its 65 
intensively local focus, UK community news serves its readers very well. We also wanted to figure out 66 
if this emergent form of news played other traditional roles of the local press, such as holding local 67 
elites to account, or standing up for communities when things get tough. These are generally seen as 68 
difficult and time-consuming things to do, so we were surprised and encouraged to see they were often 69 
done very well indeed in this new sector. 70 
 71 
Campaigns are, of course, important to the local news’ ability to advocate for communities. Despite 72 
journalism’s traditional commitment to objectivity and impartiality here is a long tradition of established 73 
news outlets taking up causes and fighting on behalf of, and alongside, local news audiences in the UK. 74 
42% of our survey respondents have “started a campaign where the site has sought to change things 75 
locally in the last 2 years”. Far more, 72%, have joined in, or supported, the campaigns of others. 76 
Investigations are, of course, important to the news’ ability to hold local elites to account. Despite this 77 
kind of work being time consuming, and sometimes risky, 44% or respondents have “carried out an 78 
investigation which has helped uncover controversial new information about local civic issues or 79 
events” in the last 2 years (Williams et al 2014). 80 
 81 
As in the mainstream local press, the issues campaigned about, or investigated, are varied. The 82 
qualitative evidence around this from our interviews and the survey indicate they can be very small and 83 
“hyperlocal” (relating to minor planning complaints, signage, the quality of thoroughfares, or that very 84 
British complaint: a surfeit of dog poo on local thoroughfares). But they can also be pretty big, 85 
consistently addressing issues in the public interest, and often taking on powerful elite interests (for 86 
example, by tackling cuts to public services, major developments, public safety problems, local 87 
governance accountability issues, and even instances of official corruption) (ibid.). 88 
 89 
 90 

Connecting communities, online and in the real world: 91 
 92 
In addition to examining whether, and how, community news might be playing traditional democratic 93 
roles we have also found evidence that hyperlocals are fulfilling different, and in some cases new, civic 94 
functions related to their position as key nodes in real world and virtual local information networks. We 95 
established strong evidence of the use with social media and new technology to engage and interact with 96 
audiences in the sector (Cable and Williams 2014). Much research into the community-building, and 97 
community-enhancing, potential of new media has stressed how digital and social platforms allow 98 
journalists to connect audience and community members together, strengthening community bonds 99 
(Hermida 2012).  100 
 101 
Dominant trends in the research base suggest that local news audiences, and the content they provide, 102 
tend to be understood by established professional UK local news companies in two primary ways: as 103 
untapped editorial commercial opportunities (with UGC to be “harvested”); and/or quantifiable units in 104 
the attention economy (with clicks to be monetized) (Harte et al 2017). Relationships with audiences 105 
have tended to be vertical, and extractive, rather than collaborative and dialogic (Howells 2015; Nicey 106 

Tudalen y pecyn 16



 3 

2016). Local legacy media experiments with community hyperlocal news have correspondingly been 107 
found wanting, often because audiences have not responded well to news experiments whose clear main 108 
aim is to extract and monetize their value while cutting the costs associated with traditional news 109 
gathering (Baines 2010, 2012; St John et al 2014). 110 
 111 
Our research suggests that much UK hyperlocal news is more horizontal, dialogic, rooted in physical 112 
and online local everyday community spaces, and based on more equal & socially embedded reciprocal 113 
exchange relationships (sometimes in ways which evoke long-lost professional journalistic practices 114 
such as walking “local news beats”; sometimes in ways which harness the connectivity and power of the 115 
internet to bring people in communities together). We also find that hyperlocal news practices often 116 
blend on- and offline journalistic & community activist practices in mutually re-enforcing ways (e.g. by 117 
running online appeals for support whn community members ned help, running social media surgeries 118 
and supporting local organisations in their digital communications, organizing Facebook school uniform 119 
exchanges to allow local parents to save money by recycling childrens’ clothes, etc.) (Harte et al 2017). 120 
All of this means that much hyperlocal journalistic activity is actually or potentially effective at 121 
strengthening community bonds, and encouraging relationships of reciprocal echange and mutual aid so 122 
essential to community cohesion and increasing social capital (Lewis et al 2014). 123 
 124 
 125 

How is hyperlocal funded? 126 
 127 
Given the serious economic decline in the wider local news industry it is important that we understand 128 
the economic strength of this sector. Despite the impressive social and democratic value of hyperlocal 129 
news content, community news in the UK is generally not a field rich in economic value. There exists a 130 
growing group of professional and professionalizing entrepreneurial local news startups (a chink of light 131 
in a gloomy and darkening local news market). But the sector is, on the whole, dominated by a large 132 
pool of volunteers covering their own costs, and doing what they do for the love, rather than money 133 
(Williams et al 2014).  134 
 135 
Around a third of our survey participants make money, and most of these only make quite modest 136 
amounts. At the top end of the earning spectrum just over one in ten say they generate more than £500 137 
per month in revenues. Most community news producers fund the running costs of their sites from their 138 
own pockets (further suggesting high levels of volunteerism), with around one in four raising enough 139 
money to at least cover their costs, and a further 16% “more than covering” their costs (ibid.). 140 
 141 
While many employ a mixture of revenue streams, online advertising is the dominant form of income 142 
generation among those who seek to make money. A problem here is that, because hyperlocal outlets 143 
often suffer from a lack of visibility and penetration in their areas (Radcliffe 2015), those who do seek 144 
to make money from their sites with online ad revenues often have an uphill struggle.  A number of 145 
other revenue streams are also used, such as: 146 

 crowd funding (a disadvantage of crowd funding is the time-intensive nature of campaigns, 147 
coupled with the short-term, one-off nature of the revenue stream; an advantage is that funding 148 
drives can help increase audiences and drive audience loyalty);  149 

 forming audience co-operatives (this is also hard work, but can guarantee a steady stream of 150 
income, and engages audiences with a local news service by giving them unprecedented 151 
opportunities to own and influence policy and coverage);  152 

 getting grant money from charities & foundations (organizations such as Nesta and the Carnegie 153 
UK Trust have provided valuable targeted funding to help hyperlocals develop and become more 154 
sustainable);  155 

 charity funding through local community development trusts (such as the long-standing Ambler, 156 
in Amble, Northumberland, where Anna Williams a journalist and community worker is paid to 157 
produce a news website and printed paper, and to encourage broad community participation in 158 
the project);  159 

Tudalen y pecyn 17



 4 

 cross-subsidizing local news work with other streams of income (such as training or consultancy 160 
work); and, increasingly  161 

 print advertising models using free newspapers delivered through doors, or regularly distributed 162 
at fixed points in communities (this can hugely increase readerships, making it easier to 163 
convince local advertisers to become clients, and can also help overcome a widely-reported and 164 
somewhat conservative reticence among smaller advertisers to pay for online-only ads).  165 

 166 
Overall, our data suggests that while the UK local news market may sustain some community news 167 
outlets under some conditions, it’s currently unable to sustain this kind of news on a large scale, 168 
consistently, across the country. Unlike traditional commercial local newspaper publishers (which 169 
attract public subsidies such as statutory notices and VAT breaks), no subsidies are routinely available 170 
to smaller independent online news providers in this sector (Williams and Harte 2016). 171 
 172 
 173 

How sustainable is hyperlocal community news? 174 
 175 
In a sector that is largely underpinned by volunteer labour, sustainability is not only a question of 176 
money. In our interviews, we couldn’t help but be struck by numerous indications of the precarious 177 
nature of many community news operations. People’s professional and personal circumstances change, 178 
many “burn out”, and the quality, consistency, and longevity of hyperlocal news sites can vary because 179 
of this (Harte et al 2016). UK community news is largely non-institutional by nature, and because these 180 
services are so closely tied to the personal circumstances of individuals there’s no guarantee that a news 181 
outlet will survive the loss of a key contributor (Williams and Harte 2016).  182 
 183 
Widespread voluntarism is producing much public value in the community news sector, but it’s a fragile 184 
foundation on which to base something as important to democracy, civic, and cultural life as the 185 
generation of local news. Some argue that volunteer labour can underpin this field in much the same 186 
way as it already does with other areas of UK public life (elements of the local justice system, school 187 
governance, etc.). I fear that it may not be enough to sustain community news sites in the long term. 188 
Local news has never before relied to such an extent on the pursuits of private individuals – it has 189 
always needed strong institutions, backed up the power and social capital of a newspaper office with all 190 
its editorial, legal, and institutional support mechanisms. Without the profits needed to remunerate 191 
people the sector may well be too precarious to sustain the kind of institutions which have previously 192 
been necessary prerequisites for a strong, independent, and critical local news. 193 
 194 
 195 

Hyperlocal community news: Plugging news black holes? 196 
 197 
In regularity and volume of publication, and geographic consistency of coverage across the UK, the 198 
community news sector is somewhat patchy and variable. The overall numbers of hyperlocal news 199 
producers, as well as their labour power, should also be put into perspective. One way to do this is to 200 
compare the numbers of new hyperlocal news producers with the numbers of redundant professional 201 
journalists in an area: I did this with my own city, Cardiff and its surrounding valleys towns, to give a 202 
rough indication of what’s been lost and what is being gained there.  203 
 204 
According to their own annual accounts, Trinity Mirror news subsidiary Media Wales, which serves this 205 
region, employed almost 700 journalistic and production staff in 1999; this figure had fallen to just 100 206 
by 2015 (when they published the most recent figures). How many community journalists have taken 207 
their place? The LocalWebList map of community news sites lists 20 sites in Media Wales’ patch, and 208 
they’re run by no more than 40 regular news contributors, most of them working part time for little or 209 
no money.  210 
 211 
Hyperlocal in the UK produces much news of great public value. But In terms of the numbers of news 212 
producers, and their capacity for (mainly part-time) work, community news can only partially plug 213 

Tudalen y pecyn 18



 5 

growing local news deficits caused by the widespread withdrawal of established professional journalism 214 
from communities. 215 
 216 
 217 

Conclusion: the future of UK hyperlocal news 218 
 219 
Looking at our data you see three broad groups. Firstly, there is a small group of, themselves small, 220 
often precarious, but crucially economically viable community news services. This a rare good news 221 
story about local news in the UK, and we should do everything we can to foster and support this group, 222 
as well as to encourage others to join them. Secondly, we have a number of sites run by hobbyists who 223 
are now trying, in difficult market conditions, to professionalise in different ways (numerous 224 
community journalists who have been happy to produce their sites for free in their spare time are now 225 
developing the confidence and ambition to join the ranks of the more entrepreneurial start-ups 226 
mentioned above). Thirdly, we’ve got a larger, also precarious, group of volunteer-led sites that have no 227 
interest in making money, who’ll carry on doing this as long as they want to, before closing their site or 228 
transferring it to somebody else to run and produce (Williams and Harte 2016).  229 
 230 
Players in all three groups are producing public interest news, often of impressive quality and quantity, 231 
but it faces significant challenges, and its promise should not be over-stated. The sector has benefited 232 
from varied kinds of support, and many hyperlocals have so far been able to work with groups like Talk 233 
About Local, Nesta, the Carnegie UK Trust, the Media Trust, and my own University’s Centre for 234 
Community Journalism (which is also submitting evidence to this committee) to access practical help, 235 
guidance, and in some cases funding in a range of areas.  236 
 237 
Those seeking to make money face serious challenges and a tough market dominated by established 238 
news publishers who have long dominated local and regional advertising systems. I believe that our 239 
combined knowledge about the mainstream traditional, and emergent community news sectors allows us 240 
to see local news in the UK as a public good: something that society needs, but which the market can no 241 
longer provide in sufficient quality or quantity. This logic arguably underpins existing public subsidy to 242 
local newspaper groups, but we have a paradoxical situation where our current local news policies 243 
protect entrenched, declining interests, while not supporting new, emergent players no matter how 244 
beneficial they are to the communities they serve.  245 
 246 
I think that to support and foster local news as a public good in the 21st Century we will need a re-247 
evaluation of local news policies to encourage newer entrants to the market, to foster experimentation 248 
with different funding models, and stimulate independent, plural and truly local news in print and 249 
online. It’s clear that the professional and professionalising part of the sector would benefit from a range 250 
of policy interventions but the most useful might be smart, independently-administered, contestable, 251 
funding to help them try out, and test, different models for funding and distributing independent public 252 
interest local news in different places to help the sector as a whole develop and become more 253 
sustainable. 254 
 255 
 256 

Works Cited: 257 
 258 
Baines, David. 2010. “Hyper-local: Glocalised rural news.” International Journal of Sociology and 259 

Social Policy, 30(9/10):581-592. 260 
Baines, David. 2012. “Hyper-local news: A glue to hold rural communities together?” Local 261 

Economy, 27(2):152-166. 262 
Cable, J. and Williams, A. J. 2014. Community engagement and hyperlocal news: A practical 263 

guide. Report. Cardiff University. Available 264 
at: https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/39229287/Hyperlocal%20Community%20Engagement%265 
20Guide%20Final.pdf   266 

Tudalen y pecyn 19

https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/39229287/Hyperlocal%20Community%20Engagement%20Guide%20Final.pdf
https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/39229287/Hyperlocal%20Community%20Engagement%20Guide%20Final.pdf


 6 

Harte, D., Turner, J. and Williams, A. 2016. “Discourses of enterprise in hyperlocal community news in 267 
the UK”. Journalism Practice 10(2), pp. 233-250. 268 

Harte, D., Williams, A. and Turner, J. 2017. Reciprocity and the hyperlocal journalist. Journalism 269 
Practice 11(2-3), pp. 160-176. 270 

Hermida, Alfred. 2011. “Mechanisms of participation” in Participatory Journalism, edited by Jane 271 
B. Singer, Alfred Hermida, David Domingo, Ari Heinonen, Steve Paulussen,  Thorsten Quandt, 272 
Zvi Reich, and Marina Vujnovic, 3-33. New York:  Wiley-Blackwell. 273 

Lewis, Seth C., Avery E. Holton and Mark Coddington. 2014. “Reciprocal Journalism.” Journalism 274 
Practice, 8(2):229-241. 275 

Nicey, Jérémie. 2016. “Semi-Professional Amateurs”, in The Sage Handbook of Digital Journalism, 276 
edited by Tamara Witschge, C.W. Anderson, David Domingo, and Alfred Hermida, 222-235. 277 
London: Sage. 278 

Radcliffe, Damian (2015) Where Are We Now? UK Hyperlocal media and community journalism in 279 
2015, Cardiff and London: Centre for Community Journalism and Nesta, available at: 280 
https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-281 
Screen.pdf 282 

St. John, Burton, Johnson, K., and Nah, S. 2014. “Patch.com: The challenge of connective 283 
community journalism in the digital sphere.” Journalism Practice, 8:(2):197-212. 284 

Williams, A. and Harte, D. 2015. Hyperlocal News. In: Witschge, T., Anderson, C.W., Hermida, A., 285 
and Domingo, D. eds. The Sage Handbook of Digital Journalism. London: Sage. 286 

Williams, A. and Harte, D. 2016. The rise and rise of hyper-local news in the UK. In: Mair, J., 287 
Clarke, T. and Fowler, N. eds. Last Words?: How can journalism survive the decline of 288 
print?.   Abramis, pp. 59-64. 289 

Williams, A., Harte, D. and Turner, J. 2015. The value of UK hyperlocal community news. Digital 290 
Journalism. 291 

Williams, A. Barnett, S., Harte, D., and Townend, J. 2014. The state of UK hyperlocal community news: 292 
findings from a survey of practitioners. Report. Cardiff University, Available 293 
at: https://hyperlocalsurvey.files.wordpress.com/2014/07/hyperlocal-community-news-in-the-uk-294 
2014.pdf  295 

Zamenopoulos, Theodore, and Katerina Alexiou, Giota Alevizou, Caroline Chapain, Shawn Sobers and 296 
Andy Williams (2016) “Varieties of Creative Citizenship”, in Hargreaves, Ian and John Hartley 297 
(eds.) The Creative Citizen Unbound: How Social Media and DIY Culture Contribute to 298 
Democracy, Communities, and the Creative Economy. Bristol: Policy Press. 299 

Tudalen y pecyn 20

https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-Screen.pdf
https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-Screen.pdf
https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-Screen.pdf


 1 

7 shocking local news industry trends which should terrify you. 1 

The withdrawal of established journalism from Welsh communities and its effects 2 

on public interest reporting. 3 
 4 
Dr Andy Williams, School of Journalism, Media, and Cultural Studies, Cardiff University 5 
 6 
In the first of two essays about local news in Wales, I draw on Welsh, UK, and international research, 7 
published company accounts, trade press coverage, and first-hand testimony about changes to the 8 
economics, journalistic practices, and editorial priorities of established local media. With specific 9 
reference to the case study of Media Wales (and its parent company Trinity Mirror) I provide an 10 
evidence-based and critical analysis which charts both the steady withdrawal of established local 11 
journalism from Welsh communities and the effects of this retreat on the provision of accurate and 12 
independent local news in the public interest. A second essay, also submitted as evidence to this 13 
committee, explores recent research about the civic and democratic value of a new generation of 14 
(mainly online) community news producers. 15 
 16 
 17 

1. Local newspapers are in serious (and possibly terminal) decline 18 
 19 
In 1985 Franklin found 1,687 local newspapers in the UK (including Sunday and free titles); by 2005 20 
this had fallen by almost a quarter to 1,286 (Franklin 2006b). By 2015 the figure stood at 1,100, a 35% 21 
drop over 30 years, with a quarter of those lost being paid-for newspapers (Ramsay and Moore 2016). 22 
The same research finds only a small number of new local titles launched over the same period. Industry 23 
executives have downplayed these figures, arguing that most of the closures were to free weekly titles, 24 
and that previous, more extreme, predictions around newspaper closures (e.g. that of Enders 2009) had 25 
“blown [the problem] out of proportion” (Sweney 2015). The loss of more than a third of local titles, 26 
however inaccurate previous predictions may have been, is not something to be dismissed so easily. 27 
Wales has not suffered newspaper losses of this magnitude yet, but Welsh communities from Port 28 
Talbot in the South, to Wrexham in the North, have felt the loss of news outlets. As Howells’ research 29 
(2015, discussed below) finds, the loss of a dedicated local news outlet can have serious and wide 30 
ranging effects on local public debate. 31 
 32 
A less dramatic and visible, but equally disturbing, trend can be found in across-the-board declines in 33 
Welsh newspaper circulations. Between 2008 and 2015: The Daily Post declined 33 per cent (from over 34 
36,000 to 24,485); the South Wales Echo lost 60 per cent of readers (from 46,127 to 18,408); and the 35 
South Wales Evening Post’s circulation fell by 46 per cent (from 51,329 to 27,589) (IWA 2015, p.62). A 36 
longer-term view of circulation decline is evident in figure 1, which charts average 6-monthly 37 
circulation of the Western Mail since the turn of the century. 38 

39 

Tudalen y pecyn 21



 2 

Figure 1. 40 

 41 
 42 
These data show that the national newspaper of Wales has lost almost three quarters of its audited 43 
circulation since 2000. This is alarming for numerous reasons, but mainly: because print circulation 44 
revenues still remain very important to the balance sheets of major local news publishers (see point 5, 45 
below); and due to the likely continued decline in the perceived value of print among advertisers as 46 
audiences continue to shrink (there will come a time when it no longer pays to advertise to relatively 47 
small printed newspaper audiences).  The Western Mail has consistently lost around 10,000 daily sales 48 
every four or five years over the last two decades; if this trend continues there will be no readers left by 49 
the early-to-mid-2020s. 50 
 51 
The effects for a community when a newspaper is lost are serious. When the Port Talbot Guardian (a 52 
local weekly newspaper) closed down in 2009 citizens lost their primary source of day-to-day 53 
information about how to navigate civic and community life. But they also lost (what had previously 54 
been) a newspaper of record, and a large portion of the town’s collective memory. This kind of loss was 55 
echoed by Trinity Mirror’s particularly damaging recent decision to cut off Welsh citizens from much of 56 
the South Wales Evening Post online archive as part of a group-wide efficiency drive after the Local 57 
World buyout. The effects of losing one of Wales’ large daily newspapers in this way could be more 58 
serious and wide-ranging. 59 
 60 
 61 

2. The local news industry is losing money hand over fist: 62 
 63 
Local news has traditionally sustained itself in two main ways: by selling news products to us, and by 64 
selling our attention to advertisers. Both of these principal revenue streams are now under threat, and 65 
have substantially decreased. Local newspaper advertising income fell by an average of 6.6% per 66 
annum over the period from 2009 to 2013; the drop included both display and classified advertising, 67 
with classified ad expenditure – previously a staple of the local newspaper sector – falling 63% between 68 
2007 and 2012 (Ramsay and Moore 2016).  69 
 70 
As we have seen, at the same time as advertising revenues have fallen we have seen drastic reductions 71 
in revenues from sales of printed news, and no widespread adoption of, or experimentation with, paid 72 
content strategies for digital local news (Greenslade 2009, Williams 2012, Mintel 2013). Sales of 73 
printed local newspapers have declined across the board and circulation revenues have been 74 
correspondingly hit. Revenues from the local press, which in most cases has been more reliant on 75 
advertising income than cover price, have declined significantly, and in some cases have more than 76 
halved (Picard 2008). In a detailed and extreme local case study former regional newspaper editor 77 

55,273

15,259

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000
Ja

n
 0

0
-J

u
n

 0
0

Ja
n

 0
1

-J
u

n
 0

1

Ja
n

 0
2

-J
u

n
 0

2

Ja
n

 0
3

-J
u

n
 0

3

Ja
n

 0
4

-J
u

n
 0

4

Ja
n

 0
5

-J
u

n
 0

5

Ja
n

 0
6

-J
u

n
 0

6

Ja
n

 0
7

-J
u

n
 0

7

Ja
n

 0
8

-J
u

n
 0

8

Ja
n

 0
9

-J
u

n
 0

9

ja
n

 1
0

-J
u

l 1
0

Ja
n

 1
1

-J
u

n
 1

1

ja
n

 1
2

-j
u

l 1
2

ja
n

 1
3

-j
u

l 1
3

ja
n

 1
4

-j
u

l 1
4

Ja
n

 1
5

-J
u

l1
5

Ja
n

1
6

-J
u

l1
6

Western Mail Average Circulations, 6-
monthly (source: ABC)

Tudalen y pecyn 22



 3 

turned academic Keith Perch (2015) showed that revenues at the Leicester Mercury sank from £59m to 78 
just £16m between 1996 and 2011.  79 
 80 
Media Wales’s revenues and profits over the last two decades offer a useful, and broadly representative, 81 
case study to explore analogous trends in Wales.  82 
 83 
Figure 2. 84 

 85 
 86 
Between 1999 and 2005 revenues grew steadily by almost £15 million, and profitability soared. This 87 
was largely down to a combination of still very high print advertising revenues, and (in common with 88 
other major publishers) sustained cuts to the editorial workforce combined with successive restructuring 89 
exercises carried out in order to save money and maintain high profits. Profit margins in the period 90 
2002-2008 hovered between 27 and 36 per cent, making the company among the most profitable in 91 
Wales of any kind (Media Wales Annual Accounts). The 2008 financial crisis led to a long advertising 92 
recession, and slump from which the local news industry has yet to emerge. Revenues fell by more than 93 
50 per cent against the high-water mark of 2005, and profits shrank. Interestingly (excepting 20131) 94 
profit margins were still maintained at between six and 18 per cent. This might pale in comparison with 95 
previous figures, but relative to other sectors and industries this is still high, and reflects the way in 96 
which the company continued to implement ruthless efficiency savings and maintained efforts to 97 
consolidate throughout this turbulent period. 98 
 99 
 100 

3. Established journalism is rapidly withdrawing from Welsh communities: 101 
 102 
Arguably the most concerning issue caused by the collapse in the local news business model has been 103 
the steady withdrawal of established professional journalism from newsrooms and communities because 104 
of the large numbers of job losses caused by 15 years of redundancies, staff cuts, and recruitment 105 
freezes. There are no reliable figures to determine exact longitudinal staffing trends but from the 106 
fragmentary existing research it is clear that the human resources of the local news industry have been 107 
decimated in recent years. A National Union of Journalists (NUJ) Commission on multimedia in 2007 108 
found that “there had been editorial job cuts at 45% of titles since online operations were introduced”. 109 
The Newspaper Society has since stopped publishing figures on industry job losses, but figures cited by 110 
Nel suggest there was a 13.75% contraction in the number of local and regional press jobs between 111 
2002 and 2007, a fall from 13,020, to 11230 (Nel 2010). By October 2015 Press Gazette estimated, 112 

                                                      
1 The sharp drop in profits in 2013 reflects a huge, group-wide, devaluation of the company’s intangible assets (which 

includes things like relationships with advertisers, the value of a company’s brand, etc). 

7,819

19,624

3,158

40,983

55,356

21,758

-30,000

-20,000

-10,000

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

Turnover & Profitability at WME/Media Wales, 
1999-2015 (source: audited annual accounts)

Pre-tax profits (000s) Turnover (000s)

Tudalen y pecyn 23



 4 

based on analysis of selected companies’ staffing levels reported to Companies House, that the number 113 
of professional journalists employed in the local press was about half what it had been before the 2008 114 
recession. Oliver and Ohlbaum’s 2015 report appears to substantiate Press Gazette estimates: it stated 115 
that Trinity Mirror reduced its workforce by 47% between 2008 and 2013, Johnston Press by 46%, and 116 
Archant’s by 27% over the same period (Oliver and Ohlbaum 2015). Studies of individual media 117 
groups, reporting in specific locales, and over longer periods, shed further light on the nature and scale 118 
of this problem. Howells found that the two largest regional news organisations in South Wales were 119 
staffed by almost 1000 editorial and production employees in the year 2000, but by 2014 this had 120 
shrunk to under 300 (Howells 2015). Similarly, the Leicester Mercury Group employed 581 staff in 121 
1996, but only 107 by 2011 (Perch 2015).  122 
 123 
Figure 3. 124 

 125 
 126 
At Media Wales2 there were almost 700 editorial and production staff in 1999 (Williams 2012), but by 127 
2015 this had shrunk by over 85 per cent with the company employing only 100 (Media Wales 2014). 128 
This means that local communities in Cardiff and the Valleys are currently being served by 85% fewer 129 
journalists and production staff than in 1999; for every ten reporters (or subs, or designers) working in 130 
the region 16 years ago, only one and a half remain. In 2013 there were more people employed in 131 
admin, sales, and distribution at Media Wales than journalists putting together two daily newspapers, 132 
seven weeklies, one Sunday, and a daily news website.  133 
 134 
The Celtic weekly newspapers, seven titles serving Pontypridd, Merthyr, Aberdare, Llantrisant, and the 135 
entire Rhondda Valleys, have been particularly neglected. I remember these newspapers a young news 136 
consumer growing up in the area, and I spent time at the Pontypridd Observer as a student on work 137 
experience in the mid 1990s. These once-proud local papers used to be have accessible offices on the 138 
High Street, and were staffed by small teams including a dedicated editor, a small full-time reporting 139 
staff each, photographers, and administrators. By 2011, and after a series of redundancies, Press Gazette 140 
reported that only six senior reporters and five trainees remained (Press Gazette 2011). Talking to 141 
overworked journalists about the challenge of maintaining editorial standards under such difficult 142 
conditions at the time, it seemed like things could not get any worse. Today, however, after several 143 
rounds of further cuts all of the local offices have been closed (leaving these areas to be covered 144 
remotely, from a geographical and cultural distance, in Cardiff), no titles have dedicated editors, and all 145 

                                                      
2 These figures represent average weekly full-time equivalent posts reported in audited annual accounts, and represent the 

most reliable indicator of staffing level changes over time. They include production roles (such as layout and sub-editing). 

Figures for news journalists alone are not published.  

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

Staffing Levels at WME/Media Wales, 1999-2015 
(source: audited annual accounts)

Editorial and Production Sales and Distribution

Admin Total employees

Tudalen y pecyn 24



 5 

seven weekly papers, along with their associated online news outputs, are produced by just three and a 146 
half reporters. As the work of Howells (2015) demonstrates, many of the effects of this withdrawal of 147 
journalism on the quality of news (see below) pre-date the challenging conditions brought about by the 148 
move to digital news, and the later spate of newspaper closures. This suggests that both publishers’ 149 
editorial and business strategies, as well as external factors such as recession and the digital turn, are a 150 
continuing explanatory factor. 151 
 152 
 153 

4. Media plurality is a good thing, but our news is concentrated in the hands of a few 154 

big publishers: 155 
 156 
The loss of individual newspapers adds to the already serious concerns of many around a lack of local 157 
media plurality caused by the quest for consolidation and greater economies of scale. Media regulator 158 
Ofcom states that “plurality matters because it makes an important contribution to a well-functioning 159 
democratic society through informed citizens and preventing too much influence over the political 160 
process” (Ofcom 2012). Yet our local media markets are far from plural. In 1992 two hundred 161 
companies published local newspapers in the UK, but by 2005 this had fallen to just 87; likewise, eight 162 
companies owned 80% of UK titles (Williams and Franklin 2007). By 2015 ownership had further 163 
consolidated, with six companies owning 80% of titles, and only 62 companies owning at least one 164 
daily or weekly newspaper (Media Reform Coalition 2015). The acquisition of Local Word (then the 4th 165 
largest publisher) by Trinity Mirror (then the 5th largest publisher) in 2016 led to further consolidation. 166 
This research concludes that over two thirds of Local Authority districts, over half of all parliamentary 167 
constituencies, and 56% of the UK’s population are not served by a dedicated daily newspaper, and 168 
almost half of Local Authority Districts are served by just one publisher (Ramsay and Moore 2016). 169 
These headline data do not take into account the loss of intra-company plurality caused by moves to 170 
make journalists who were previously dedicated to one title produce news which is re-purposed across 171 
numerous news outlets owned by the same company (a move which has also affected the local-ness of 172 
our news – see trend 6 below). 173 
 174 
The picture in Wales is even more bleak. The recent takeover of Local World gave Trinity Mirror 175 
unprecedented dominance in Welsh local news markets, making it by far the largest news company in 176 
the country. In-depth mixed-method studies of news and democracy in individual localities over longer 177 
periods yield equally stark results. For instance, Howells (2015) found that the Port Talbot (population 178 
circa 36,000) was served by 11 journalists working across on five newspapers, all of which had local 179 
offices in the town; by 2015 Port Talbot had lost all of its dedicated newspapers, and was covered, part 180 
time, and remotely, by two South Wales Evening Post journalists based in Swansea, the nearby regional 181 
hub. 182 
 183 
Diversity of news provision is desirable because it limits the power and influence of news company 184 
owners. But more importantly in the local context, diverse news ecosystems limit the dominance of 185 
particular business models and their associated editorial priorities. Wales’ biggest local media plurality 186 
problem does not lie principally in the risk that Trinity Mirror CEO Simon Fox might wish to exert 187 
political influence over Welsh life, but instead in the fact that Trinity’s cost-cutting, high-output, 188 
consolidating and synergistic approach to its business means that almost all Welsh journalists in the 189 
commercial sector work in similar ways, producing similar kinds of news, while working under 190 
similarly difficult conditions and constraints. Without competition from others with different editorial 191 
and commercial priorities local news owners have the luxury of being able to dominate local 192 
information systems with minimal outlay on news content; when you are the only game in town 193 
investment in news quality is not incentivised. 194 
 195 
 196 

5. Local news companies now prioritise digital news over print, but make relatively 197 

little money from it: 198 
 199 

Tudalen y pecyn 25



 6 

Since the advent of digital news many advertisers have left newspapers, preferring the cheaper and more 200 
targeted services offered by digital intermediaries such as search sites (e.g. principally, but not only, 201 
Google) social networking platforms (principally, but not only, Facebook), and a range of competitor 202 
online classified advertising sites (Meikle and Young 2012; Fenton et al 2010). At the same time, 203 
fragmented audiences have moved in increasing numbers to non-linear consumption of digital news. 204 
When they do read local news they increasingly do so on social media platforms, or on news 205 
aggregation sites, and not directly from local news publishers’ sites themselves (Freedman 2010, Doyle 206 
2013).  207 
 208 
These trends, combined with declining print news audiences, have led Trinity Mirror, in common with 209 
almost all other local news publishers, to prioritise the web at the expense of print in their recent and 210 
future business strategies.  211 
 212 
Figure 4. 213 

 214 
 215 
This strategy has led to impressive growth (albeit from a low base) in the readership of Wales Online, 216 
which has increased average daily unique readers from 34,000 to 390,000 in just seven years. However 217 
large increases in audience figures for UK local and regional online news have not translated into 218 
anything approaching profits equivalent to those lost due to declining print titles. We have already seen 219 
how falling revenues, combined with a mini-max editorial approach (which maximises profits while 220 
minimising investment), has led to the loss of many hundreds of journalists in South Wales. The data 221 
presented so far, though, does not show where the revenues to pay the remaining workforce come from. 222 
Media wales do not differentiate in annual accounts between revenues earned from digital and print, but 223 
these figures are included in the group accounts published by Trinity Mirror. 224 
 225 
  226 

34,629

392,220

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

Wales Online Average Daily Unique 
Users, 2008-2017 (source: ABC) 

Tudalen y pecyn 26



 7 

Figure 5: 227 

 228 
 229 
Figure 5 shows the proportion of revenues derived from printed news, and from digital news, at Trinity 230 
Mirror’s Regionals and Publishing divisions between 2003 and 2016. 3 The large blue area represents 231 
the percentage of revenues derived from newspaper circulation and printed ads; the slim orange area, 232 
the proportion obtained from digital advertising. Media Wales has (as is common in the sector) 233 
prioritised digital, web-first, editorial strategies at the expense of print since the mid-2000s. But this 234 
graph underlines the still relatively low value of online ads compared with print advertising. Despite 235 
print’s decline, and its near-universal displacement as a corporate priority, it still pays for the majority 236 
of the workforce. Given that declining revenues from print have been such a large factor in the 237 
hollowing out of newsrooms seen to date, it seems likely that we will lose many more journalists before 238 
a more sustainable balance between income streams and staffing levels can be found. This is likely to 239 
have many and far-reaching consequences on the working conditions and practices of those journalists 240 
who remain, as well as the future quality of local news.  241 
 242 
 243 

6. Local news has become less local, less independent, and of less civic value than 244 

previously: 245 
 246 
Studies of news content and journalism practice in Wales and elsewhere have found the on-going crisis 247 
in the UK news industry, pre-dating but in some ways worsened by the advent of the internet, is 248 
endangering the “local-ness”, quality, and independence of our news (Fenton 2010; Franklin 2006a). 249 
Even before the growth of online news scholars had reached consistently gloomy conclusions about UK 250 
local newspaper coverage of local democracy: since the mid-1980s the local press in Wales has reduced 251 
coverage of local elections, produced fewer election stories with distinct local angles, and reduced 252 
“sustained discussion of policy concerns” (Franklin, Court, and Cushion 2006); in more recent studies, 253 
in-depth coverage of local politics and the governance of local communities was found to have 254 
gradually given way to a more tabloid-oriented spread of news (Franklin 2005); emphasis on news 255 
about entertainment, consumer issues, and human-interest stories, has increased while coverage of 256 
democracy and public life decreased (Franklin 2006b).  257 

                                                      
3 In 2011/12 the group changed its divisional structure, which means this graph shows data relating to Trinity Mirror 

Regionals (a now defunct arm of the company composed of only local newspapers and websites) between 2003-2011, and to 

Trinity Mirror Publishing (a new division combining all national and local newspapers and websites) between 2011-2016. 

Although the graph refers to two different corporate entities, its common focus is on the proportion of revenues derived from 

printed and digital news is still useful. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Trinity Mirror Regionals/Trinity Mirror 
Publishing Revenue Breakdowns by Platform, 
percentage (source: audited annual accounts)

Print (advertising and circulation) Digital (advertising)

Tudalen y pecyn 27



 8 

 258 
Outside of election times, research has noted that as news revenues fall and staff are cut, workloads 259 
increase and mainstream local news relies more on official sources and PR, meaning only a very narrow 260 
range of community voices tend to be routinely cited (Davies 2008; Franklin 1988; Franklin and Van 261 
Slyke Turk 1988; O’Neill and O’Connor 2008; Howells 2015). Harrison, echoing others’ findings, 262 
found that local newspaper reliance on sources in local government was very high, even going as far as 263 
to suggest that the growing power imbalance between local media and local governments means that 264 
“local newspapers are unlikely to be able to perform their role as principal institutions of the public 265 
sphere” (Harrison 1998). O’Neill and O’Connor (2008), ten years later, find that local and regional 266 
journalists rely very heavily on a relatively small range of official sources, usually those with the most 267 
resources to devote to PR. They also note with alarm that the majority of stories (76 per cent) relied on 268 
single sources, with less than a quarter of stories employing secondary sources who may provide 269 
alternative, opposing, or complementary information to that provided by primary sources.  270 
 271 
Another theme in the evidence base suggests that local news has become less local, and more generic, in 272 
focus as editions are cut, local high-street offices are closed, and use of cheap news agency copy (which 273 
is often less local in orientation than news gathered on the ground) becomes more prevalent (Davies 274 
2008; Franklin 2011; Hamer 2006; Williams and Franklin 2007; Howells 2015). Howells (2015) finds 275 
that as jobs were cut in Port Talbot news gathering practices shifted drastically in ways which made the 276 
news less local, and less reflective of the local community. She found that with the gradual closure of 277 
local offices in satellite towns, journalists became less visible and accessible to publics, and less rooted 278 
in their communities. Journalism was less often rooted in face-to-face interactions (e.g. with members of 279 
the public on news “beats”), and decreasingly based on first-hand scrutiny of the institutions of local 280 
elites and local government (so journalists became more and more reliant on processing second-hand, 281 
mostly official, pre-packaged information sources). 282 
 283 
All of this suggests that even before the financial crisis and its consequent effects on staffing levels the 284 
local press took much information on trust, was fairly uncritical, relied heavily on PR and other 285 
information subsidies, and provided readers with limited access to a range of the (often competing) 286 
voices and perspectives actually present in local public debates. There is less research into the UK local 287 
news sector post 2008, which is concerning because if critical accounts of newsroom life from 288 
journalists and campaigners are to be believed, these trends have only intensified. 289 
 290 
 291 

7. Digital local news strategies are prioritising profits and clicks over public interest 292 

news:  293 
 294 
Common pre-digital critiques of tabloidization, or the “dumbing down” of journalism, have taken new 295 
form with rise of online local news. A common theme in such critical accounts is the critique of a 296 
perceived over-emphasis on the production of “clickbait” articles such as listicles, which have become 297 
talismanic of changing editorial priorities driven by a high-volume, quick-turnaround digital editorial 298 
strategy. A number of factors combine to inform a click-led editorial policy which necessitates a very 299 
high volume of stories be produced each day to satisfy demand from online advertisers. Due to the 300 
continued decline in the value of print advertising and stark falls in revenues from printed newspaper 301 
circulations, all major local and regional news publishers have prioritised increasing advertising 302 
revenues from digital news. But whereas in the pre-digital age newspaper companies enjoyed high print 303 
advertising revenues from a series of largely discrete regional advertising monopolies, the digital 304 
advertising market is much less hospitable. Google and Facebook, who specialise in targeted advertising 305 
based on valuable search and social media user data, dominate the sector, with credible estimates 306 
suggesting that they will earn over 70 per cent of all money spent on display advertising in the UK by 307 
2020 (Jackson 2016).  308 
 309 
Useful insights into how these changes affect journalism practice and news content can be gleaned from 310 
increased industry-wide debate covered in the trade press and the steady drip-drip of critical first-hand 311 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



 9 

confessional, satirical, and campaigning accounts from serving or former local journalists. From the 312 
newspaper editor who reflected on his redundancy in the form of an odd-numbered listicle (Ponsford 313 
2016a), to the “heartbroken” award-winning local news journalist who quit his job because of perceived 314 
falling print and online editorial standards (Ponsford 2016b), many local journalists fear that public 315 
interest news is being squeezed out by the need to attract website traffic. Managers, such as Trinity 316 
Mirror’s David Higgerson, contend that their editorial strategy is simply about “understanding what 317 
audiences want”, and that such fears are unfounded. But others, such as CEO Simon Fox have given 318 
mixed messages, both downplaying the existence of a democratic deficit, and lamenting the need to do 319 
anything about it. Shipton cites a comment by Fox made at a Media Wales staff briefing in 2014 saying 320 
the problem with "this democratic deficit stuff" is that "it doesn't get enough clicks" (Shipton 2015). 321 
A year later, when asked to respond to the BBC’s plans for its nascent Local Democracy Reporter 322 
Scheme, he replied that as Trinity Mirror sees it, “there isn’t a democratic deficit” (Turvill 2015).  323 
 324 
It is unclear how companies like Trinity Mirror have innovated in their practices to incorporate the use 325 
of audience data in use of automated programmatic advertising, and a better understanding is needed of 326 
the effects on democratic and civic life. One area of concern that has emerged, however, is the use of 327 
real-time audience data on the click-rates of individual news pieces, and the success of individual 328 
writers, to motivate (or discipline) journalists and promote newsroom competition. A potential problem 329 
with such performance-related data is that it might further de-prioritise coverage of areas of public life 330 
which many in the audience might not be interested in, but which is nonetheless squarely in the public 331 
interest. There is also a need to explore more deeply the related realm of native advertising, and the 332 
potential of such advertorial content to further blur the increasingly fuzzy boundaries between 333 
marketing and editorial at a time when media companies are facing very tough commercial challenges. 334 
Again, the publishers are insistent that these fears are unfounded, but previous experience suggests it 335 
would be wise to monitor closely at what they do, as well as what they say.  336 
 337 
 338 

Works cited: 339 
 340 
Davies, Nick. 2008. Flat Earth News. London: Chatto and Windus. 341 
Doyle, G. 2013. Understanding Media Economics (2nd Edition). London: Sage. 342 
Enders Analysis. 2011. “Competitive Pressures on the Press, presentation to the Leveson Inquiry”, 343 

http://webarchive. 344 
nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140122145147/http://www.levesoninquiry.org.uk/wp-345 

content/uploads/2012/07/Claire-Enders- Competitive-pressures-on-the-press.pdf    346 
Fenton, Natalie. 2010. Meeting the news needs of local communities. Media Trust, London, UK. 347 

Available at: www.mediatrust.org/uploads/128255497549240/original.pdf  348 
Franklin, Bob, Geoff Court, and Stephen Cushion. 2006. “Downgrading the ‘Local’ in Local 349 

Newspapers’ Reporting of the 2005 UK General Election.” In Local Journalism and Local Media: 350 
Making the local news edited by Bob Franklin. London: Routledge. 351 

Franklin, Bob, and Judy Van Slyke Turk. 1988. “Information Subsidies: Agenda setting traditions.” 352 
Public Relations Review Spring: 29-41. 353 

Franklin, Bob. 1988. Public Relations Activities In Local Government. London: Charles Knight. 354 
Franklin, Bob. 2006a. “Preface.” In Local Journalism and Local Media: Making the local news edited 355 

by Bob Franklin. London: Routledge. 356 
Franklin, Bob. 2006b. “Attacking the Devil? Local Journalists and Local Papers in the UK.” In Local 357 

Journalism and Local Media: making the local news edited by Bob Franklin. London: Routledge 358 
Franklin, Bob. 2011. “Sources, Credibility, and the Continuing Crisis of UK Journalism.” In 359 

Journalism, Sources, and Credibility edited by Bob Franklin and Matt Carlson. London: 360 
Routledge. 361 

Freedman, Des. 2010. ‘The Political Economy of the “New” News Environment’ in N. Fenton (ed) New 362 
Media, Old News. London: Sage. 363 

Tudalen y pecyn 29

nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140122145147/http:/www.levesoninquiry.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Claire-Enders-%20Competitive-pressures-on-the-press.pdf
nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140122145147/http:/www.levesoninquiry.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Claire-Enders-%20Competitive-pressures-on-the-press.pdf
http://www.mediatrust.org/uploads/128255497549240/original.pdf


 10 

Greenslade, Roy. 2009. “British journalism is in crisis, but we are doing too little to save it?” Guardian 364 
24 September, available at: http://www.guardian.co.uk/media/greenslade/2009/sep/24/downturn-365 
mediabusiness 366 

Hamer, Martin. 2008. “Trading on Trust: News agencies, local journalism, and local media.” In Local 367 
Journalism and Local Media: Making the Local News edited by Bob Franklin. London: 368 
Routledge. 369 

Harrison, Shirley. 1998. “The Local Government Agenda: News From the Town Hall.” In Making the 370 
Local News: Local Journalism in Context edited by bob Franklin and David Murphy. London: 371 
Routledge. 372 

Howells, Rachel. 2015. Journey to the centre of a news black hole: examining the democratic deficit in 373 
a town with no newspaper. PhD thesis, Cardiff University 374 

IWA. 2015. IWA Wales Media Audit: 2015, Cardiff: Institute of Welsh Affairs, available at: 375 
http://iwa.wales/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/IWA_MediaAudit_v4.pdf  376 

Jackson, Japer. 2016. “Google and Facebook to take 71% of UK online ad revenue by 2020.” 377 
theguardian.com, December 15th. 378 

Media Reform Coalition. 2015. Who Owns the UK Media?. London, Media Reform Coalition. 379 
Available at: http://www.mediareform.org.uk/who-owns-the-uk-media  380 

Media Wales/Western Mail and Echo, Annual Report and Financial Statements (2000-2015), 381 
Companies House, Cardiff.  382 

Meikle, G. & Young, S. 2012. Media Convergence: Networked Digital Media in Everyday Life. 383 
Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. 384 

Mintel. 2013. Regional Newspapers UK, Market Sector Report, available at: 385 
http://academic.mintel.com/display/638001/. 386 

Nel, Francois. 2010. ‘#LaidOff: What do UK journalists do next?’, UCLAN & journalism.co.uk, 387 
https://www.journalism.co.uk/ uploads/laido report.pdf  388 

Oliver and Ohlbaum. 2015. UK news provision at the crossroads: The news market in the 21st Century 389 
and the likely implications for the BBC’s role, a report for the News Media Association. 390 
http://www.newsmediauk.org/write/MediaUploads/PDFper cent20Docs/OandO_NMA_-391 
_UK_news_provision_at_the_crossroads.pdf. 392 

O’Neill, Deidre and Catherine O’Connor. 2008. “The Passive Journalist; How Sources Dominate Local 393 
News.” Journalism Practice 2, no.3: 487-500. 394 

Ofcom. 2012. Measuring Media Pluraility. 19th June. 395 
http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/consultations/measuring-plurality/statement 396 

Perch, Keith, 2015. ‘The collapse of the business model of regional newspapers has been far greater 397 
than previously stated and is undermining public sphere journalism’, unpublished paper, Cardiff 398 
University Future of Journalism Conference, September. 399 

Picard, Robert. 2008.‘Shifts In Newspaper Advertising Expenditures And Their Implications For The 400 
Future Of Newspapers’, Journalism Studies,  9:5, 704-716 401 

Ponsford, Dominic. 2016a. “Editor Axed by Trinity Mirror Uses Odd-Numbered Listicle to Reflect on 402 
Ignominious Exit”, Press Gazette, August 2016, available at: 403 
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/editor-axed-by-trinity-mirror-uses-odd-numbered-listicle-to-404 
reflect-on-an-ignominious-exit/  405 

Ponsford, Dominic. 2016b. “’Heartbroken’ Reporter Gareth Davies Saya Croydon Advertiser Print 406 
Edition Now ‘Thrown Together Collection of Clickbait’", July 31st, available at: 407 
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/heartbroken-reporter-gareth-davies-says-croydon-advertser-print-408 
edition-now-thrown-together-collection-of-clickbait/  409 

Press Gazette. 2011. “Seven Compulsory Redundancies at Media Wales”, Press Gazette, 8th August 410 
2011, available at: http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/story.asp?sectioncode=1&storycode=47659 411 
(last accessed October 2011) 412 

Ramsay, Gordon and Martin Moore. 2016. Monopolising Local News: Is there an emerging democratic 413 
Deficit in the UK due to the decline of local newspapers? Kings College London: Centre for the 414 
Study of Media, Communication and Power. https://www.kcl.ac.uk/sspp/policy-415 
institute/CMCP/local-news.pdf 416 

Shipton, Martin. 2015. Panel Discussion, Conference: Who Will Pay for Welsh Journalism? University 417 
of South Wales, 10th November 2016 418 

Tudalen y pecyn 30

http://www.guardian.co.uk/media/greenslade/2009/sep/24/downturn-mediabusiness
http://www.guardian.co.uk/media/greenslade/2009/sep/24/downturn-mediabusiness
http://iwa.wales/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/IWA_MediaAudit_v4.pdf
http://www.mediareform.org.uk/who-owns-the-uk-media
http://academic.mintel.com/display/638001/
http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/consultations/measuring-plurality/statement
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/editor-axed-by-trinity-mirror-uses-odd-numbered-listicle-to-reflect-on-an-ignominious-exit/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/editor-axed-by-trinity-mirror-uses-odd-numbered-listicle-to-reflect-on-an-ignominious-exit/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/heartbroken-reporter-gareth-davies-says-croydon-advertser-print-edition-now-thrown-together-collection-of-clickbait/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/heartbroken-reporter-gareth-davies-says-croydon-advertser-print-edition-now-thrown-together-collection-of-clickbait/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/story.asp?sectioncode=1&storycode=47659
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/sspp/policy-institute/CMCP/local-news.pdf
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/sspp/policy-institute/CMCP/local-news.pdf


 11 

Sweney, Mark. 2015. “Johnston Press Chief: Local Newspaper Closures Blown out of Proportion”. 419 
Guardian.co.uk. 19th November. https://www.theguardian.com/media/2015/nov/19/johnston-420 
press-chief-local-newspaper-closures-blown-out-of-proportion  421 

Thomas, Huw. 2015. “NUJ Fears Trinity Mirror Click Targets Could ‘Dumb Down’ News”, BBC 422 
Wales News Website, September 10th, available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-423 
34209894  424 

Trinity Mirror Annual Reports and Accounts. 2000-2016. available online at: 425 
http://www.trinitymirror.com/investors/financial-information/ 426 

Turvill, William. 2015 “Trinity Mirror Chief: ‘No Democratic Deficit’ in Local News”, Press Gazette, 427 
November 5th, available at: http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/trinity-mirror-chief-says-there-isnt-428 
democratic-deficit-local-news-and-he-doesnt-want-more-bbc  429 

Williams, Andy and Bob Franklin. 2007. Turning Around the Tanker: Implementing Trinity Mirror’s 430 
Online Strategy. Cardiff University School of Journalism Media and Cultural Studies, available at: 431 
http://image.guardian.co.uk/sys-files/Media/documents/2007/03/13/Cardiff.Trinity.pdf  432 

Williams, Andy. 2012. “The Crisis in the Welsh Media and What to do About it.” Cyfrwng: Media 433 
Wales Journal 9. 434 

Tudalen y pecyn 31

https://www.theguardian.com/media/2015/nov/19/johnston-press-chief-local-newspaper-closures-blown-out-of-proportion
https://www.theguardian.com/media/2015/nov/19/johnston-press-chief-local-newspaper-closures-blown-out-of-proportion
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-34209894
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-34209894
http://www.trinitymirror.com/investors/financial-information/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/trinity-mirror-chief-says-there-isnt-democratic-deficit-local-news-and-he-doesnt-want-more-bbc
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/trinity-mirror-chief-says-there-isnt-democratic-deficit-local-news-and-he-doesnt-want-more-bbc
http://image.guardian.co.uk/sys-files/Media/documents/2007/03/13/Cardiff.Trinity.pdf


Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Y Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu

Y Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a 
Chyfathrebu

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion 
yng Nghymru

Ymatebion i’r Ymgynghoriad

Mai 2017

Tudalen y pecyn 32

Eitem 2.1



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru yw’r corff sy’n 
cael ei ethol yn ddemocrataidd i gynrychioli 
buddiannau Cymru a’i phobl, i ddeddfu ar 
gyfer Cymru, i gytuno ar drethi yng Nghymru, 
ac i ddwyn Llywodraeth Cymru i gyfrif.

Gallwch weld copi electronig o’r dogfen hwn ar wefan y Cynulliad Cenedlaethol:
www.cynulliad.cymru/SeneddDGCh
Gellir cael rhagor o gopïau o’r ddogfen hon mewn ffurfiau hygyrch, yn cynnwys Braille, print bras, fersiwn 
sain a chopïau caled gan:

Y Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Bae Caerdydd
CF99 1NA

Ffôn: 0300 200 6565
E-bost: SeneddDGCh@cynulliad.cymru
Twitter: @SeneddDGCh

© Hawlfraint Comisiwn Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 2017
Ceir atgynhyrchu testun y ddogfen hon am ddim mewn unrhyw fformat neu gyfrwng cyn belled ag y 
caiff ei atgynhyrchu’n gywir ac na chaiff ei ddefnyddio mewn cyd-destun camarweiniol na difrïol. Rhaid 
cydnabod mai Comisiwn Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru sy’n berchen ar hawlfraint y deunydd a rhaid nodi 
teitl y ddogfen.

Tudalen y pecyn 33



Cynnws | Contents 

Rhif | 

Number 

Sefylliad Organisation 

NJW01 Prifysgol Bangor Bangor University 

NJW02 BBC Cymru BBC Wales 

NJW03 Media Cymru (Saesneg yn Unig) Media Wales 

NJW04 Neil Taylor (Saesneg yn Unig) Neil Taylor 

NJW05 NUJ Cymru NUJ Wales 

NJW06 S4C S4C (Welsh Only) 

NJW07 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili 

(Saesneg yn Unig) 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 

NJW08 
Paul Rowland, Trinity Mirror 

(Saesneg yn Unig) 
Paul Rowland, Trinity Mirror 

NJW09 

Dr. Andy Williams, Prifysgol 

Caerdydd - Newyddion Cymunedol 

Hyperleol (Saesneg yn Unig) 

Dr. Andy Williams, Cardiff 

University - Hyperlocal Community 

News 

NJW10 

Dr. Andy Williams, Prifysgol 

Caerdydd – Newyddion Lleol 

(Saesneg yn Unig) 

Dr. Andy Williams, Cardiff 

University – Local News 

NJW11 ITV Cymru ITV Wales 

NJW12 
Sefydliad Materion Cymreig 

(Saesneg yn Unig) 
Institute of Welsh Affairs 

NJW13 
Emma Meese, Prifysgol Caerdydd 

(Saesneg yn Unig) 
Emma Meese, Cardiff University 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 34



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW01 

Ymateb gan Ifan Morgan Jones, Prifysgol Bangor / Evidence from Ifan Morgan 

Jones, Bangor University 

Rhaid mynd i'r afael â'r 'diffyg democrataidd' yng Nghymru er mwyn i'n sefydliadau 

datganoledig barhau i fod yn llewyrchus.  Does dim ond angen i ni edrych ar Brexit 

i weld beth all ddigwydd pan nad yw etholwyr yn derbyn diet rheolaidd o 

wybodaeth ffeithiol o ansawdd uchel ynghylch sefydliad gwleidyddol - maent yn 

ymddieithrio oddi wrtho, ac yn barod i'w weld yn cael ei ddiddymu pan fydd 

syniadau gwrth-sefydliadol yn cydio ynddynt. Gwaetha'r modd, ni fydd gan Gymru 

wasg fasnachol ffyniannus cyn hir. Mae gwasg fasnachol yn ddibynnol ar 

hysbysebu, ac o fewn cyd-destun y Deyrnas Unedig, mae gan Gymru boblogaeth 

gymharol fach a thlawd nad yw mor atyniadol i hysbysebwyr. Ar ben hynny, mae'r 

DU yn parhau i fod yn wladwriaeth hynod ganoledig, a bydd y wasg yn parhau i 

ffafrio Llundain ar draul Caerdydd oherwydd dyna le mae'r sefydliadau gwleidyddol 

mwyaf a mwyaf dylanwadol wedi eu lleoli. 

Ers datganoli, mae'r cyfryngau Cymreig sydd eisoes yn dameidiog wedi parhau i 

wanhau a chwtogi ar wariant, gyda pherchnogaeth a phenderfyniadau golygyddol 

bellach yn digwydd yn ganolog a'r tu allan i ffiniau Cymru. Mae'r Western Mail wedi 

gweld cwymp yn ei gylchrediad o dros 55,000 yn 1999 i 16,754 yn 2016. Y Daily 

Post sydd â’r gwerthiant uchaf o holl bapurau newydd Cymru, sef 23,645. Serch 

hynny yn 2016 penderfynodd roi'r gorau i anfon newyddiadurwr i Gynulliad 

Cenedlaethol Cymru i ymdrin â materion datganoledig. Mewn arolwg a gynhaliwyd 

yn 2016 gan Cushion & Scully canfuwyd nad oedd pobl Cymru yn dod i gyswllt 

rheolaidd â newyddion am Gynulliad Cymru, ac mai dim ond 4% oedd yn darllen y 

Western Mail, a 2.5% y Daily Post. Ar y llaw arall, mae 16% yn darllen y Daily Mail. 

Mewn arolwg a gynhaliwyd yn 2014 gan y BBC/ICM darganfuwyd bod dryswch eang 

ynghylch pa bwerau oedd wedi eu datganoli i Gynulliad Cymru, gyda 48% yn unig 

yn nodi'n gywir bod iechyd yn fater datganoledig, a 42% yn credu'n anghywir bod 

gan y Cynulliad reolaeth dros blismona. 

Mae dau ddewis amgen yn lle gwasg fasnachol wan.  Gwasg wirfoddol yw'r cyntaf, 

yn cael ei chynnal gan y rhai hynny sydd â diddordeb brwd mewn digwyddiadau 

cyfoes yng Nghymru.  Un enghraifft o hyn yw project Nation.Cymru. Ond ni fydd 

gan broject gwirfoddol byth yr adnoddau i ddarparu ffrwd ddyddiol o newyddion 

am ddigwyddiadau cyfoes ac ymchwilio ac adrodd dwys sydd eu hangen i sicrhau 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



bod Cymru'n meddu ar ei sffêr cyhoeddus ei hun. Ychydig o gymhelliad sydd 

chwaith i wirfoddolwyr adrodd mewn ffordd sydd yn niwtral yn wleidyddol.  

Yr ail ddewis yw cyfryngau sydd yn derbyn nawdd cyhoeddus gan Lywodraeth 

Cymru neu'r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol. Dros y flwyddyn ddiwethaf hon rwyf wedi 

gwneud ymchwil i newyddiaduraeth cyfrwng Cymraeg ar-lein  sy'n derbyn nawdd 

cyhoeddus yng Nghymru.  Roedd yr ymchwil hon yn cynnwys cyfweliadau dwys 

gyda newyddiadurwyr a dadansoddiad ystadegol o ddata defnyddwyr gwefannau.  

Mae cyfryngau newyddion digidol trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg wedi eu datblygu'n 

arbennig o dda, gyda dau gorff newyddion sy'n derbyn nawdd cyhoeddus, sef, 

Golwg 360 a BBC Cymru Fyw, yn cynnig newyddion ar-lein yn ddyddiol. Mae tair 

gwefan arall, sef O'r Pedwar Gwynt, Y Cymro a Barn, sy'n cynnig cyflenwad cyson o 

gynnwys gwreiddiol.  Mae fy ymchwil yn awgrymu bod cyfryngau Cymraeg sydd yn 

derbyn nawdd cyhoeddus yn mynd peth o'r ffordd tuag at liniaru'r 'diffyg 

democrataidd' yng Nghymru.  

Oherwydd nawdd cyhoeddus, mae newyddiaduraeth cyfrwng Cymraeg yn mwynhau 

rhyw fath o oes aur. Mae BBC Cymru Fyw a Golwg360 rhyngddynt yn denu dros 

57,000 o ymwelwyr unigol bob wythnos.  Mae tua hanner y gynulleidfa hon o dan 

40 mlwydd oed.  Maent wedi gwneud defnydd effeithiol o'r cyfryngau cymdeithasol 

fel ffordd o ddenu cynulleidfa newydd, ac iau, na fyddai'n draddodiadol wedi troi at 

gyhoeddiadau print Cymraeg megis Golwg neu raglenni teledu a radio megis 

Newyddion 9 a Taro'r Post.  

Mae dadansoddiad o ddata gwefan Golwg 360 wedi awgrymu bod newyddion am 

wleidyddiaeth Cymru a sefydliadau gwleidyddol Cymru yn boblogaidd iawn ymysg 

ei defnyddwyr.  O'r 200 stori a gyrchwyd amlaf ar y wefan dros gyfnod o flwyddyn, 

roedd 37 yn ymwneud â gwleidyddiaeth yn y Cynulliad neu yn Llywodraeth Cymru. 

Roedd gan y rhan fwyaf o'r straeon ryw gyswllt â chyfrifoldebau datganoledig 

Cynulliad Cymru - 82 yn ymwneud yn uniongyrchol â goroesiad y Gymraeg, 44 am 

gelfyddydau Cymru, a 30 ynghylch cyfryngau Cymru. 

Efallai mai gorsymleiddio fyddai awgrymu y byddai cyfryngau Saesneg gyda nawdd 

cyhoeddus yng Nghymru yn arwain at gynnydd mewn diddordeb yn y pynciau hyn. 

Canfu'r ymchwil fod cynulleidfa'r gwefannau newyddion Cymraeg ar-lein hyn hefyd 

yn gwneud defnydd da o wasanaethau Saesneg y BBC, Y Guardian, Wales Online a'r 

Daily Post. Roeddent yn tueddu i droi at wefannau newyddion Saesneg i gael 

newyddion am wleidyddiaeth Brydeinig, newyddion rhyngwladol a chwaraeon, ac yn 

mynd at BBC Cymru Fyw, Golwg 360 a gwefannau Cymraeg eraill i chwilio am 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



bynciau nad oes fawr o drafodaeth arnynt yn y cyfryngau Saesneg, neu le ceir 

trafodaeth heb ddealltwriaeth ddigonol.  Felly, er nad yw'r diddordeb enfawr yn y 

pynciau hyn ar wefannau newyddion Cymraeg o bosib yn arwydd o archwaeth 

cyhoeddus ehangach am newyddion am Gymru, mae'n awgrymu serch hynny fod 

yna archwaeth nad yw'n cael ei ddiwallu ar hyn o bryd gan y cyfryngau cyfrwng 

Saesneg yng Nghymru.  

Mae llwyddiant y gwefannau newyddion Cymraeg hyn sy'n cael eu noddi'n 

gyhoeddus yn awgrymu nad oes dim llawer o reswm pam nad fyddai gwefannau 

newyddion cyfrwng Saesneg yn derbyn nawdd cyhoeddus hefyd yn opsiwn 

ymarferol.  Cadarnhaodd newyddiadurwyr mewn cyfweliadau nad oeddent erioed 

wedi teimlo o dan bwysau i sensro eu gwaith neu ysgrifennu cynnwys ffafriol am 

unrhyw blaid neu sefydliad oherwydd eu dibyniaeth ar gyllid cyhoeddus.  

Prinder adnoddau o fewn y cyfryngau Cymraeg 

Ond mae'r ffaith bod adnoddau i'w gweld yn brin yn golygu bod newyddiadurwyr 

sy'n gweithio trwy'r Gymraeg yn amheus o effeithiolrwydd y cyfryngau Cymraeg i 

ddal egin-ddemocratiaeth yng Nghymru i gyfrif. Mewn cyfweliadau gyda 

newyddiadurwyr yn Golwg 360, Barn ac O'r Pedwar Gwynt, datgelwyd eu bod yn 

cael anhawster i ddod i hyd i'r amser a'r adnoddau i wneud newyddiaduraeth 

ymchwiliol ddwys.  Mae’r broblem hon wedi dwysau yn sgil y galw cynyddol am 

newyddion aml-gyfrwng sy'n drwm ar adnoddau, megis cyfweliadau fideo, ac 

roedd llawer o newyddiadurwyr oedd yn gweithio trwy’r Gymraeg yn teimlo nad 

oedd ganddynt yr amser, yr adnoddau na'r gallu technegol i wneud hyn.  Mae hyn 

yn awgrymu, er bod nifer dda iawn o ffynonellau newyddion yn Gymraeg ar-lein, 

mewn gwirionedd gall fod diffyg plwraliaeth, oherwydd mae'r gwefannau hyn yn 

ymdrin â llawer o'r un pynciau, heb fod ganddynt yr adnoddau i ymchwilio'n 

ddyfnach.  Roedd y cyrff cyfryngol hyn hefyd yn brin o amser ac adnoddau i ddenu 

hysbysebwyr, a hynny'n creu rhyw gylch seithug o ddibyniaeth ar adnoddau prin.  

Mae anallu i ganolbwyntio ar ddenu hysbysebwyr yn achos pryder neilltuol wrth i 

gwmnïau fel Facebook a Google ddechrau mireinio eu gallu i dargedu 

cynulleidfaoedd sy'n siarad Cymraeg. 

Problem gysylltiedig yw nad oes gan lawer o'r cyhoeddiadau a gyllidir gan Gyngor 

Llyfrau Cymraeg unrhyw bresenoldeb ar-lein a gall fod ganddynt ddealltwriaeth 

gyfyngedig o sut i'w hyrwyddo eu hunain ar y cyfryngau cymdeithasol.  Mae eu 

llwyddiant yn dal i gael ei fesur gan Lywodraeth y Cynulliad yn ôl eu gallu i werthu 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



copïau o gyhoeddiadau print yn hytrach na chyrraedd cynulleidfa mor eang â 

phosib. 

Yr ateb i'r ddwy broblem yw bod gwefannau y tu allan i'r BBC yn gweithio gyda'i 

gilydd, yn cynnull cynnwys ar-lein ar un wefan newyddion canolog yn hytrach na 

gwario arian yn cynnal gwefannau newyddion ar wahân. Mae Gwefannau Y Cymro, 

Barn ac O'r Pedwar Gwynt yn eilradd i'w cyhoeddiadau print, ac mae llawer o 

gyhoeddiadau eraill nad oes ganddynt bresenoldeb o gwbl ar y we.  Gallai 

cyhoeddi'r rhan fwyaf neu'r cwbl o'r cynnwys a gyllidir gan Gyngor Llyfrau Cymru ar 

un wefan newyddion cyfrwng Cymraeg, megis gwefan Golwg 360, sydd eisoes wedi 

ennill ei phlwyf, ddenu cynulleidfa fwy (ac ifancach) at gynnwys y cylchgronau a'r 

papurau newydd hyn tra ar yr un pryd yn cryfhau cynnyrch Golwg 360 a'i wneud yn 

fwy amrywiol. Byddai'n sicrhau hefyd bod yr holl gylchgronau sy'n derbyn arian gan 

Gyngor Llyfrau Cymru â phresenoldeb cryf ar y cyfryngau cymdeithasol er mwyn 

gallu denu cynulleidfa newydd, ifancach na wyddant ddim am eu cyhoeddiadau 

print. Byddai rhyddhau amser golygyddion a dreulir yn cynhyrchu cynnwys ar-lein 

a mynd i'r afael â'r cyfryngau cymdeithasol yn rhoi mwy o gyfle iddynt fynd ar ôl 

hysbysebwyr a thyfu eu cyrff cyfryngol y tu hwnt i ffiniau cyllid cyhoeddus. 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW02 

Ymateb gan BBC Cymru / Evidence from BBC Wales 

1. Ein hallbwn  

BBC Cymru Wales yw prif ddarparwr newyddion a materion cyfoes ar deledu, radio ac 

ar-lein yng Nghymru.  

Ar deledu, mae gwasanaeth BBC Wales Today yn cynnwys bwletinau bore, amser cinio, 

prynhawn a hwyr yn ogystal â rhaglen 30 munud o hyd am 1830, sef y rhaglen 

newyddion teledu gyda’r nifer uchaf o wylwyr yng Nghymru. Mae’r rhaglen 1830 yn 

rhan o awr o newyddion integredig ar BBC One sy’n cynnwys newyddion y byd, y DU a 

Chymru.  

BBC Cymru sy’n cynhyrchu Newyddion ar gyfer S4C. Mae’r gynulleidfa ar gyfer y brif 

raglen min nos, Newyddion 9 wedi cynyddu ers ei hail-lansio yn 2013; mae’r rhaglen 

yn cynnwys newyddion y DU a’r byd ond mae’r pwyslais cryf ar straeon o Gymru a’r 

brandio yn adlewyrchu hunaniaeth weledol S4C.  

Mae gwasanaeth ar-lein BBC Cymru yn y Saesneg yn rhan o wasanaeth BBC News sydd 

ar gael ar y wefan a thrwy ap pwrpasol. Mae straeon neilltuol o Gymru’n cael eu 

cynnwys ym mynegai Cartref a’r DU tudalennau’r BBC, tra bod mynegai Cymru’n 

cynnwys gwasanaeth newyddion Cymreig mwy cynhwysfawr, gyda newyddion, 

erthyglau a dadansoddi. Yn y Gymraeg, mae gwasanaeth ar-lein BBC Cymru Fyw yn 

cynnwys amrywiaeth o newyddion ac erthyglau ac mae’r gynulleidfa wedi tyfu’n 

sylweddol ers ei lansio. Mae Newyddion BBC Cymru hefyd yn darparu gwasanaethau 

newyddion ar Facebook a Twitter, yn Gymraeg ac yn Saesneg.   

Mae newyddion yn rhan anhepgor o’n dwy orsaf radio genedlaethol, BBC Radio Cymru 

a BBC Radio Wales, ac maent yn darlledu bwletinau newyddion a rhaglenni trwy gydol y 

dydd. Mae gan Radio Cymru dair rhaglen newyddion ddyddiol – y rhaglen ben bore 

Post Cyntaf, y rhaglen sy’n rhoi llais i’r gwrandawyr, Taro’r Post a’r rhaglen newyddion 

min nos Post Prynhawn. Mae rhaglenni newyddion Radio Wales, Good Morning Wales a 

Good Evening Wales ar yr awyr am bum awr, bum niwrnod yr wythnos, ac maent yn 

cynnig darpariaeth o newyddion o Gymru, y DU a’r byd.  

Mae ein gwasanaethau newyddion dyddiol yn cael eu creu gan ystod o dimau 

cynhyrchu arbenigol ynghyd â chriw casglu newyddion sy’n cynnwys gohebwyr 

arbenigol, tîm o ohebwyr a newyddiadurwyr gwleidyddol a rhwydwaith o 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



newyddiadurwyr sy’n gweithio ledled Cymru o ganolfannau ym Mangor, Wrecsam, 

Aberystwyth, Caerfyrddin ac Abertawe.   

Trosolwg o’r gynulleidfa  

Ar gyfartaledd 265,000 yw maint cynulleidfa bwletin BBC Wales Today am 6.30pm bum 

noson yr wythnos. Dyma’r gynulleidfa fwyaf yng Nghymru ar gyfer unrhyw raglen 

newyddion ar unrhyw sianel deledu neu orsaf radio, ac mae fymryn yn uwch na’r 

gynulleidfa yng Nghymru ar gyfer y Six O’Clock News ar BBC1 (260,000). 185,00 ar 

gyfartaledd yw cynulleidfa bwletin hwyrach BBC Wales Today am 10.30pm bob nos, 

gyda’r gynulleidfa amser cinio yn 155,000.  

Ar S4C, mae cynulleidfa Newyddion 9 wedi cynyddu eto eleni i 21,000 ar gyfartaledd, 

gan ddangos apêl y straeon Cymreig sy’n ffocws i’r rhaglen. Mae cynulleidfa bwletinau 

tri munud Wales Today a Newyddion yn 1.5m a 65,000 o wylwyr yn y drefn honno.  

Ar y radio, mae cyfartaledd gwrandawyr Good Morning Wales ar Radio Wales yn 62,000 

yn ystod y cyfnod brig am 8am, gyda’r Post Cyntaf ar Radio Cymru yn denu 28,000. 

Mae’r cynulleidfaoedd cyfatebol fin nos (am 5pm) yn 17,000 i Good Evening Wales a 

12,000 i Post Prynhawn. 

Mae rôl hanfodol newyddion o Gymru ar deledu a radio yn y ddwy iaith yn cael ei 

hamlygu gan y ffaith mai rhaglenni newyddion bore BBC Cymru sy’n denu’r 

cynulleidfaoedd mwyaf yn ystod yr wythnos waith i Radio Wales a Radio Cymru, a bod 

cynulleidfa Wales Today a Newyddion yn uwch na’r cynulleidfaoedd cyfartalog yn ystod 

oriau brig BBC1 Wales ac S4C. Mae cynulleidfaoedd ar-lein o reidrwydd yn cael eu 

mesur yn wahanol gan ein bod yn cyfrif nifer y defnyddwyr mewn wythnos, ac ni allwn 

gyfrif defnyddwyr yng Nghymru ar wahân, felly mae’r rhain yn ffigurau ar gyfer y DU 

gyfan.  

Mae 2.4m o borwyr unigryw yn ymweld â safle Newyddion ar-lein BBC Cymru bob 

wythnos, gyda’r lefel yn ddibynnol iawn ar faint o straeon newyddion o Gymru sydd i’w 

gweld ar brif safle newyddion y BBC. Yn y Gymraeg, mae cyfartaledd defnyddwyr BBC 

Cymru Fyw yn 53,000 o borwyr unigryw yr wythnos. 10,000 oedd y ffigwr hwnnw ar 

gyfartaledd – ar gyfer tudalennau newyddion - cyn lansio gwasanaeth Cymru Fyw. 

(Mae’r ffigyrau yma yn rhai wythnosol ar gyfartaledd dros 12 mis a'r rhai diweddaraf 

sydd ar gael)  

Fel y gwelir gyda ffigyrau cynulleidfaoedd newyddion rhwydwaith y BBC, mae 

gwasanaethau newyddion radio a theledu BBC Cymru yn apelio at wylwyr a gwrandawyr 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



hŷn gan fwyaf, gyda thri chwarter y gwylwyr a’r gwrandawyr dros 45 oed. Yn 

gyferbyniol, fodd bynnag, mae bron i ddwy ran o dair o gynulleidfa newyddion ar-lein 

BBC Cymru o dan 45 oed, sy’n dangos y rôl ategol mae gwasanaethau ar-lein BBC 

Cymru yn ei chwarae wrth gyrraedd cynulleidfaoedd newydd a chynulleidfaoedd sy’n 

tyfu yng Nghymru.  

Mae gan newyddion y BBC enw da sefydledig ac mae’n arwain y blaen dros 

gystadleuwyr allweddol o ran ymddiriedaeth, cywirdeb ac am fod yn ddi-duedd.   

Ein strategaeth  

Mae darparu gwasanaeth newyddion o safon uchel sy’n gosod yr agenda yn rhan 

hanfodol o wasanaeth y BBC i’r gynulleidfa yng Nghymru. Gan gydnabod rôl allweddol 

newyddiaduraeth i gyflawni ei bwrpas cyhoeddus, mae BBC Cymru wedi cynyddu ei 

fuddsoddiad mewn newyddion a materion cyfoes yn ystod y pum mlynedd diwethaf 

mewn cyfnod pan oedd setliad ffi’r drwydded yn golygu gostyngiad real yn incwm y 

BBC.  

Fel rhan o setliad ail-fuddsoddi’r siarter newydd rydym am gynyddu ein buddsoddiad 

yn ein gwasanaeth newyddion ymhellach er mwyn datblygu ein newyddiaduraeth 

arbenigol a’n gallu i gyrraedd cynulleidfaoedd nad ydynt yn cael eu gwasanaethu’n 

ddigonol ar hyn o bryd. Byddwn yn canolbwyntio ein hymdrechion ar ddefnyddio holl 

wasanaethau’r BBC yng Nghymru, gan gynnwys gwasanaethau lleol a’r rhwydwaith.  

Mae pwysigrwydd cynyddol platfformau digidol a’n gallu i gyrraedd demograffeg iau 

trwy ein gwefan a phlatfformau cymdeithasol wedi bod yn faes holl bwysig yn y 

blynyddoedd diweddar. Rydym wedi ymroi i ddarparu mwy o ddeunydd pwrpasol ar 

gyfer ein cynulleidfaoedd digidol ac rydym yn parhau i arbrofi â ffurf newydd o 

gyflwyno straeon.   

Yn y Gymraeg, mae ein profiad o ddatblygu gwasanaethau fel BBC Cymru Fyw a 

Newyddion, wedi dangos fod cynulleidfaoedd yn gwerthfawrogi cynnwys unigryw sy’n 

ategu’r gwasanaethau Saesneg, yn hytrach na gwasanaethau sy’n ceisio efelychu 

gwasanaethau Saesneg cyfatebol.  

Newyddiaduraeth leol a gweithio mewn partneriaeth  

Mae ymdrechion y BBC yn y maes hwn yn canolbwyntio ar ddau gynllun allweddol: 

News Hub a’r Gwasanaeth Gohebu Democratiaeth Leol (Local Democracy Reporting 

Service). Mae’r ddau gynnig hwn yn golygu buddsoddiad o tua £8 miliwn y flwyddyn 

ledled y DU, ac mae’n bartneriaeth newydd ac unigryw a fydd yn hybu cenhadaeth 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



gyhoeddus y BBC i wasanaethu cynulleidfaoedd lleol, a thwf ac esblygiad y sector 

cyfryngau newyddion masnachol.   

News Hub  

Bydd y BBC yn sicrhau fod cynnwys ar gael i’w ddefnyddio ar unwaith ar wasanaethau 

rhyngrwyd cwmnïau newyddion lleol a rhanbarthol ledled y DU.   

Bydd pob darn o gynnwys fideo a sain a gynhyrchir gan dimau newyddion y BBC yn y 

cenhedloedd ac yn lleol ar gael i ddarparwyr eraill trwy’r News Hub. Yn amodol ar 

hawliau a thrafodaethau pellach â’r diwydiant rydym hefyd yn gobeithio rhannu 

fersiynau hwy o gynnwys sydd heb eu darlledu, fel cyfweliadau chwaraeon a 

chynadleddau i’r wasg.   

Byddai’n hawdd i  sefydliadau newyddion eraill chwilio am gynnwys, gan olygu bod 

modd lawrlwytho deunydd perthnasol neu ei ymgorffori o fewn eu gwefannau eu 

hunain. Trwy rannu cynnwys am straeon lleol, fe sicrheir gwerth am arian i’r rhai sy’n 

talu ffi’r drwydded. Mae hefyd yn cynnig cynnwys ychwanegol gan alluogi cwmnïau 

newyddion i gryfhau eu cynnig i gynulleidfaoedd heb godi pris ychwanegol. Byddwn 

hefyd yn parhau i wella y ffordd y mae BBC Online yn cysylltu â dolenni allanol, gan 

adeiladu ar waith Local Live. (BBC British Bold Creative, 

https://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/reports/pdf/futureofthebbc2015.pdf) 

Mae gwaith yn parhau i gwblhau’r manylebau technegol. Mae’r cynnyrch yn amodol ar 

gaffael a bydd y gofynion thechnegol allan i dendr cyn hir.  

Yng Nghymru, rydym yn rhagweld y byddwn yn rhannu ein cynnwys yn Saesneg a 

Chymraeg.   

Y Gwasanaeth Gohebu Democratiaeth Leol / cynlluniau 

partneriaeth eraill  

Bydd 150 o ohebwyr lleol yn cael eu hariannu gan y BBC ac yn cael eu cyflogi gan 

gwmnïau newyddion lleol cymwys i adrodd ar waith awdurdodau lleol a gwasanaethau 

cyhoeddus. Mae’r fframwaith a grëwyd yn rhagweld y gallai’r nifer hwn godi i 200 yn 

2019. 

Yng Nghymru, rydym yn rhagweld y bydd 11 o swyddi’n cael eu creu – gyda phob 

unigolyn yn rhoi sylw i ddwy ardal awdurdod lleol.     

Fel rhan o Siarter newydd y BBC yn 2017 fe fydd y cytundeb yn mynd ati i geisio cynnal 

a chefnogi lluosogrwydd yn y cyfryngau newyddion lleol, hybu ansawdd y 

Tudalen y pecyn 42

https://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/reports/pdf/futureofthebbc2015.pdf


gwasanaethau a defnyddio arbenigedd y BBC a’r sector newyddion fasnachol leol er 

budd y gynulleidfa.   

4.3 Priodoli newyddion   

Mae BBC Cymru hefyd yn chwarae rhan bwysig wrth gyfeirio cynulleidfaoedd at 

wasanaethau newyddion dibynadwy tu hwnt i’r gorfforaeth. Ym mis Mawrth cafwyd 

ychydig dros hanner miliwn o gliciau ar ddolenni allanol ar dudalennau newyddion 

Cymru ar-lein, a’r prif gyrchfannau oedd y Daily Post, y South Wales Argus a Wales 

Online (ffynhonnell: comScore Dax).   

Yn ogystal â phwyslais parhaus ar gydnabyddiaeth mwy eglur, bydd yna  archwiliad 

annibynnol yn cael ei gynnal ar y cyd i ddarganfod faint o ddefnydd o gynnwys y wasg 

leol a wneir gan y BBC ar ei blatfformau neu fel arall. Bydd casgliadau yr archwiliad 

annibynnol yn sail i adolygiad o ymdrechion y BBC i wella dolenni ac i gydnabod  

straeon a ffynonellau. 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW03 

Ymateb gan Media Wales / Evidence from Media Wales 

1. Welsh news audiences are rapidly transitioning from print to digital. Thanks 

to the success of WalesOnline, Media Wales outlets have managed to not 

only retain readership over the course of that transition, but significantly 

grow it. At this point, more people read content produced by Media Wales 

journalists than at any other time in the company's history. ABC figures for 

March recorded WalesOnline's readership as 404,000 average daily unique 

users, making it the fourth largest regional site in the country, behind only 

the Manchester Evening News, the Evening Standard and the Liverpool Echo. 

WalesOnline's growth among an identifiably Welsh audience (ie, one geo-

located as using IP addresses within Wales) is faster than its overall growth, 

indicating that the proportion of its growing audience that come from within 

Wales is increasing. 

2. Newspaper sales in the UK have been falling at a fairly consistent rate since 

well before the time newsroom started focusing on digital publishing. Sales 

trends for Trinity Mirror's daily newspapers in Wales are in line, or in some 

cases better, than those seen nationally. We have to be realistic about this 

issue, which is why Trinity Mirror's strategy is to protect through titles to the 

greatest extent possible, while focusing on growing its digital presence in 

communities around Wales. 

3. Print revenues still make up the majority of income for most publishers, but 

the gap with digital is narrowing. Companies like Media Wales are working 

proactively to develop advertising options that harness the full range of their 

platforms to meet the needs of advertisers. However, the situation in an 

already cautious economic environment is not helped by the growing 

dominance of Google and Facebook in the digital advertising sphere. Both of 

these companies have a business model which relies on the content provided 

by publishers, but have shown no inclination to collaborate with these 

publishers on a revenue split commensurate with this model. 

4. Much has been discussed about the possibilities of external support for local 

publishers, and it is pleasing to see the BBC's democracy reporter and news 

bank initiatives come to fruition. There seems to be a good level of 

confidence across the regional media that this collaboration will help to 

Tudalen y pecyn 44



mitigate the impact of the fall in the numbers of journalists that market 

conditions have enforced over the past 15 years or so. The regional media 

scene, in Wales in particular, can only benefit from a more collaborative 

approach than has been evident in recent years. 

5. There has been a fair amount of scrutiny over the first part of 2017 on the 

decision to merge the South Wales Evening Post website into WalesOnline. It 

would be helpful to provide some background to this move:  

5.1. For some time, we had received feedback from readers and advertisers that 

they found the South Wales Evening Post (SWEP) website difficult to use. Audience 

performance was in decline as a result, while advertisers were becoming reluctant 

to spend with us because of the lack of response they were receiving. 

5.2. From the perspective of journalistic resource, running two websites frequently 

necessitated having two reporters sitting next to each other at the same event (eg 

a court hearing or press conference), producing copy ostensibly the same as the 

others. Moving onto one website has enabled us to re-deploy this “spare” resource 

onto stories that we previously would not have been able to cover, or to cover 

issues in a depth that previously would have been impossible. 

5.3. This change has had no impact on staff numbers in either the Cardiff or 

Swansea office. In addition, close to £500,000 has been spent on upgrading 

operating systems, hardware and kit for journalists in our offices in Swansea, 

Carmarthen and Llanelli. There has also been a great deal of training made 

available as part of the ongoing investment in our staff in these offices, and the 

titles that they produce. 

5.4. Audience numbers on WalesOnline in the areas previously within the SWEP 

digital footprint since the merger have been very encouraging. Local penetration 

figures for Swansea, Carmarthenshire and Neath Port Talbot indicate that the vast 

majority of the previous SWEP audience have migrated to WalesOnline, plus, it 

would appear, some new users who may have stopped using SWEP but had not 

previously been WalesOnline readers. We will keep working to improve 

WalesOnline's digital offering to readers in these areas. 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW04 

Ymateb gan Neil Taylor / Evidence from Neil Taylor 

I have met journalists from the Western Mail and Daily Post, the BBC and ITV in 

Wales and local papers. I found them hard working and eager to gather 

information. That said news about what is happening at all levels in Wales has been 

continually decreasing for some time.  

Local and regional papers. I often discuss news items with journalists and they are 

still as keen as before. 10 years ago Rhyl had two local papers delivered free to 

most households. They were The Journal and The Visitor. Now there is only the 

Rhyl Prestatyn and Abergele Journal. I was involved in a campaign to keep 

maternity services at Ysbyty Glan Clwyd. I attended a public meeting in Rhyl Town 

Hall which is in the west ward. It is one of the most socially deprived wards in 

Wales and the UK. There were no residents from the ward at the meeting.  

The issue had received much publicity including in the Journal. I made enquiries as 

to the free delivery and found that it was not delivered in west Rhyl. As the people 

of west Rhyl didn’t know about the meeting they certainly will not about the 

assembly and what its members are doing. This is an important issue in many 

parts of Wales where people who have moved here get their local news from where 

they came from. A fifth of Wales’ residents were born in England, as I was. 

Two items are prominent. Firstly I talk to people involved in the voluntary and 

charity sectors. A concern they have is that the press no longer turn up to AGMs, 

special events or report their activities. As I see it newspaper proprietors do not 

send journalists to ‘outside’ events. They are all office based. If organisations want 

their activities reported they have to do it themselves. This also applies to 

supplying photographs. 

Secondly it is council election time. In the seventies and eighties I was a member of 

three councils in Clwyd including the district and town. All their meeting had a 

number of journalists and items discussed and comments made were regularly 

reported. I now hardly see any reports of what the county and town councils are 

discussing. 

Regional papers. The sales of both Wales based dailies have reduced considerably. 

I checked on line and found a report in the Western Mail dated 28 August 2010 

entitled “Concern over newspapers’ decline in Wales”. It quotes James Stewart a 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



senior lecturer in journalism. He said “It emerged 90% of people in Wales read a 

paper that doesn’t contain Welsh news.” 

As this survey is being undertaken by the assembly which now has law making 

powers what it does and what its members say is important to every one in Wales. 

As 90% of news paper readers don’t read Welsh news its vital how political issues 

are reported. 

Here is an item I have noted read by 90% of daily newspaper readers in Wales. In 

2013 an announcement about free school meals for the under 8’s in England was 

reported. Here are 3 headlines from popular newspapers – Daily Mail “Every child 

up to seven”, The Independent “free school meals” and The Telegraph “Free school 

meals for all under eights.” 

On the question of Welsh laws here is a report from the Daily Post 29 April 2013 

regarding an English resident with a business in Wales. “Sunbed boss is first to be 

fined under new regulations in Wales” The operator of a sunbed salon has ended 

up with a £3,700 court bill in the first prosecution under tough new regulations 

introduced in Wales. Defendant David Kirkham, of Bradford Wood Cottages in 

Grange Lane, Winsford, Cheshire, said through his barrister that while he accepted 

full responsibility for the offences, he ran two other similar outlets in England 

where the regulations did not apply, and he had not been aware of the 

correspondence or the improvement notice. 

I have three further important observations on how little the people of Wales know 

about what the Assembly does.  

Firstly the first minister before the 2010 assembly election met many who were not 

aware of what the Welsh government had achieved. He said: “They can identify 

things like free prescriptions, bus passes and so on. But so many of the things 

we’ve done people weren’t aware of.” 

Secondly an amazing fact. In the 2016 BBC Wales St David’s Day survey, 29% of 

those polled didn’t know that health was devolved. Health is one of the main topics 

of political debate in the UK and government ministers often refer to the NHS in 

Wales. If nearly a third of the population doesn’t know that health is run by the 

assembly it has a lot of work to do.  

Tudalen y pecyn 47



Thirdly when lobbying an AM he mentioned that quite often letters from 

constituents were about issues being debated in parliament as opposed to 

devolved issues before the Assembly. 

Local TV. As a regular news watcher I have heard of local TV stations for Cardiff 

and Swansea. I recently heard that a new station had opened at Mold. I have not 

seen or heard of how people tune into these channels. I went on line to enquire 

about local TV stations and saw that they were on freeview channels 7 and 8. I re-

tuned my freeview and channel 7 was again channel 4 and there was no channel 8. 

I went back on line and on one sight the Mold station was listed at Moel Y Parc. On 

another sight the channels listed on channel 8 did not include Mold. I have no idea 

how to receive the local TV station at Mold. 

Conclusions. What the Assembly should do to improve news journalism. 

− Welsh newspaper readership is at a record low but on the positive side the 

two dailies and most of the locals have free online versions. The Assembly 

must encourage their proprietors to promote this and those with computers 

to read the online editions so that they know what the Assembly and its 

members are doing. 

− As the Assembly has law making powers and further powers are being, and 

will be, devolved it should take control of the media and broadcasting in 

Wales. Here is a reason. Since devolution decisions by the devolved 

governments are, unless major ones, are only reported in the devolved areas. 

On UK wide news programmes political matters mentioned usually only apply 

to England. They are often reported as UK news. To be fair the BBC does 

often report that changes only apply to England. In the election campaign on 

1 May, a party was to make an announcement about rented accommodation 

in the private sector. Before the announcement at 09.30 on the BBC news 

channel the on screen moving headlines contained the words “for renters in 

England”. On Sky news the words included “for all rented homes”. On news 

items before the announcement the BBC mentioned England, Sky didn’t 

neither did ITV. On 3 May the same applied to a policy on hospitals. For 

people in Wales who do not watch Welsh news it could be very confusing. 

The news programmes are UK wide so the Assembly must ensure that 

political news is properly reported with it being made clear which matters are 

England only. This is a news journalism problem that must be solved. 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



− As there are different parties in power at Westminster and Cardiff Bay it is 

essential the Welsh government, and opposition parties, inform the public of 

their Welsh policies. They should not be judged by the actions of MPs at 

Westminster under another governing party. 

− The Assembly must persuade the news outlets to publicise far more 

information about what the Assembly is doing. That is ensure that there are 

more political programmes on TV and they are well publicised and their 

contents fully described. 

− Probably the majority of TV viewers in Wales watch local news and political 

programmes from England from the north west, midlands and west. The 

Assembly must persuade the people of Wales to watch Welsh news and 

political programmes. It could try to ensure that TV channels in England, 

prior to political programmes, say that the programme on their sister 

channel in Wales contains matters that affect everyone who lives in Wales.  

− Local TV stations are an excellent improvement but far more publicity is 

needed to persuade the public to watch them. Also they must include local 

political news and details of what local and regional AMs are doing. 

− Persuade news paper proprietors to send journalists out to cover meetings, 

local councils, charities and community groups helping vulnerable people. 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW05 

Ymateb gan NUJ Cymru / Evidence from NUJ Wales 

1. Mae Undeb Cenedlaethol y Newyddiadurwyr yn croesawu ymholiad y pwyllgor 

i'r hyn sydd, yng nghred yr undeb, yn argyfwng yn y ddarpariaeth newyddion 

yng Nghymru. Yn ei faniffesto ar y cyfryngau yng Nghymru, galwodd yr NUJ 

am gael BBC sy’n perthyn i’r cyhoedd ac a ariennir gan ffi’r drwydded. Mae'n 

galw hefyd am fwy o oruchwyliaeth a chraffu ar ddarlledu gwasanaeth 

cyhoeddus yng Nghymru gan Lywodraeth Cymru a'r Cynulliad, ynghyd ag S4C 

lewyrchus, ag adnoddau priodol, ac a ariennir ac a reolir yng Nghymru.  Mae'n 

rhaid i ITV yng Nghymru fod yn ymrwymedig i ddarpariaeth gwasanaeth 

cyhoeddus o ran newyddion a materion cyfoes, a chwarae rhan ganolog wrth 

daflu goleuni ar fywyd yng Nghymru. 

2. Dymuna'r undeb fynegi ei ddiolch am gefnogaeth y Cynulliad yn ystod 

Wythnos Mae Newyddion Lleol o Bwys yr undeb, yn cynnwys y datganiad o 

farn (OPIN--2017-0033 - Wythnos Mae Newyddion Lleol o Bwys) a alwodd am 

i bapurau lleol gael eu trin fel asedau cymunedol; am reolau newydd i atal 

allfeydd cyfryngau lleol rhag cau yn ddirybudd – dylid eu cynnig i ddarpar 

berchenogion newydd, yn cynnwys mentrau cydweithredol lleol, gan neilltuo 

amser ar gyfer cyflwyno cais am berchenogaeth amgen ar y cyfryngau cyn i 

unrhyw achos o gau ddigwydd; am i’r llywodraeth a chyflogwyr weithredu i 

atal y llif didostur o dorri swyddi; ac am gynyddu buddsoddiad, o amrywiaeth 

o ffynonellau, mewn newyddiaduraeth leol o ansawdd. 

3. Adroddodd Maniffesto Cymru'r NUJ ar yr argyfwng yn y cyfryngau yng 

Nghymru gyda thoriadau i swyddi newyddiadurol sydd wedi arwain i ostyngiad 

yn yr ymdriniaeth o sefydliadau democrataidd. Dywedodd: "Mae Cymru ble 

mae'r llywodraeth yn gweithredu, heb rywun i adrodd arni a heb ei herio, yn 

Gymru wannach. Mae Cymru ble mae llysoedd yn traddodi dedfrydau sy'n 

effeithio ar unigolion a'r gymdeithas gyfan, heb ofidio am bresenoldeb 

beirniadol y wasg, yn Gymru wannach. Mae Cymru ble mae buddugoliaeth 

mewn chwaraeon, coroni mewn eisteddfod neu ymgyrchu gan y gymuned yn 

mynd heibio heb eu cyhoeddi, yn Gymru wannach." 

4. Mae'r dirywiad mewn refeniw hysbysebu, y newid o argraffu i ddigidol, gyda 

grwpiau papurau newydd yn darparu eu gwefannau am ddim ac yna'n codi 

pris papurau newydd, wedi cael effaith andwyol ar gylchrediad. Mae hwn yn 

Tudalen y pecyn 50



ffenomen byd-eang a gellid dadlau bod y ddarpariaeth newyddion yng 

Nghymru wedi dioddef yn arbennig oherwydd y duedd hon. Er bod 

trafnidiaeth ddigidol ar gynnydd, nid yw refeniw hysbysebu yn dilyn yr un 

patrwm. Yn ôl Cymdeithas y Cyfryngau Newyddion, daw refeniw'r mwyafrif 

llethol o sefydliadau cyfryngau (81 y cant) oddi wrth ddarllenwyr print, gyda 

12 y cant yn dod o'r digidol. Mae'r sefydliadau hyn wedi gwastraffu'r cyfle i 

fuddsoddi mewn digidol. Yn lle hynny, maent wedi mynd ati i dorri swyddi. I 

raddau helaeth, mae'r sefydliadau cyfryngau hyn wedi rhedeg model sy'n 

disgwyl elw o fwy nag 20 y cant, sydd heb ei debyg mewn sectorau eraill. Wrth 

i'r elw gael ei wasgu (a buont yn gwario'n annoeth pan oedd pethau'n ffynnu), 

eu hunig erfyn i dawelu'r cyfranddalwyr oedd torri staff heb ofal dyladwy am 

ansawdd y cynnyrch roeddent yn ei gynhyrchu. Mae behemothiaid y 

cyfryngau, fel Gweplyfr a Google, yn llyncu hysbysebu ac yn hwfro'r cynnwys 

oddi wrth sefydliadau newyddion y cyfryngau. Mae adroddiad yr 

Ymgynghorwyr Strategaeth OC&C yn rhagweld y bydd Gweplyfr a Google wedi 

cipio cyfran o 71 y cant o gyfanswm y farchnad hysbysebu erbyn 2020. 

Nododd eu hadroddiad: “Mae'r raddfa a'r cyflymder hyn yn alwad grymus am 

weithredu gan y cwmnïau cyfryngau. Pan fydd [Gweplyfr a Google] wedi 

cyrraedd 70 y cant o'r farchnad hysbysebu ar-lein, ni fydd hynny'n gadael 

llawer o le ar ôl yn rhywle arall.” Dylai'r Cynulliad ddefnyddio'i ddylanwad i 

geisio perswadio Google a'i debyg i gynorthwyo mentrau newydd yng 

Nghymru. 

5. Gall y Cynulliad chwarae rhan hanfodol wrth edrych ar ffyrdd o gynyddu 

buddsoddiad mewn newyddiaduraeth o ansawdd. Mae'r NUJ wedi galw am 

ddefnydd strategol o hysbysebu gan lywodraeth leol a chanolog, a chredydau 

treth ac eithriadau treth i gyfryngau lleol sy'n bodloni dibenion cyhoeddus tra 

ddiffiniedig. 

6. Mae'r stori druenus am gau hyb is-olygu Newsquest yng Nghasnewydd yn 

enghraifft lesol o fuddsoddiad mewn newyddiaduraeth gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

yn cael ei gamleoli'n enbyd. Roedd yr hyb, a gyflogai 70 o bobl ar un adeg, yn 

golygu deunydd copi ar gyfer papurau newydd cyn belled i ffwrdd a'r Alban ar 

ôl i Newsquest ddiswyddo staff cynhyrchu ar eu teitlau. Talodd Llywodraeth 

Cymru £340,000 i Newsquest, sy'n perthyn i'r cwmni tra phroffidiol 

Americanaidd, Gannett, i sefydlu'r hyb. Mae'n debyg i'r grant gael ei rhoi ar yr 

amod bod y gweithwyr yn cael eu cyflogi tan o leiaf 2020. Adroddodd 

Newsquest elw o 20 y cant, sef £69 miliwn, ar drosiant o £279 miliwn yn y 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



flwyddyn pan dderbyniodd y rhodd gan Lywodraeth Cymru. Cadarnhaodd 

Llywodraeth Cymru bod Newsquest hefyd wedi derbyn cymorth o fwy na 

£95,000 dan y rhaglen Sgiliau Twf Cymru yn 2013/2014. Mae'r hyb wedi cau 

bellach, gyda'r 14 o staff oedd ar ôl yn colli eu swyddi. 

7. Y wers i'w dysgu o'r ffiasgo yng Nghasnewydd yw bod angen ymagwedd fwy 

strategol. Cafodd y Port Talbot Magnet, cwmni cydweithredol cymunedol 

dielw, ei sefydlu saith mlynedd yn ôl gyda grant o £10,000 gan 

Ymddiriedolaeth Carnegie. Er iddo gyhoeddi llawer o storïau ac iddo fod yn 

boblogaidd gyda’i ddarllenwyr, oherwydd y pwysau economaidd ar yr holl 

fusnesau ym Mhort Talbot ar ôl yr argyfwng dur, roedd yn amhosibl cynnal 

gwasanaeth newyddion lleol drwy hysbysebu yn unig, ac ym mis Medi 2016 

cafodd y papur ei gau. Dyma'r union fath o fenter ddylai fod wedi cael 

cefnogaeth. Dylid darparu grantiau i fentrau cyfryngau newydd a dylai'r 

Cynulliad fod yn annog cynghorau a chyrff cyhoeddus eraill i'w cefnogi drwy 

hysbysebu a nawdd. 

8. Mae'r NUJ o'r gred y dylai papurau newydd gael statws asedau cymunedol 

gyda rheolau newydd i atal allfeydd cyfryngau lleol rhag cau yn ddirybudd, a 

chynnig teitlau i ddarpar berchenogion newydd, yn cynnwys mentrau 

cydweithredol lleol, gan neilltuo amser ar gyfer cyflwyno cais am 

berchenogaeth amgen ar y cyfryngau cyn i unrhyw achos o gau ddigwydd. 

9. Cyfryngau Cymru Trinity Mirror yw’r cyhoeddwr newyddion lleol blaenllaw yng 

Nghymru, yn berchen ar y papurau dyddiol, y Western Mail, y Daily Post a’r 

South Wales Echo, ynghyd â chasgliad o fwy na 10 cyhoeddiad wythnosol yn 

cwmpasu ardaloedd yn ne ac yng ngogledd Cymru. Mae Trinity Mirror wedi 

cymryd y teitlau Local Word drosodd, sef y South Wales Evening Post dyddiol a 

dau deitl wythnosol – y Carmarthen Journal a'r Llanelli Star. Mae hyn wedi 

arwain at gyfuno gwefan y South Wales Evening Post yn Abertawe â'i 

blatfform, Wales Online. Yn 1999 roedd bron 700 o staff golygyddol a 

chynhyrchu yng Nghyfryngau Cymru. Ar ddiwedd 2015 roedd Cyfryngau 

Cymru'n cyflogi 100 o staff cynhyrchu, ynghyd â 57 mewn gwerthiant a 

dosbarthu ac 11 mewn rolau gweinyddol. Nid yw Trinity Mirror yn ceisio 

cuddio'i arfer o dorri'r hyn a ddisgrifia'n "rolau traddodiadol" a'u newid am 

rolau sydd â ffocws mwy digidol. Mae'r NUJ yn pryderu bod hyn yn arwain at 

golli arbenigwyr gohebu sy'n awdurdodau yn eu maes. Mae model busnes 

Trinity Mirror yn seiliedig ar gynyddu nifer yr ymwelwyr i'w wefannau, a'r 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



pryder yw bod hyn yn creu mwy o bwyslais ar ddeunydd ysgafnach, o’r math 

dull o fyw, ar draul ymdriniaeth fwy traddodiadol o gynghorau. Gyda'r 

ystafelloedd newyddion wedi eu tocio’n llym, mae ein haelodau wedi sylwi bod 

y duedd hon yn cyflymu, gan beri gofid mawr o ran yr angen am i etholwyr 

fod yn fwy gwybodus. 

10. Mae pobl yn gwneud eu gorau gydag adnoddau sy'n lleihau'n barhaus, ond 

mae hyn yn mynd yn fwyfwy anodd. Fodd bynnag, oherwydd ymroddiad ein 

haelodau a'r oriau hir maent yn gweithio, mae newyddiaduraeth o ansawdd yn 

dal i fodoli, er enghraifft yr ymdriniaeth wrth goffáu 50 mlynedd ers Trychineb 

Aberfan fis Hydref diwethaf, a gafodd ganmoliaeth eang. 

11. Y llynedd, penderfynodd aelodau'r NUJ yn Trinity Mirror Gogledd Cymru 

bleidleisio dros weithredu diwydiannol oherwydd cynlluniau'r cwmni i symud 

gohebydd gwleidyddol y Daily Post i Ogledd Cymru, a olygai nad oedd 

arbenigwr yng Nghaerdydd i ymdrin â Chynulliad Cymru. O ganlyniad i'r 

cynlluniau, gadawyd rolau heb eu llenwi, yn cynnwys golygydd gweithredol y 

papur newydd, a diswyddwyd un gohebydd digidol. Roedd hyn ar ôl i ddau 

gyn-ohebydd y Daily Post gael eu symud o fewn Trinity Mirror heb ail-lenwi’r 

swyddi hynny. 

12. Fel rhan o gynllun gohebwyr democratiaeth leol y BBC (LDRs), sy'n defnyddio 

£8 miliwn o arian talwyr ffi’r drwydded i ariannu gohebwyr i weithio i bapurau 

newydd lleol sy'n perthyn i gwmnïau masnachol ac sy'n ymdrin â chynghorau, 

mae Cymru wedi rhoi dyraniad o 11 LDR, fel y'u gelwir. Mewn gohebiaeth 

gyda'r AC Cynulliad Cymru, Simon Thomas, ar ddiswyddo gohebydd 

gwleidyddol y Daily Post oedd yn ymdrin â'r Cynulliad o Gaerdydd, dywedodd 

Prif Swyddog Gweithredol Trinity Mirror, Simon Fox: “Mae'n werth i chi wybod 

ein bod yn parhau i drafod gyda'r BBC ynglŷn â gweithio synergaidd. Yn sgil 

hyn, efallai bydd gwelliannau ychwanegol i'n hymdriniaeth wleidyddol yn 

bosibl.” Mae angen cadarnhad ar yr NUJ nad yw swyddi gwag yn cael eu llenwi 

gan yr LDRs hyn. Byddai hyn yn ddefnydd sinigaidd iawn o'r cynllun. 

13. Clywodd newyddiadurwyr yn y Daily Post bod eu swyddfa'n cau drwy 

ddatganiad i'r wasg gan archfarchnad Lidl, sy'n bwriadu cymryd y safle 

drosodd i'w ailddatblygu. Bydd staff y papur newydd yn cael eu symud i 

gyfleusterau newydd pum milltir i ffwrdd ym Mae Colwyn yn ddiweddarach 

eleni ar ôl 16 mlynedd yn Vale Road, Cyffordd Llandudno, Cymru. Mae gan y 

teitl gylchrediad dyddiol cyfartalog o 21,802 o gopïau ac mae'n cofnodi 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



99,963 o ymwelwyr dyddiol unigryw i'w wefan, yn ôl ffigurau diweddaraf ABC. 

Bydd tîm y Post yn rhannu lle gyda staff y gyfres bapurau, y North Wales 

Weekly News, y Caernarfon and Denbigh Herald, a'r Bangor and Holyhead Mail 

yn y swyddfa newydd – sef cyfanswm o 30 o newyddiadurwyr. Dywedodd  y 

Press Gazette na fu unrhyw ymgynghori â'r staff ac nid oeddent yn gwybod 

dim am y peth nes iddynt ddarllen y datganiad i'r wasg gan Lidl. 

14. Mae trefi sylweddol yng Nghymru heb bapur newydd lleol neu 

newyddiadurwyr proffesiynol i'w cynrychioli, fel Castell-nedd a Phort Talbot 

(poblogaeth gyfunol o 88,000), ers i'w papurau newydd gael eu cau gan 

Trinity Mirror yn 2009. Roedd poblogaeth bwrdeistref sirol Castell-nedd Port 

Talbot, yr wythfed awdurdod lleol mwyaf yng Nghymru, yn 141,000 yn ôl 

cyfrifiad 2011. 

15. Yn Ebrill 2015, ymgasglodd mwy na 100 o bobl, yn cynnwys arweinwyr cyngor 

ac ASau lleol yn Sgwâr y Pendist, Caernarfon, i brotestio yn erbyn cynnig 

Trinity Mirror i gau ei swyddfa yng Nghaernarfon. Roedd Caernarfon yn 

adnabyddus gynt fel prif ddinas yr inc yng Nghymru oherwydd ei chysylltiad 

hir â newyddiaduraeth, ac mae'r Caernarfon and Denbigh Herald wedi bodoli 

ar amrywiol ffurfiau ers 1831. Yn ôl y gyfrinfa, pe byddai'r swyddfa'n cau 

byddai hyn yn pellhau newyddiadurwyr yn fwy oddi wrth y cymunedau y dylent 

fod yn eu gwasanaethu, ac yn effeithio ar y gwasanaeth Cymraeg y gallai'r 

cwmni ei gynnig i gwsmeriaid a darllenwyr. 

16. Mae'r NUJ wedi bod yn adrodd ar y problemau yn y diwydiant yng Nghymru 

ers tro. Dywedodd Michelle Stanistreet, ysgrifennydd cyffredinol yr NUJ, wrth y 

Grŵp Seneddol Hollbleidiol ar y cyfryngau yng Nghymru ym mis Gorffennaf 

2012: "Wrth i  grwpiau papurau newydd lleol gael eu prynu gan uwchgwmnïau 

mawr sydd â’u pencadlys yn Llundain a'r Unol Daleithiau, mae papurau 

newydd yng Nghymru wedi gweld eu bod yn colli eu llais unigryw. Mae'r 

diwydiant yn dioddef oddi wrth yr argyfwng yn y DU ac yn fyd-eang – yn y 

saith mlynedd diwethaf, mae 20 y cant o bapurau lleol y DU wedi cau gyda 

dim ond 70 o lansiadau newydd. Rhoddwyd y bai ar y symudiad i'r rhyngrwyd 

ble mae llawer o gynnwys yn cael ei gynnig am ddim, ac ar y gostyngiad mewn 

refeniw hysbysebu a achoswyd gan y dirwasgiad a chylchrediadau gostyngol. 

Ond nid yw mor syml â hynny. Rhwng dechrau 2003 a diwedd 2007, roedd 

maint elw cyfartalog Cyfryngau Cymru yn 34 y cant, gan gyrraedd brig o 38 y 

cant dros y 12 mis tan ddiwedd 2005. Oherwydd yr elw hwn, roedd Cyfryngau 

Tudalen y pecyn 54



Cymru’n un o'r cwmnïau mwyaf proffidiol o unrhyw fath yng Nghymru, heb 

sôn am yn niwydiant y cyfryngau. Ond ni chafodd yr elw hwn ei fuddsoddi yn y 

busnes. Pan adawodd Sly Mailey, Prif Weithredwr Trinity Mirror, y grŵp, roedd 

wedi pocedu mwy na £14 miliwn er bod y gweithlu wedi ei haneru bron iawn 

ac er bod pris y cyfranddaliadau wedi plymio o 90 y cant yn ystod ei 

daliadaeth." 

17. Un o ymatebion cyffredin perchenogion fel Trinity Mirror yw nodi eu henillion 

sylweddol o ran eu cyfran o'r gynulleidfa ddigidol, ond mae hyn yn cuddio’r 

golled o newyddiadurwyr a'u profiad, a'r golled ddilynol o’r ymdriniaeth o'r 

gymuned leol wrth i ystafelloedd newyddion gael eu canoli'n fwyfwy. Mae 

papurau newydd print yn parhau i fod yn adnoddau pwysig i lawer o 

gymunedau, ond yn bwysicach na’r rhain mae'r newyddiadurwyr a gyflogir 

ganddynt, eu dyletswyddau i brofi gwybodaeth, a’r craffu a ddarperir 

ganddynt er mwyn gwasanaethu democratiaeth leol. Cynhaliwyd ymchwil yn 

ddiweddar gan Brifysgol Caerdydd i effaith ‘y tyllau duon newyddion’ fel y'u 

gelwir ar gynulleidfaoedd. Astudiodd yr ymchwil dref Port Talbot ar ôl i'w 

phapur newydd wythnosol, y Port Talbot Guardian, gau yn 2009. Dyma rai o’r 

casgliadau: 

− Roedd pobl leol yn dra dibynnol ar glywed eu newyddion ar lafar, sy'n 

golygu bod sïon a gwagddyfalu yn nodweddion allweddol mewn unrhyw 

ddadl neu drafodaeth gyhoeddus. 

− Roedd sefydliadau lleol yn anrhyloyw ac roedd yn anodd i aelodau o'r 

cyhoedd lywio o'u cwmpas, i gael gwybodaeth, i gael atebion i'w 

ymholiadau, neu i gwyno. 

− Roedd pobl yn syrthio nôl ar ddulliau anghonfensiynol o gael gwybodaeth, 

yn cynnwys graffiti protestio. 

− Roedd rhwystredigaeth a dicter yn gyffredin ac roedd hyn yn fwyaf 

nodedig ymhlith aelodau ieuaf y gymuned. Byddent yn siarad yn bur faith 

am eu parodrwydd i derfysgu er mwyn i'w lleisiau gael eu clywed. 

− Roedd y ddarpariaeth newyddion drwy'r cyfryngau traddodiadol wedi 

gwaethygu o ran ei hansawdd ers degawdau lawer wrth i adnoddau gael 

eu tynnu'n ôl o'r ystafelloedd newyddion, ond gwaethygodd y marcwyr 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



ansawdd pwysig yn gyflymach fyth pan gafodd newyddiadurwyr eu hafleoli 

o'u cymunedau ar ôl cau swyddfeydd ardal y ddau bapur newydd lleol olaf. 

− Un o'r casgliadau arwyddocaol oedd bod cyfartaledd y ganran a 

bleidleisiodd yn etholiadau'r cyngor, Cynulliad Cymru a’r etholiadau 

cyffredinol – a oedd yn hanesyddol yn uwch na'r cyfartaledd cenedlaethol 

yn etholaeth leol Aberafan – wedi gostwng ac yna wedi aros islaw'r 

cyfartaledd cenedlaethol oddi ar yr amser pan gaeodd swyddfeydd ardal y 

papurau newydd. Mae hyn yn awgrymu’n foel bod diffyg democrataidd 

difrifol yn debygol o ddod i’r amlwg ar ôl tynnu newyddiadurwyr print lleol 

o'r gymuned. 

18. Ym mis Tachwedd 2016, cyhoeddodd Trinity Mirror ei fod yn cau gwasg 

argraffu Caerdydd gan effeithio ar 33 o swyddi.  

19. Torrwyd mwy na 100 o swyddi yn BBC Wales ers 2012, gyda £10 miliwn yn 

cael ei slaesio o'r cyllidebau rhaglennu yn yr un cyfnod. Mae'r buddsoddiad 

mewn rhaglennu Saesneg wedi gostwng o 32 y cant mewn termau real yn 

ystod y degawd diwethaf.  Er gwaethaf hyn, mae'r BBC yng Nghymru yn 

parhau i chwarae rhan ganolog ym mywydau pobl Cymru. Mae gan BBC Wales 

ddau ohebydd a chynhyrchydd sy'n ymdrin â San Steffan. 

20. Mae'r cyllid ar gyfer S4C wedi ei dorri o £18.2 miliwn ers 2009. Mae 18,000 o 

wylwyr yn gweld pob pennod o'i fwletin newyddion, Newyddion 9, tra bod pob 

pennod o’r rhaglen ddadlau wleidyddol, Pawb a'i Farn, yn denu 13,000 o 

wylwyr. Denodd S4C gynulleidfaoedd o dros 20,000 yn rheolaidd ar gyfer yr 

ymdriniaeth o'r eisteddfodau yn 2014/15. 

21. Nid oes cyllideb gyhoeddedig ar wahân ar gael ar gyfer ITV Cymru Wales, ond 

mae amcangyfrifon seiliedig ar ffynonellau Ofcom yn ei gosod ar tua £7 

miliwn. Y gyllideb gyffredinol ar gyfer holl allbwn Rhanbarthol Saesneg a 

Chymraeg ITV yw £64 miliwn, sydd wedi gostwng o’r swm blaenorol o dros 

£100 miliwn, ac sydd bellach wedi ei rewi yn nhermau arian parod. Mae'r 

bwlch rhwng uchelgais y gwneuthurwyr rhaglenni a'u hadnoddau ariannol yn 

amlwg weithiau, er enghraifft, nid oedd cyflwyniad wrth ochr y cae yn 

rhaglenni cwpan y byd rygbi ITV Cymru Wales, yn wahanol i rwydwaith ITV (ac 

S4C). 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



22. Tua 10 mlynedd yn ôl yng Ngogledd Cymru, roedd cynnig ar-lein y BBC yn 

cael ei wasanaethu gan wasanaeth newyddion penodedig a gweithrediad 

cylchgronau, ar ffurf y timau Where I Live. Roedd gan BBC Bangor a BBC 

Wrecsam eu cynhyrchydd, ymchwilydd a gohebydd newyddion eu hun yn 

canolbwyntio ar wasanaethu rhanbarthau gogledd-orllewin Cymru a gogledd-

ddwyrain Cymru. Aberthwyd y gwasanaethau hyn mewn ad-drefnu a 

sbardunwyd gan gwynion y diwydiant papurau newydd fod y BBC yn mynd y tu 

hwnt i'w gylch gwaith ac yn effeithio ar bapurau newydd lleol. O ganlyniad, 

cyfunwyd rôl un cynhyrchydd yng Ngogledd Cymru â'r gwasanaethau 

newyddion ar-lein cyffredinol, ar y cyd â'r ddau ohebydd. Diflannodd y swyddi 

ymchwilwyr yn llwyr, ac ymddiswyddodd cynhyrchydd arall yn wirfoddol. 

Cafodd safleoedd Where I Live eu cau a thybiwyd bod yr angen am newyddion 

lleol yn cael ei fodloni gan y mynegeion newyddion rhanbarthol. 

23. Nawr mae tair swydd yn rhedeg y rhaglen Saesneg, News Online, yng 

ngogledd Cymru – hanner y nifer oedd yno 10 mlynedd yn ôl. Ond nid oes yr 

un aelod o'r tîm ar-lein hwn ar gyfer Gogledd Cymru yn canolbwyntio ar 

ymdrin â storïau Gogledd Cymru. Maent yn rhan o'r cymysgedd sifftiau ar-lein 

cyffredinol, yn gweithio rotâu i gynnal y safle a storïau o safbwynt Cymru 

gyfan. 

24. Mae ad-drefnu gwasanaethau BBC Cymru oherwydd y cwynion gan y 

diwydiant papurau newydd wedi gwaethygu’r sefyllfa honno, ac ymateb y 

diwydiant papurau newydd i hyn oedd peidio â buddsoddi yn y bwlch lleol 

canfyddedig a adawyd gan y BBC – ond yn hytrach, cyflymu'r toriadau i'w 

ohebu lleol. Ond, a ddylai cyrff cyhoeddus, fel y BBC, fod yn buddsoddi arian 

ffi’r drwydded yn y sector preifat, yn hytrach nag yn ôl yn ei wasanaethau lleol 

ei hun? Nid yw hanes diweddar buddsoddiad papurau newydd lleol yn eu 

newyddiaduraeth lleol eu hun yma yng Ngogledd Cymru yn magu llawer o 

hyder. 

25. Mae diffyg lluosogrwydd y cyfryngau yn broblem fawr yn y wasg yn y DU. 

Dangosodd ymchwil a gomisiynwyd gan yr NUJ bod 45 y cant o'r 380 o 

Ardaloedd Awdurdodau Lleol yng Nghymru, Lloegr a’r Alban yn cael eu 

gwasanaethu gan un cyhoeddwr papurau newydd rhanbarthol oedd yn 

darparu un neu fwy o deitlau. Felly, roedd marchnad papurau newydd 

rhanbarthol y DU yn cynnwys 165 o fonopolïau lleol. Yn ôl dadansoddiad o 

allbwn digidol papurau newydd lleol, nid oedd unrhyw effaith ar y diffyg 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



lluosogrwydd yn aml wrth ystyried y ddarpariaeth newyddion ar-lein gan 

deitlau rhanbarthol. 

− Mapio newidiadau mewn newyddion lleol 2015-2017: mwy o newyddion 

drwg i ddemocratiaeth? Dr Gordon Neil Ramsay, dirprwy gyfarwyddwr 

canolfan astudio'r cyfryngau, cyfathrebu a grym yn King's College Llundain 

https://www.nuj.org.uk/documents/mapping-changes-local-news-2017/ 

− Taith i ganol twll du newyddion: archwilio'r diffyg democrataidd mewn tref 

heb bapur newydd, Rachel Howells 

https://www.nuj.org.uk/documents/journey-to-the-centre-of-a-news-

black-hole-examining-the/ 

Tudalen y pecyn 58

https://www.nuj.org.uk/documents/mapping-changes-local-news-2017/
https://www.nuj.org.uk/documents/journey-to-the-centre-of-a-news-black-hole-examining-the/
https://www.nuj.org.uk/documents/journey-to-the-centre-of-a-news-black-hole-examining-the/


Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW06 

Ymateb gan S4C / Evidence from S4C 

Fel rhan o wasanaeth S4C, rydym yn cynnig rhaglenni newyddion a materion cyfoes 

sy’n eang ac yn amrywiol.  

Newyddion  

Rydym yn cynnig bwletinau newyddion cyson yn ystod y dydd (dydd Llun i ddydd 

Gwener) – gan gynnwys un bwletin arbennig i gynulleidfa iau am 1700 (Ffeil)  

Mae prif raglen newyddion dyddiol S4C, Newyddion 9, yn cael ei darlledu am 2100 

o nos Lun i nos Wener. Mae’n edrych ar straeon mwyaf Cymru, y DU, a’r byd mewn 

ffordd glir ac unigryw.  

Mae’r rhaglenni hyn yn cael eu cynhyrchu gan adran newyddion BBC Cymru yn 

seiliedig ar gyfeiriad golygyddol sy’n cael ei drafod yn rheolaidd rhwng BBC Cymru 

ac S4C.  

Materion cyfoes  

Mae cyfres Y Byd ar Bedwar yn rhoi sylw manwl i straeon o Gymru a’r tu hwnt gan 

gynnwys newyddiaduraeth wreiddiol a rhaglenni sy’n edrych yn ddyfnach ar 

ddatblygiadau newyddion gartref ac yn rhyngwladol.  

Cyfres materion cyfoes i bobl ifanc gan bobl ifanc yw Hacio. Mae’r gyfres yn edrych 

ar ystod o faterion sy’n effeithio ar fywydau pobl ifanc drwy eu llygaid eu hunain.  

Mae’r cyfresi hyn yn cael eu cynhyrchu gan ITV Cymru yn seiliedig ar gyfeiriad 

golygyddol sy’n cael ei drafod yn rheolaidd rhwng ITV Cymru ac S4C.  

Mae nifer helaeth o raglenni materion cyfoes unigol hefyd yn cael eu comisiynu gan 

cwmnïau cynhyrchu annibynnol. Er enghraifft:  

Cam-drin Plant: Y Gwir sy’n Lladd (2016) – Stori ymdrechion i ddatgelu 

troseddau cam-drin plant mewn cartrefi plant yng ngogledd Cymru, drwy 

lygaid newyddiadurwr fu’n gweithio ar y stori am ddegawdau. Mae’n 

gynhyrchiad gan Cwmni Da.  

Tudalen y pecyn 58



Yr Achos (2017) – I’w darlledu ym mis Mehefin 2017, mae’r rhaglen yn 

edrych ar hanes cam-drin plant yng Nghymru. Mae’n gynhyrchiad gan 

gwmni Double Agent Films.  

Gwleidyddol  

O’r Senedd yw rhaglen wleidyddol newydd S4C sy’n crynhoi straeon gwleidyddol yr 

wythnos. Mae’n cynnwys y prif ddatblygiadau o seneddau Bae Caerdydd a San 

Steffan bob nos Fawrth.  

Mae’r cyhoedd yn cael eu cyfle nhw i drafod yn uniongyrchol â’r gwleidyddion ar 

raglen Pawb a’i Farn. Mae’r rhaglen banel hon yn ymdrin â phrif faterion y dydd, 

gan alluogi’r pleidiau, gwesteion annibynnol a phobl gyffredin i ddweud eu dweud.  

Mae’r rhaglenni hyn yn cael eu cynhyrchu gan BBC Cymru yn seiliedig ar gyfeiriad 

golygyddol sy’n cael ei drafod yn rheolaidd rhwng BBC Cymru ac S4C.  

Sylw i etholiadau:  

Yn ystod cyfnod cyn etholiadau cenedlaethol, mae rhagor o amser yn cael ei 

neilltuo ar gyfer rhaglenni gwleidyddol er mwyn sicrhau bod y prif ddadleuon 

etholiadol yn cael eu gwyntyllu’n gyhoeddus yn y Gymraeg ar S4C. Er enghraifft, 

cyn Etholiad Cyffredinol y Deyrnas Unedig ar 8 Mehefin, mae’r rhaglenni 

ychwanegol canlynol wedi’u hamserlenni:  

− 2 Pawb a’i Farn – rhaglenni etholiadol arbennig. (BBC Cymru)  

− 3 Y Ras i’r Senedd – rhaglenni sy’n edrych yn fanylach ar y prif bleidiau cyn 

yr etholiad (ITV Cymru).  

− Hacio’n Holi – rhaglen drafod etholiadol i bobl ifanc (ITV Cymru).  

Yn ogystal, fe fydd rhaglen ganlyniadau llawn drwy noson y cyfrif ar S4C, ynghyd â 

bwletinau/rhaglenni estynedig ddydd Gwener 9 Mehefin.  

Tudalen y pecyn 59



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 60

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vii o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW07 

Ymateb gan Caerphilly Observer / Evidence from Caerphilly Observer 

Introduction 

As the publisher of a relatively new and independent newspaper in Wales, I am 

pleased to have been invited by the committee to submit my views on a topic I 

believe is of huge importance.  

Caerphilly Observer began life in 2009 as web-only publication. At the time I was a 

journalist living and working in Brighton on the regional daily newspaper The 

Argus. There were several reasons for setting up the website at the time, but a 

major one was a frustration at not being able to keep-up-to-date with news from 

back home in Caerphilly.  

In 2011, my wife and I decided to move back home to Wales to start a family - and 

it was a now or never moment to continue with Caerphilly Observer.  

The difficulty I faced was attracting local businesses, who were used to advertising 

in print, to advertise on the site. Demand from them and readers turned my 

attention to launching a print version.  

In 2013 I met with the rural development team at Caerphilly County Borough 

Council and successfully applied for a budding business grant to launch a 

fortnightly newspaper with a circulation of 10,000. The grant was for £2,441.60 

which went towards 80% of the print costs for the first four editions and 80% of the 

cost of three distribution bins.  

Since we launched the print edition in May 2013 we haven't looked back, with 

advertisers happy to be associated with us. We have our own office space on 

Caerphilly Business Park at the Welsh Innovation Centre for Enterprise and we have 

three members of staff (myself, a full-time reporter, and a part-time 

photographer/advertising sales executive).  

We punch well above our weight in terms of editorial coverage of the area and have 

won a total of four Wales Media Awards – three successive wins in the Independent 

Community News Service of the Year category, and Scoop of the Year in 2015, 

beating the likes of BBC Wales and the Western Mail.  

Tudalen y pecyn 62



Our website currently attracts an average of 40,000 unique visitors month, 

generating 100,000 page impressions.  

Other grant funding we have received includes two Jobs Growth Wales placements 

and funding via Welsh Government and the Fairwood Trust for office space at ICE.  

We have not received, or applied for, any grant funding since September 2015.  

Business Model  

Our business model is predominately an advertising-funded model, with around 

75% to 80% of our turnover coming from online and print advertising. Print-only 

advertising accounts for approximately 65% and includes legal notices placed with 

us by the local authority.  

The remainder is made from contract journalism work and other revenues such as 

fees from the Newspaper Licensing Agency.  

Caerphilly Observer is published by Caerphilly Media Ltd and is a success because 

we don't have a large cost base. The only shareholder to satisfy is myself an to 

keep costs down I keep as much work, such as advert design, in-house. Unlike 

bigger listed media companies, I don't have to worry about the value of the shares 

or dividend payouts – I simply have to make sure there is enough revenue to cover 

costs, pay staff, and then pay myself.  

Access  

We have never had a serious problem with gaining editorial access to Wales' 

various institutions and public bodies, and as we have gone on and become more 

established, any difficultly we did have has dissipated.  

The difficulty for us has been getting in front of advertising agencies who are in 

charge of buying advertising space for such organisations.  

Four years ago I tried to make contact with the Welsh Government's advertising 

agency and failed. In effect, we were dismissed as insignificant. Not the agency's 

fault as they are used to dealing with the big players, but if the Welsh Government 

does decide to show a commitment to newer media through advertising spend, 

this is one potential problem.  

At the time of submitting this evidence, I am preparing to pitch to the current 

Welsh Government's agency, which is Golley Slater.  

Tudalen y pecyn 63



A similar problem has been faced by us when approaching universities and further 

education colleges. 2/4 We also had to battle with the local authority to persuade 

them to place their public notices with us. Initially they turned us down because 

they were unsure if we were legally classified as a newspaper. In the end, I had to 

write to Edwina Hart, the Local Government Minister at the time, who confirmed 

that Caerphilly could place notices with us. Since then, Caerphilly County Borough 

Council has been in almost every edition as we are cheaper than Newsquest – the 

publishers of our rival newspaper the Campaign (where I began my career back in 

2004).  

Our effect  

Just prior to launching our print edition in May 2013, I received a letter from 

Newsquest questioning our website traffic claims. It was threatening in tone and 

warned us that we would be reported to the Advertising Standards Authority 

because I had not cited a source for our figures. This was the first time that 

Newsquest had contacted me and I took it as a compliment that they felt 

threatened by us.  

After news broke that we had secured grant funding for a print edition, we came in 

for some heavy criticism from Newsquest. Kevin Ward, then the editor of the South 

Wales Argus, used an event at the Assembly to question why we should get public 

funding and later wrote a letter of complaint to Caerphilly County Borough Council. 

I have enclosed this letter for reference (which was released to me under the 

Freedom of Information Act).  

Despite their initial misgivings, Newsquest has been quiet recently and have 

actually upped their game in terms of editorial space in the Campaign. They 

recently decided to increase the print run from around 20,000 a week to 28,000 a 

week. I believe this is because of us and they are now “trying”. Who benefits from 

this? The readers and the local community. A competitive media is a healthy media 

and is imperative to a functioning community.  

The future  

There is no reason why a news organisation like Caerphilly Observer cannot be 

replicated elsewhere. I have no plans to do it as my passion lies in being a local 

newspaper publisher in Caerphilly County Borough – my local community. It will 

take individuals as passionate as I am to take any such project forward, and there 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



is already help available through Centre for Community Journalism at Cardiff 

University.  

Grant funding is essential for new media start-ups to get up and running. The 80% 

covering of print costs for the first four editions lifted the financial pressure and 

was instrumental in getting the paper off the ground. This, together with other 

schemes, has led to employment and a healthy local media. 3/4 Such grants 

however will incur the wrath of the more established media players, who will make 

a case for public funding to go to them.  

Thank you  

Since this document will be part of the Assembly's public record, I want to use it as 

a means to say thank you to everyone who has supported us.  

My wife, Susie Gurner, contributes far more than she should. She is the one who 

steps in and keeps our home life on track whenever I am tied up working late with 

the newspaper. She carries a huge burden to let me fulfil my dream on top of her 

having a very demanding job in the Welsh NHS.  

Jan Withers was a colleague of mine during my days at the Campaign in 2004. She 

is a hugely talented media sales executive and it was my good fortune that Jan was 

unceremoniously let go by Newsquest back in 2011. She effectively guided me on 

the commercial side of running a media company and without her there would not 

be a Caerphilly Observer. Together with her husband Barry, who still volunteers 

with us, she even delivered the newspaper for a time. I am very pleased to report 

that Jan is now enjoying her retirement and I will always be indebted to her.  

My current reporter Ben Barker, and past reporter Gareth Hill, have both made 

huge contributions to the success of the newspaper and my current 

photographer/sales executive Joanne Burgess has made an equally huge 

contribution. She has the unenviable task of generating advertising sales and 

taking great photos for us.  

Above all, thanks should go to our readers, our advertisers, and our local 

distribution outlets for all of their support. Without any these the entire venture 

would be pointless.  

Yours sincerely  

Richard Gurner Editor and Publisher   

Tudalen y pecyn 65



Annex 1 

Letter from Newsquest to Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Dear Mr Barnett 

I am writing to you as Regional Managing Editor of Newsquest Wales & 

Gloucestershire, publishers of the Campaign newspaper. to register our serious 

concern at the award of a financial grant to one of our competitors. 

We understand the Caerphilly Observer website has been awarded a five-figure 

sum by Caerphilly council to fund its first four fortnightly print editions via the 

Rural Development Programme Partnership. 

Firstly, let me make clear we have no problem with competition in the market 

place. We are happy for newspaper consumers in the Caerphilly county borough to 

have a choice and we believe competition is good for all businesses - providing 

that competition is fair to all. 

However, it does not seem to us that providing a grant for one player in a 

competitive market is a fair or appropriate use of public money, particularly when 

the funding is being used to set up a direct competitor to the well-established 

newspaper in the market place, the Campaign.  

Our view is public money should be spent on projects that fill a gap in the market, 

not on competitive launches. 

We have already had cause to complain to the owner of the Caerphilly Observer 

with regard to his marketing tactics. Claims, for instance, that his website has 

overtaken the online traffic of the Campaign are not backed up by any evidence or 

analytics, in contravention of Advertising Standards Authority standards. 

The Observer says it will be distributing 10,000 copies of irs print edition every 

fortnight. We await independently verified and audited evidence of this. 

Continued..... 

For information, the most recent independently verified and audited distribution 

figure for the Campaign is 28,301 copies across the Caerphilly county borough per 

week (VFD July-December 2012). 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



We note that in press releases announcing the awarding of the Caerphilly council 

grant, the Observer claims its new publicly-funded print edition will be 'the only 

free newspaper to cover the whole of Caerphilly County Borough'. 

Clearly from the distribution figures above, this is simply not true and we find it 

surprising that a local authority appears content to be associated with such 

unsubstantiated claims. 

Newsquest employs a number of people who live in the Caerphilly cowty borough 

area. It seems peculiar, to say the least, that the local authority to which they pay 

their council tax is funding a competitive launch that has the potential to put their 

jobs at risk. 

We note there was no consultation with ourselves as the publishers of the 

Campaign, the longest-standing newspaper brand in the Caerphilly county 

borough. with regard to the potential impact of the council's decision 10 fund the 

Observer's competitive launch. 

I would be grateful for a prompt reply to our concerns.  

Please note we reserve the right to take this matter to the Local Government 

Ombudsman. 

Yours sincerely 

REGIONAL MANAGING EDITOR 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 67



Response from Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Dear [REDACTED] 

GRANT TO CAERPHILLY MEDIA LTD 

I refer to your letter of 15th May 2013 regarding the above, which was addressed 

to the council's Acting Chief Executive. I have been asked to reply as the grant 

received by Caerphilly Media Ltd came from the Caerfilli Cwm a Mynydd Rural 

Development Plan programme, which is part of my remit. 

The Rural Development Plan (RDP) programme is a Welsh Government Initiative. In 

Caerphilly County Borough the RDP was developed and is managed by the Caerfilli 

Cwm a Mynydd Partnership which is comprised of representatives of the 

community sector, private sector, voluntary sector and public sector. The council is 

a member of this partnership and currently chairs it, council officers act as the 

secretariat for the Partnership. 

All decisions affecting the delivery of the RDP programme have to be agreed by the 

Partnership. Decisions on applications for grant aid are taken by a sub group of the 

Partnership, the Cwm a Mynydd Partnership Assessment Panel. 

The current RDP programme has a grant scheme entitled Budding Businesses, 

which is aimed at micro enterprises (i.e. businesses employing less than 10 people) 

who are located in rural wards or service centres in the county borough, which 

were identified by Welsh Government. 

All businesses that meet these basic criteria are eligible to apply for Budding 

Businesses grant aid. A detailed grant application form has to be submitted which 

is assessed by RDP officers against a set of criteria. This has been.approved by 

Welsh Government. 

When a grant application is received a report Is prepared for consideration by the 

Assessment Panel. The final decision as to whether or not a grant is awarded is 

taken by this Panel, which is advised by the council's European and Finance officers 

who act independently from those RDP officers involved in the Budding Businesses 

project. 

The Caerphilly Media limited application was one of two applications considered by 

the Assessment Panel in April this year. Both applications were approved. Three 

Tudalen y pecyn 68



members of the Partnership were involved in this process they represented the 

community sector, the private sector and the voluntary sector. 

Caerphilly Media were not awarded a 5-figure sum and no CCBC money has been 

given to them. The grant funds 80% of the project cost and this comes from EU and 

Welsh Government sources. The remaining 20% is provided by the business. 

I note your comments regarding what you feel to be misleading statements on 

behalf of Caerphilly Media. I cannot comment on this but can point out that this 

type of information would not have been considered as part of the grant 

assessment process. 

It is not our practice to consult with other businesses when considering 

applications for grant aid. 

To conclude Caerphilly Media Ltd were eligible to apply for the Caerfilli Cwm a 

Mynydd Budding Businesses grant because they met the grant criteria. The grant 

was approved by the Grant Assessment Panel and not the council, the grant came 

from the Caerfilli Cwm a Mynydd Partnership and not the council. 

I hope that this has clarified the matter. 

Yours sincerely 

HEAD OF REGENERATION AND PLANNING 

Tudalen y pecyn 69



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW08 

Ymateb gan Paul Rowland, Trinity Mirror / Evidence from Paul Rowland, Trinity 

Mirror 

1. Reporters in Swansea will now have to travel to Cardiff to offer cover for staff 

shortages. Concerns have been raised over the impact this will have on the 

coverage of local news in south west Wales. 

This has never happened, nor has anyone been told it is likely to happen. However, 

there have been occasions where the reverse has happened - ie, that reporters 

based in Cardiff have covered staff shortages in the Swansea, Carmarthen and 

Llanelli offices, 

2. The reporting team in Swansea has lost a member of staff to the commercial 

sector who will apparently not be replaced, thereby putting further pressure on the 

service being provided to the south west. 

We have recruited two members of staff into the Swansea team since this internal 

move was made to accommodate the personal requirments of the member of staff 

involved. 

3. Staff based in your Swansea office, across all departments, will be paid less than 

their counterparts in Cardiff (we understand that you are aware of this discrepancy 

and have stated that you do not plan to take any action to rectify it). 

This is a matter that is being dealt with between our HR team and our staff, and as 

such is confidential. However, I can say that there is no major disparity between 

staff pay in the former Local World parts of the business in South West Wales, and 

the original Trinity Mirror section in Cardiff. 

4. Trainees at the Evening Post on a Trinity Mirror contract are being paid more 

than the Evening Post’s senior reporters and department editors, further 

highlighting the discrepancies in pay. 

This is completely untrue. 

5. There are also discrepancies in the sickness benefits available to staff, whereby 

Evening Post staff are being afforded less favourable conditions than those on 

Trinity Mirror contracts. 

Tudalen y pecyn 70



Sickness terms for Evening Post staff have been improved so that the same terms 

are in place for all staff across the business. 

6. There will no longer be staff representative meetings with the management on 

these issues. 

This is completely untrue. As always, we have consulted extensively with staff on 

all changes, and will continue to do so. 

7. Furthermore, we understand that redundancies are not being offered and that 

staff are simply being told to leave if they are not content with their current 

situation. 

This is a rather dramatic way of describing the situation, but I can confirm that, as 

with normal business practice, we do not have an open door redundancy policy in 

place for anyone unhappy in their role. Any contractual changes as a result of the 

Local World/Trinity Mirror merger have meant an improvement in terms, and, as 

such, we have no legal or moral obligation to make redundancy available to these 

staff. 

Tudalen y pecyn 71



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW09 

Ymateb gan Dr. Andy Williams, Prifysgol Caerdydd / Evidence from Dr. Andy 

Williams, Cardiff University 

Hyperlocal Community News: Its current state and future 

prospects 

In the second of two essays about local news in Wales I draw principally on my own 

UK-wide research1 into the emergent field of hyperlocal community news. Along 

with my collaborators, and colleagues at Cardiff University’s Centre for Community 

Journalism, I have been researching hyperlocal news in the UK since 2013. In this 

article I draw on a series of interviews with, and a large internet survey of, 

community news producers, along with a large content analysis of the news 

produced by UK hyperlocals, to provide a detailed overview of the growth of this 

sector, its wide-ranging impacts, its considerable challenges, and future prospects. 

Who produces hyperlocalcommunity  news, and how do they describe what 

they do? 

Our survey results suggest that the UK hyperlocal news sector is now reasonably 

well-established, in internet terms, and is dominated by players who have achieved 

a degree of longevity (nearly three quarters have been producing news for over 

three years, and around a third for more than five years). Seven out of ten of these 

producers see what they do as a form of active community participation, over half 

see it as local journalism, and over half as an expression of active citizenship 

(Williams et al 2014).  

Almost half also have some mainstream journalistic training or experience. So this 

is not, as it is often assumed, a sector dominated by citizen journalists at the 

expense of those with more professional training or experience. That said, apart 

from a growing professional and professionalising minority, this is a sector 

dominated by volunteers who are not primarily motivated by making money from 

what they do (ibid.).  

                                       
1 This research was part of a big AHRC-funded project entitled Media, Community, and the Creative 

Citizen. 

Tudalen y pecyn 72



What, and who, gets covered in hyperlocal community news? 

Many thousands of mainstream UK local and regional news reporters have been 

made redundant in recent years (see accompanying essay about the established 

news media Wales). Local newspaper editions serving individual districts have also 

gone, along with the local offices that used to make it easier to meet residents and 

audiences and to truly embed oneself in a community. As a result local news has 

become much more remote from the communities it is meant to serve, and 

independent local stories (which are expensive to gather and source) have been 

increasingly replaced by cheap wire copy and PR-based churnalism (Williams et al 

2015). 

By contrast, hyperlocal news is almost always produced by people in and of their 

communities, and many serve areas which have been hit by the closure of a local 

newspaper, or where there never was much traditional local coverage in the first 

place (Harte et al 2017; Williams et al 2014). Almost all the posts analyzed in our 

content analysis had a very strong local angle. We found that the largest topic of 

news in our content analysis related to local, day-to-day, community activities and 

events. These are mainly stories about the meetings of community groups and 

local clubs & societies (think meetings of the WI or the camera club), or one-off 

community events held for the general public (such as summer fetes). We also 

found a lot of stories about local councils and the services provided by local 

government, so hyperlocal news audiences are exposed to a lot of information that 

could be high in civic value (Williams et al 2015).  

Another common thing to track in studies like this is the use of different kinds of 

news sources, the people who are quoted in local news, and who therefore have 

the power to define local issues and events on these news platforms. We know 

from existing studies that more established commercial local news outlets, like 

newspapers or more professional news websites, are very authority-oriented in 

their sourcing strategies, sometimes at the expense of regular, everyday, residents 

of an area. As with the more established press, official sources in government, 

business, the police are very important in the community news sector. But a key 

difference is the role afforded to members of the public, and to people from local 

community groups. Ordinary people get more of a voice in UK hyperlocal than 

studies of more traditional local news indicate, so communities are, in these 

respects, well represented by hyperlocal news (ibid.). 

Tudalen y pecyn 73



Campaigning and investigative hyperlocal community news: 

In its plurality of voices and topics covered, its coverage of a range of areas of local 

life, and its intensively local focus, UK community news serves its readers very well. 

We also wanted to figure out if this emergent form of news played other traditional 

roles of the local press, such as holding local elites to account, or standing up for 

communities when things get tough. These are generally seen as difficult and 

time-consuming things to do, so we were surprised and encouraged to see they 

were often done very well indeed in this new sector. 

Campaigns are, of course, important to the local news’ ability to advocate for 

communities. Despite journalism’s traditional commitment to objectivity and 

impartiality here is a long tradition of established news outlets taking up causes 

and fighting on behalf of, and alongside, local news audiences in the UK. 42% of 

our survey respondents have “started a campaign where the site has sought to 

change things locally in the last 2 years”. Far more, 72%, have joined in, or 

supported, the campaigns of others. Investigations are, of course, important to the 

news’ ability to hold local elites to account. Despite this kind of work being time 

consuming, and sometimes risky, 44% or respondents have “carried out an 

investigation which has helped uncover controversial new information about local 

civic issues or events” in the last 2 years (Williams et al 2014). 

As in the mainstream local press, the issues campaigned about, or investigated, 

are varied. The qualitative evidence around this from our interviews and the survey 

indicate they can be very small and “hyperlocal” (relating to minor planning 

complaints, signage, the quality of thoroughfares, or that very British complaint: a 

surfeit of dog poo on local thoroughfares). But they can also be pretty big, 

consistently addressing issues in the public interest, and often taking on powerful 

elite interests (for example, by tackling cuts to public services, major 

developments, public safety problems, local governance accountability issues, and 

even instances of official corruption) (ibid.). 

Connecting communities, online and in the real world: 

In addition to examining whether, and how, community news might be playing 

traditional democratic roles we have also found evidence that hyperlocals are 

fulfilling different, and in some cases new, civic functions related to their position 

as key nodes in real world and virtual local information networks. We established 

strong evidence of the use with social media and new technology to engage and 

interact with audiences in the sector (Cable and Williams 2014). Much research into 

Tudalen y pecyn 74



the community-building, and community-enhancing, potential of new media has 

stressed how digital and social platforms allow journalists to connect audience and 

community members together, strengthening community bonds (Hermida 2012).  

Dominant trends in the research base suggest that local news audiences, and the 

content they provide, tend to be understood by established professional UK local 

news companies in two primary ways: as untapped editorial commercial 

opportunities (with UGC to be “harvested”); and/or quantifiable units in the 

attention economy (with clicks to be monetized) (Harte et al 2017). Relationships 

with audiences have tended to be vertical, and extractive, rather than collaborative 

and dialogic (Howells 2015; Nicey 2016). Local legacy media experiments with 

community hyperlocal news have correspondingly been found wanting, often 

because audiences have not responded well to news experiments whose clear main 

aim is to extract and monetize their value while cutting the costs associated with 

traditional news gathering (Baines 2010, 2012; St John et al 2014). 

Our research suggests that much UK hyperlocal news is more horizontal, dialogic, 

rooted in physical and online local everyday community spaces, and based on more 

equal & socially embedded reciprocal exchange relationships (sometimes in ways 

which evoke long-lost professional journalistic practices such as walking “local 

news beats”; sometimes in ways which harness the connectivity and power of the 

internet to bring people in communities together). We also find that hyperlocal 

news practices often blend on- and offline journalistic & community activist 

practices in mutually re-enforcing ways (e.g. by running online appeals for support 

whn community members ned help, running social media surgeries and supporting 

local organisations in their digital communications, organizing Facebook school 

uniform exchanges to allow local parents to save money by recycling childrens’ 

clothes, etc.) (Harte et al 2017). All of this means that much hyperlocal journalistic 

activity is actually or potentially effective at strengthening community bonds, and 

encouraging relationships of reciprocal echange and mutual aid so essential to 

community cohesion and increasing social capital (Lewis et al 2014). 

How is hyperlocal funded? 

Given the serious economic decline in the wider local news industry it is important 

that we understand the economic strength of this sector. Despite the impressive 

social and democratic value of hyperlocal news content, community news in the UK 

is generally not a field rich in economic value. There exists a growing group of 

professional and professionalizing entrepreneurial local news startups (a chink of 

Tudalen y pecyn 75



light in a gloomy and darkening local news market). But the sector is, on the 

whole, dominated by a large pool of volunteers covering their own costs, and 

doing what they do for the love, rather than money (Williams et al 2014).  

Around a third of our survey participants make money, and most of these only 

make quite modest amounts. At the top end of the earning spectrum just over one 

in ten say they generate more than £500 per month in revenues. Most community 

news producers fund the running costs of their sites from their own pockets 

(further suggesting high levels of volunteerism), with around one in four raising 

enough money to at least cover their costs, and a further 16% “more than covering” 

their costs (ibid.). 

While many employ a mixture of revenue streams, online advertising is the 

dominant form of income generation among those who seek to make money. A 

problem here is that, because hyperlocal outlets often suffer from a lack of 

visibility and penetration in their areas (Radcliffe 2015), those who do seek to 

make money from their sites with online ad revenues often have an uphill struggle.  

A number of other revenue streams are also used, such as: 

 crowd funding (a disadvantage of crowd funding is the time-intensive nature 

of campaigns, coupled with the short-term, one-off nature of the revenue 

stream; an advantage is that funding drives can help increase audiences and 

drive audience loyalty);  

 forming audience co-operatives (this is also hard work, but can guarantee a 

steady stream of income, and engages audiences with a local news service 

by giving them unprecedented opportunities to own and influence policy and 

coverage);  

 getting grant money from charities & foundations (organizations such as 

Nesta and the Carnegie UK Trust have provided valuable targeted funding to 

help hyperlocals develop and become more sustainable);  

 charity funding through local community development trusts (such as the 

long-standing Ambler, in Amble, Northumberland, where Anna Williams a 

journalist and community worker is paid to produce a news website and 

printed paper, and to encourage broad community participation in the 

project);  

Tudalen y pecyn 76



 cross-subsidizing local news work with other streams of income (such as 

training or consultancy work); and, increasingly  

 print advertising models using free newspapers delivered through doors, or 

regularly distributed at fixed points in communities (this can hugely increase 

readerships, making it easier to convince local advertisers to become clients, 

and can also help overcome a widely-reported and somewhat conservative 

reticence among smaller advertisers to pay for online-only ads).  

Overall, our data suggests that while the UK local news market may sustain some 

community news outlets under some conditions, it’s currently unable to sustain 

this kind of news on a large scale, consistently, across the country. Unlike 

traditional commercial local newspaper publishers (which attract public subsidies 

such as statutory notices and VAT breaks), no subsidies are routinely available to 

smaller independent online news providers in this sector (Williams and Harte 

2016). 

How sustainable is hyperlocal community news? 

In a sector that is largely underpinned by volunteer labour, sustainability is not 

only a question of money. In our interviews, we couldn’t help but be struck by 

numerous indications of the precarious nature of many community news 

operations. People’s professional and personal circumstances change, many “burn 

out”, and the quality, consistency, and longevity of hyperlocal news sites can vary 

because of this (Harte et al 2016). UK community news is largely non-institutional 

by nature, and because these services are so closely tied to the personal 

circumstances of individuals there’s no guarantee that a news outlet will survive 

the loss of a key contributor (Williams and Harte 2016).  

Widespread voluntarism is producing much public value in the community news 

sector, but it’s a fragile foundation on which to base something as important to 

democracy, civic, and cultural life as the generation of local news. Some argue that 

volunteer labour can underpin this field in much the same way as it already does 

with other areas of UK public life (elements of the local justice system, school 

governance, etc.). I fear that it may not be enough to sustain community news sites 

in the long term. Local news has never before relied to such an extent on the 

pursuits of private individuals – it has always needed strong institutions, backed up 

the power and social capital of a newspaper office with all its editorial, legal, and 

institutional support mechanisms. Without the profits needed to remunerate 

people the sector may well be too precarious to sustain the kind of institutions 

Tudalen y pecyn 77



which have previously been necessary prerequisites for a strong, independent, and 

critical local news. 

Hyperlocal community news: Plugging news black holes? 

In regularity and volume of publication, and geographic consistency of coverage 

across the UK, the community news sector is somewhat patchy and variable. The 

overall numbers of hyperlocal news producers, as well as their labour power, 

should also be put into perspective. One way to do this is to compare the numbers 

of new hyperlocal news producers with the numbers of redundant professional 

journalists in an area: I did this with my own city, Cardiff and its surrounding 

valleys towns, to give a rough indication of what’s been lost and what is being 

gained there.  

According to their own annual accounts, Trinity Mirror news subsidiary Media 

Wales, which serves this region, employed almost 700 journalistic and production 

staff in 1999; this figure had fallen to just 100 by 2015 (when they published the 

most recent figures). How many community journalists have taken their place? The 

LocalWebList map of community news sites lists 20 sites in Media Wales’ patch, 

and they’re run by no more than 40 regular news contributors, most of them 

working part time for little or no money.  

Hyperlocal in the UK produces much news of great public value. But In terms of the 

numbers of news producers, and their capacity for (mainly part-time) work, 

community news can only partially plug growing local news deficits caused by the 

widespread withdrawal of established professional journalism from communities. 

Conclusion: the future of UK hyperlocal news 

Looking at our data you see three broad groups. Firstly, there is a small group of, 

themselves small, often precarious, but crucially economically viable community 

news services. This a rare good news story about local news in the UK, and we 

should do everything we can to foster and support this group, as well as to 

encourage others to join them. Secondly, we have a number of sites run by 

hobbyists who are now trying, in difficult market conditions, to professionalise in 

different ways (numerous community journalists who have been happy to produce 

their sites for free in their spare time are now developing the confidence and 

ambition to join the ranks of the more entrepreneurial start-ups mentioned above). 

Thirdly, we’ve got a larger, also precarious, group of volunteer-led sites that have 

no interest in making money, who’ll carry on doing this as long as they want to, 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



before closing their site or transferring it to somebody else to run and produce 

(Williams and Harte 2016).  

Players in all three groups are producing public interest news, often of impressive 

quality and quantity, but it faces significant challenges, and its promise should not 

be over-stated. The sector has benefited from varied kinds of support, and many 

hyperlocals have so far been able to work with groups like Talk About Local, Nesta, 

the Carnegie UK Trust, the Media Trust, and my own University’s Centre for 

Community Journalism (which is also submitting evidence to this committee) to 

access practical help, guidance, and in some cases funding in a range of areas.  

Those seeking to make money face serious challenges and a tough market 

dominated by established news publishers who have long dominated local and 

regional advertising systems. I believe that our combined knowledge about the 

mainstream traditional, and emergent community news sectors allows us to see 

local news in the UK as a public good: something that society needs, but which the 

market can no longer provide in sufficient quality or quantity. This logic arguably 

underpins existing public subsidy to local newspaper groups, but we have a 

paradoxical situation where our current local news policies protect entrenched, 

declining interests, while not supporting new, emergent players no matter how 

beneficial they are to the communities they serve.  

I think that to support and foster local news as a public good in the 21st Century 

we will need a re-evaluation of local news policies to encourage newer entrants to 

the market, to foster experimentation with different funding models, and stimulate 

independent, plural and truly local news in print and online. It’s clear that the 

professional and professionalising part of the sector would benefit from a range of 

policy interventions but the most useful might be smart, independently-

administered, contestable, funding to help them try out, and test, different models 

for funding and distributing independent public interest local news in different 

places to help the sector as a whole develop and become more sustainable. 

Works Cited: 

Baines, David. 2010. “Hyper-local: Glocalised rural news.” International Journal of 

 Sociology and Social Policy, 30(9/10):581-592. 

Baines, David. 2012. “Hyper-local news: A glue to hold rural communities 

 together?” Local Economy, 27(2):152-166. 

Tudalen y pecyn 79



Cable, J. and Williams, A. J. 2014. Community engagement and hyperlocal news: A 

 practical guide. Report. Cardiff University. Available  at: 

 https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/39229287/Hyperlocal%20Community

 %20Engagement%20Guide%20Final.pdf   

Harte, D., Turner, J. and Williams, A. 2016. “Discourses of enterprise in hyperlocal 

 community news in the UK”. Journalism Practice 10(2), pp. 233-250. 

Harte, D., Williams, A. and Turner, J. 2017. Reciprocity and the hyperlocal 

 journalist. Journalism Practice 11(2-3), pp. 160-176. 

Hermida, Alfred. 2011. “Mechanisms of participation” in Participatory Journalism, 

 edited by Jane B. Singer, Alfred Hermida, David Domingo, Ari Heinonen, 

 Steve Paulussen,  Thorsten Quandt, Zvi Reich, and Marina Vujnovic, 3-33. 

 New York:  Wiley-Blackwell. 

Lewis, Seth C., Avery E. Holton and Mark Coddington. 2014. “Reciprocal 

 Journalism.” Journalism Practice, 8(2):229-241. 

Nicey, Jérémie. 2016. “Semi-Professional Amateurs”, in The Sage Handbook of 

 Digital Journalism, edited by Tamara Witschge, C.W. Anderson, David 

 Domingo, and Alfred Hermida, 222-235. London: Sage. 

Radcliffe, Damian (2015) Where Are We Now? UK Hyperlocal media and community 

 journalism in 2015, Cardiff and London: Centre for Community Journalism 

 and Nesta, available at: https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-

 content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-Screen.pdf 

St. John, Burton, Johnson, K., and Nah, S. 2014. “Patch.com: The challenge of 

 connective community journalism in the digital sphere.” Journalism Practice, 

 8:(2):197-212. 

Williams, A. and Harte, D. 2015. Hyperlocal News. In: Witschge, T., Anderson, C.W., 

 Hermida, A., and Domingo, D. eds. The Sage Handbook of Digital Journalism. 

 London: Sage. 

Williams, A. and Harte, D. 2016. The rise and rise of hyper-local news in the UK. In: 

 Mair, J., Clarke, T. and Fowler, N. eds. Last Words?: How can journalism 

 survive the decline of print?.   Abramis, pp. 59-64. 

Tudalen y pecyn 80

https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/39229287/Hyperlocal%20Community%09%20Engagement%20Guide%20Final.pdf
https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/39229287/Hyperlocal%20Community%09%20Engagement%20Guide%20Final.pdf
https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-%09content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-
https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-%09content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-
https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/C4CJ-Report-for-Screen.pdf


Williams, A., Harte, D. and Turner, J. 2015. The value of UK hyperlocal community 

 news. Digital Journalism. 

Williams, A. Barnett, S., Harte, D., and Townend, J. 2014. The state of UK hyperlocal 

 community news: findings from a survey of practitioners. Report. Cardiff 

 University, Available  at: 

 https://hyperlocalsurvey.files.wordpress.com/2014/07/hyperlocal-

 community-news-in-the-uk-2014.pdf 

Zamenopoulos, Theodore, and Katerina Alexiou, Giota Alevizou, Caroline Chapain, 

 Shawn Sobers and Andy Williams (2016) “Varieties of Creative Citizenship”, in 

 Hargreaves, Ian and John Hartley (eds.) The Creative Citizen Unbound: How 

 Social Media and DIY Culture Contribute to Democracy, Communities, and 

 the Creative Economy. Bristol: Policy Press. 

Tudalen y pecyn 81

https://hyperlocalsurvey.files.wordpress.com/2014/07/hyperlocal-%09community-news-in-the-uk-2014.pdf
https://hyperlocalsurvey.files.wordpress.com/2014/07/hyperlocal-%09community-news-in-the-uk-2014.pdf


Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW10 

Ymateb gan Dr. Andy Williams, Prifysgol Caerdydd / Evidence from Dr. Andy 

Williams, Cardiff University 

7 shocking local news industry trends which should terrify 

you. 

The withdrawal of established journalism from Welsh communities and its 

effects on public interest reporting. 

In the first of two essays about local news in Wales, I draw on Welsh, UK, and 

international research, published company accounts, trade press coverage, and 

first-hand testimony about changes to the economics, journalistic practices, and 

editorial priorities of established local media. With specific reference to the case 

study of Media Wales (and its parent company Trinity Mirror) I provide an 

evidence-based and critical analysis which charts both the steady withdrawal of 

established local journalism from Welsh communities and the effects of this retreat 

on the provision of accurate and independent local news in the public interest. A 

second essay, also submitted as evidence to this committee, explores recent 

research about the civic and democratic value of a new generation of (mainly 

online) community news producers. 

Local newspapers are in serious (and possibly terminal) decline 

In 1985 Franklin found 1,687 local newspapers in the UK (including Sunday and 

free titles); by 2005 this had fallen by almost a quarter to 1,286 (Franklin 2006b). 

By 2015 the figure stood at 1,100, a 35% drop over 30 years, with a quarter of 

those lost being paid-for newspapers (Ramsay and Moore 2016). The same 

research finds only a small number of new local titles launched over the same 

period. Industry executives have downplayed these figures, arguing that most of 

the closures were to free weekly titles, and that previous, more extreme, 

predictions around newspaper closures (e.g. that of Enders 2009) had “blown [the 

problem] out of proportion” (Sweney 2015). The loss of more than a third of local 

titles, however inaccurate previous predictions may have been, is not something to 

be dismissed so easily. Wales has not suffered newspaper losses of this magnitude 

yet, but Welsh communities from Port Talbot in the South, to Wrexham in the 

North, have felt the loss of news outlets. As Howells’ research (2015, discussed 

below) finds, the loss of a dedicated local news outlet can have serious and wide 

ranging effects on local public debate. 

Tudalen y pecyn 82



A less dramatic and visible, but equally disturbing, trend can be found in across-

the-board declines in Welsh newspaper circulations. Between 2008 and 2015: The 

Daily Post declined 33 per cent (from over 36,000 to 24,485); the South Wales Echo 

lost 60 per cent of readers (from 46,127 to 18,408); and the South Wales Evening 

Post’s circulation fell by 46 per cent (from 51,329 to 27,589) (IWA 2015, p.62). A 

longer-term view of circulation decline is evident in figure 1, which charts average 

6-monthly circulation of the Western Mail since the turn of the century. 

Figure 1. 

 

These data show that the national newspaper of Wales has lost almost three 

quarters of its audited circulation since 2000. This is alarming for numerous 

reasons, but mainly: because print circulation revenues still remain very important 

to the balance sheets of major local news publishers (see point 5, below); and due 

to the likely continued decline in the perceived value of print among advertisers as 

audiences continue to shrink (there will come a time when it no longer pays to 

advertise to relatively small printed newspaper audiences).  The Western Mail has 

consistently lost around 10,000 daily sales every four or five years over the last 

two decades; if this trend continues there will be no readers left by the early-to-

mid-2020s. 

The effects for a community when a newspaper is lost are serious. When the Port 

Talbot Guardian (a local weekly newspaper) closed down in 2009 citizens lost their 

primary source of day-to-day information about how to navigate civic and 

community life. But they also lost (what had previously been) a newspaper of 

record, and a large portion of the town’s collective memory. This kind of loss was 

55,273

15,259

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

Ja
n

 0
0

-J
u

n
 0

0

Ja
n

 0
1

-J
u

n
 0

1

Ja
n

 0
2

-J
u

n
 0

2

Ja
n

 0
3

-J
u

n
 0

3

Ja
n

 0
4

-J
u

n
 0

4

Ja
n

 0
5

-J
u

n
 0

5

Ja
n

 0
6

-J
u

n
 0

6

Ja
n

 0
7

-J
u

n
 0

7

Ja
n

 0
8

-J
u

n
 0

8

Ja
n

 0
9

-J
u

n
 0

9

ja
n

 1
0

-J
u

l 1
0

Ja
n

 1
1

-J
u

n
 1

1

ja
n

 1
2

-j
u

l 1
2

ja
n

 1
3

-j
u

l 1
3

ja
n

 1
4

-j
u

l 1
4

Ja
n

 1
5

-J
u

l1
5

Ja
n

1
6

-J
u

l1
6

Western Mail Average Circulations, 6-
monthly (source: ABC)

Tudalen y pecyn 83



echoed by Trinity Mirror’s particularly damaging recent decision to cut off Welsh 

citizens from much of the South Wales Evening Post online archive as part of a 

group-wide efficiency drive after the Local World buyout. The effects of losing one 

of Wales’ large daily newspapers in this way could be more serious and wide-

ranging. 

The local news industry is losing money hand over fist: 

Local news has traditionally sustained itself in two main ways: by selling news 

products to us, and by selling our attention to advertisers. Both of these principal 

revenue streams are now under threat, and have substantially decreased. Local 

newspaper advertising income fell by an average of 6.6% per annum over the 

period from 2009 to 2013; the drop included both display and classified 

advertising, with classified ad expenditure – previously a staple of the local 

newspaper sector – falling 63% between 2007 and 2012 (Ramsay and Moore 2016).  

As we have seen, at the same time as advertising revenues have fallen we have 

seen drastic reductions in revenues from sales of printed news, and no widespread 

adoption of, or experimentation with, paid content strategies for digital local news 

(Greenslade 2009, Williams 2012, Mintel 2013). Sales of printed local newspapers 

have declined across the board and circulation revenues have been 

correspondingly hit. Revenues from the local press, which in most cases has been 

more reliant on advertising income than cover price, have declined significantly, 

and in some cases have more than halved (Picard 2008). In a detailed and extreme 

local case study former regional newspaper editor turned academic Keith Perch 

(2015) showed that revenues at the Leicester Mercury sank from £59m to just 

£16m between 1996 and 2011.  

Media Wales’s revenues and profits over the last two decades offer a useful, and 

broadly representative, case study to explore analogous trends in Wales.  

Tudalen y pecyn 84



Figure 2. 

 

Between 1999 and 2005 revenues grew steadily by almost £15 million, and 

profitability soared. This was largely down to a combination of still very high print 

advertising revenues, and (in common with other major publishers) sustained cuts 

to the editorial workforce combined with successive restructuring exercises carried 

out in order to save money and maintain high profits. Profit margins in the period 

2002-2008 hovered between 27 and 36 per cent, making the company among the 

most profitable in Wales of any kind (Media Wales Annual Accounts). The 2008 

financial crisis led to a long advertising recession, and slump from which the local 

news industry has yet to emerge. Revenues fell by more than 50 per cent against 

the high-water mark of 2005, and profits shrank. Interestingly (excepting 20131) 

profit margins were still maintained at between six and 18 per cent. This might 

pale in comparison with previous figures, but relative to other sectors and 

industries this is still high, and reflects the way in which the company continued to 

implement ruthless efficiency savings and maintained efforts to consolidate 

throughout this turbulent period. 

Established journalism is rapidly withdrawing from Welsh communities: 

Arguably the most concerning issue caused by the collapse in the local news 

business model has been the steady withdrawal of established professional 

                                       
1 The sharp drop in profits in 2013 reflects a huge, group-wide, devaluation of the company’s 

intangible assets (which includes things like relationships with advertisers, the value of a company’s 

brand, etc). 

7,819

19,624

3,158

40,983

55,356

21,758

-30,000

-20,000

-10,000

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

Turnover & Profitability at WME/Media Wales, 
1999-2015 (source: audited annual accounts)

Pre-tax profits (000s) Turnover (000s)

Tudalen y pecyn 85



journalism from newsrooms and communities because of the large numbers of job 

losses caused by 15 years of redundancies, staff cuts, and recruitment freezes. 

There are no reliable figures to determine exact longitudinal staffing trends but 

from the fragmentary existing research it is clear that the human resources of the 

local news industry have been decimated in recent years. A National Union of 

Journalists (NUJ) Commission on multimedia in 2007 found that “there had been 

editorial job cuts at 45% of titles since online operations were introduced”. The 

Newspaper Society has since stopped publishing figures on industry job losses, but 

figures cited by Nel suggest there was a 13.75% contraction in the number of local 

and regional press jobs between 2002 and 2007, a fall from 13,020, to 11230 (Nel 

2010). By October 2015 Press Gazette estimated, based on analysis of selected 

companies’ staffing levels reported to Companies House, that the number of 

professional journalists employed in the local press was about half what it had 

been before the 2008 recession. Oliver and Ohlbaum’s 2015 report appears to 

substantiate Press Gazette estimates: it stated that Trinity Mirror reduced its 

workforce by 47% between 2008 and 2013, Johnston Press by 46%, and Archant’s 

by 27% over the same period (Oliver and Ohlbaum 2015). Studies of individual 

media groups, reporting in specific locales, and over longer periods, shed further 

light on the nature and scale of this problem. Howells found that the two largest 

regional news organisations in South Wales were staffed by almost 1000 editorial 

and production employees in the year 2000, but by 2014 this had shrunk to under 

300 (Howells 2015). Similarly, the Leicester Mercury Group employed 581 staff in 

1996, but only 107 by 2011 (Perch 2015).  

Tudalen y pecyn 86



Figure 3. 

 

At Media Wales2 there were almost 700 editorial and production staff in 1999 

(Williams 2012), but by 2015 this had shrunk by over 85 per cent with the 

company employing only 100 (Media Wales 2014). This means that local 

communities in Cardiff and the Valleys are currently being served by 85% fewer 

journalists and production staff than in 1999; for every ten reporters (or subs, or 

designers) working in the region 16 years ago, only one and a half remain. In 2013 

there were more people employed in admin, sales, and distribution at Media Wales 

than journalists putting together two daily newspapers, seven weeklies, one 

Sunday, and a daily news website.  

The Celtic weekly newspapers, seven titles serving Pontypridd, Merthyr, Aberdare, 

Llantrisant, and the entire Rhondda Valleys, have been particularly neglected. I 

remember these newspapers a young news consumer growing up in the area, and I 

spent time at the Pontypridd Observer as a student on work experience in the mid 

1990s. These once-proud local papers used to be have accessible offices on the 

High Street, and were staffed by small teams including a dedicated editor, a small 

full-time reporting staff each, photographers, and administrators. By 2011, and 

                                       
2 These figures represent average weekly full-time equivalent posts reported in audited annual 

accounts, and represent the most reliable indicator of staffing level changes over time. They include 

production roles (such as layout and sub-editing). Figures for news journalists alone are not 

published.  

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

Staffing Levels at WME/Media Wales, 1999-2015 
(source: audited annual accounts)

Editorial and Production Sales and Distribution

Admin Total employees

Tudalen y pecyn 87



after a series of redundancies, Press Gazette reported that only six senior reporters 

and five trainees remained (Press Gazette 2011). Talking to overworked journalists 

about the challenge of maintaining editorial standards under such difficult 

conditions at the time, it seemed like things could not get any worse. Today, 

however, after several rounds of further cuts all of the local offices have been 

closed (leaving these areas to be covered remotely, from a geographical and 

cultural distance, in Cardiff), no titles have dedicated editors, and all seven weekly 

papers, along with their associated online news outputs, are produced by just 

three and a half reporters. As the work of Howells (2015) demonstrates, many of 

the effects of this withdrawal of journalism on the quality of news (see below) pre-

date the challenging conditions brought about by the move to digital news, and 

the later spate of newspaper closures. This suggests that both publishers’ editorial 

and business strategies, as well as external factors such as recession and the 

digital turn, are a continuing explanatory factor. 

Media plurality is a good thing, but our news is concentrated in the hands of 

a few big publishers: 

The loss of individual newspapers adds to the already serious concerns of many 

around a lack of local media plurality caused by the quest for consolidation and 

greater economies of scale. Media regulator Ofcom states that “plurality matters 

because it makes an important contribution to a well-functioning democratic 

society through informed citizens and preventing too much influence over the 

political process” (Ofcom 2012). Yet our local media markets are far from plural. In 

1992 two hundred companies published local newspapers in the UK, but by 2005 

this had fallen to just 87; likewise, eight companies owned 80% of UK titles 

(Williams and Franklin 2007). By 2015 ownership had further consolidated, with six 

companies owning 80% of titles, and only 62 companies owning at least one daily 

or weekly newspaper (Media Reform Coalition 2015). The acquisition of Local Word 

(then the 4th largest publisher) by Trinity Mirror (then the 5th largest publisher) in 

2016 led to further consolidation. This research concludes that over two thirds of 

Local Authority districts, over half of all parliamentary constituencies, and 56% of 

the UK’s population are not served by a dedicated daily newspaper, and almost half 

of Local Authority Districts are served by just one publisher (Ramsay and Moore 

2016). These headline data do not take into account the loss of intra-company 

plurality caused by moves to make journalists who were previously dedicated to 

one title produce news which is re-purposed across numerous news outlets owned 

by the same company (a move which has also affected the local-ness of our news – 

see trend 6 below). 

Tudalen y pecyn 88



The picture in Wales is even more bleak. The recent takeover of Local World gave 

Trinity Mirror unprecedented dominance in Welsh local news markets, making it by 

far the largest news company in the country. In-depth mixed-method studies of 

news and democracy in individual localities over longer periods yield equally stark 

results. For instance, Howells (2015) found that the Port Talbot (population circa 

36,000) was served by 11 journalists working across on five newspapers, all of 

which had local offices in the town; by 2015 Port Talbot had lost all of its 

dedicated newspapers, and was covered, part time, and remotely, by two South 

Wales Evening Post journalists based in Swansea, the nearby regional hub. 

Diversity of news provision is desirable because it limits the power and influence of 

news company owners. But more importantly in the local context, diverse news 

ecosystems limit the dominance of particular business models and their associated 

editorial priorities. Wales’ biggest local media plurality problem does not lie 

principally in the risk that Trinity Mirror CEO Simon Fox might wish to exert 

political influence over Welsh life, but instead in the fact that Trinity’s cost-cutting, 

high-output, consolidating and synergistic approach to its business means that 

almost all Welsh journalists in the commercial sector work in similar ways, 

producing similar kinds of news, while working under similarly difficult conditions 

and constraints. Without competition from others with different editorial and 

commercial priorities local news owners have the luxury of being able to dominate 

local information systems with minimal outlay on news content; when you are the 

only game in town investment in news quality is not incentivised. 

Local news companies now prioritise digital news over print, but make 

relatively little money from it: 

Since the advent of digital news many advertisers have left newspapers, preferring 

the cheaper and more targeted services offered by digital intermediaries such as 

search sites (e.g. principally, but not only, Google) social networking platforms 

(principally, but not only, Facebook), and a range of competitor online classified 

advertising sites (Meikle and Young 2012; Fenton et al 2010). At the same time, 

fragmented audiences have moved in increasing numbers to non-linear 

consumption of digital news. When they do read local news they increasingly do so 

on social media platforms, or on news aggregation sites, and not directly from 

local news publishers’ sites themselves (Freedman 2010, Doyle 2013).  

Tudalen y pecyn 89



These trends, combined with declining print news audiences, have led Trinity 

Mirror, in common with almost all other local news publishers, to prioritise the web 

at the expense of print in their recent and future business strategies.  

Figure 4. 

 

This strategy has led to impressive growth (albeit from a low base) in the 

readership of Wales Online, which has increased average daily unique readers from 

34,000 to 390,000 in just seven years. However large increases in audience figures 

for UK local and regional online news have not translated into anything 

approaching profits equivalent to those lost due to declining print titles. We have 

already seen how falling revenues, combined with a mini-max editorial approach 

(which maximises profits while minimising investment), has led to the loss of many 

hundreds of journalists in South Wales. The data presented so far, though, does 

not show where the revenues to pay the remaining workforce come from. Media 

wales do not differentiate in annual accounts between revenues earned from digital 

and print, but these figures are included in the group accounts published by Trinity 

Mirror. 

34,629

392,220

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

Wales Online Average Daily Unique 
Users, 2008-2017 (source: ABC) 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



Figure 5: 

 

Figure 5 shows the proportion of revenues derived from printed news, and from 

digital news, at Trinity Mirror’s Regionals and Publishing divisions between 2003 

and 2016. 3 The large blue area represents the percentage of revenues derived 

from newspaper circulation and printed ads; the slim orange area, the proportion 

obtained from digital advertising. Media Wales has (as is common in the sector) 

prioritised digital, web-first, editorial strategies at the expense of print since the 

mid-2000s. But this graph underlines the still relatively low value of online ads 

compared with print advertising. Despite print’s decline, and its near-universal 

displacement as a corporate priority, it still pays for the majority of the workforce. 

Given that declining revenues from print have been such a large factor in the 

hollowing out of newsrooms seen to date, it seems likely that we will lose many 

more journalists before a more sustainable balance between income streams and 

staffing levels can be found. This is likely to have many and far-reaching 

consequences on the working conditions and practices of those journalists who 

remain, as well as the future quality of local news.  

                                       
3 In 2011/12 the group changed its divisional structure, which means this graph shows data 

relating to Trinity Mirror Regionals (a now defunct arm of the company composed of only local 

newspapers and websites) between 2003-2011, and to Trinity Mirror Publishing (a new division 

combining all national and local newspapers and websites) between 2011-2016. Although the 

graph refers to two different corporate entities, its common focus is on the proportion of revenues 

derived from printed and digital news is still useful. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Trinity Mirror Regionals/Trinity Mirror 
Publishing Revenue Breakdowns by Platform, 
percentage (source: audited annual accounts)

Print (advertising and circulation) Digital (advertising)

Tudalen y pecyn 91



Local news has become less local, less independent, and of less civic value 

than previously: 

Studies of news content and journalism practice in Wales and elsewhere have 

found the on-going crisis in the UK news industry, pre-dating but in some ways 

worsened by the advent of the internet, is endangering the “local-ness”, quality, 

and independence of our news (Fenton 2010; Franklin 2006a). Even before the 

growth of online news scholars had reached consistently gloomy conclusions about 

UK local newspaper coverage of local democracy: since the mid-1980s the local 

press in Wales has reduced coverage of local elections, produced fewer election 

stories with distinct local angles, and reduced “sustained discussion of policy 

concerns” (Franklin, Court, and Cushion 2006); in more recent studies, in-depth 

coverage of local politics and the governance of local communities was found to 

have gradually given way to a more tabloid-oriented spread of news (Franklin 

2005); emphasis on news about entertainment, consumer issues, and human-

interest stories, has increased while coverage of democracy and public life 

decreased (Franklin 2006b).  

Outside of election times, research has noted that as news revenues fall and staff 

are cut, workloads increase and mainstream local news relies more on official 

sources and PR, meaning only a very narrow range of community voices tend to be 

routinely cited (Davies 2008; Franklin 1988; Franklin and Van Slyke Turk 1988; 

O’Neill and O’Connor 2008; Howells 2015). Harrison, echoing others’ findings, 

found that local newspaper reliance on sources in local government was very high, 

even going as far as to suggest that the growing power imbalance between local 

media and local governments means that “local newspapers are unlikely to be able 

to perform their role as principal institutions of the public sphere” (Harrison 1998). 

O’Neill and O’Connor (2008), ten years later, find that local and regional journalists 

rely very heavily on a relatively small range of official sources, usually those with 

the most resources to devote to PR. They also note with alarm that the majority of 

stories (76 per cent) relied on single sources, with less than a quarter of stories 

employing secondary sources who may provide alternative, opposing, or 

complementary information to that provided by primary sources.  

Another theme in the evidence base suggests that local news has become less 

local, and more generic, in focus as editions are cut, local high-street offices are 

closed, and use of cheap news agency copy (which is often less local in orientation 

than news gathered on the ground) becomes more prevalent (Davies 2008; 

Franklin 2011; Hamer 2006; Williams and Franklin 2007; Howells 2015). Howells 

Tudalen y pecyn 92



(2015) finds that as jobs were cut in Port Talbot news gathering practices shifted 

drastically in ways which made the news less local, and less reflective of the local 

community. She found that with the gradual closure of local offices in satellite 

towns, journalists became less visible and accessible to publics, and less rooted in 

their communities. Journalism was less often rooted in face-to-face interactions 

(e.g. with members of the public on news “beats”), and decreasingly based on first-

hand scrutiny of the institutions of local elites and local government (so journalists 

became more and more reliant on processing second-hand, mostly official, pre-

packaged information sources). 

All of this suggests that even before the financial crisis and its consequent effects 

on staffing levels the local press took much information on trust, was fairly 

uncritical, relied heavily on PR and other information subsidies, and provided 

readers with limited access to a range of the (often competing) voices and 

perspectives actually present in local public debates. There is less research into the 

UK local news sector post 2008, which is concerning because if critical accounts of 

newsroom life from journalists and campaigners are to be believed, these trends 

have only intensified. 

Digital local news strategies are prioritising profits and clicks over public 

interest news:  

Common pre-digital critiques of tabloidization, or the “dumbing down” of 

journalism, have taken new form with rise of online local news. A common theme 

in such critical accounts is the critique of a perceived over-emphasis on the 

production of “clickbait” articles such as listicles, which have become talismanic of 

changing editorial priorities driven by a high-volume, quick-turnaround digital 

editorial strategy. A number of factors combine to inform a click-led editorial 

policy which necessitates a very high volume of stories be produced each day to 

satisfy demand from online advertisers. Due to the continued decline in the value 

of print advertising and stark falls in revenues from printed newspaper 

circulations, all major local and regional news publishers have prioritised 

increasing advertising revenues from digital news. But whereas in the pre-digital 

age newspaper companies enjoyed high print advertising revenues from a series of 

largely discrete regional advertising monopolies, the digital advertising market is 

much less hospitable. Google and Facebook, who specialise in targeted advertising 

based on valuable search and social media user data, dominate the sector, with 

credible estimates suggesting that they will earn over 70 per cent of all money 

spent on display advertising in the UK by 2020 (Jackson 2016).  

Tudalen y pecyn 93



Useful insights into how these changes affect journalism practice and news content 

can be gleaned from increased industry-wide debate covered in the trade press 

and the steady drip-drip of critical first-hand confessional, satirical, and 

campaigning accounts from serving or former local journalists. From the 

newspaper editor who reflected on his redundancy in the form of an odd-

numbered listicle (Ponsford 2016a), to the “heartbroken” award-winning local news 

journalist who quit his job because of perceived falling print and online editorial 

standards (Ponsford 2016b), many local journalists fear that public interest news is 

being squeezed out by the need to attract website traffic. Managers, such as 

Trinity Mirror’s David Higgerson, contend that their editorial strategy is simply 

about “understanding what audiences want”, and that such fears are unfounded. 

But others, such as CEO Simon Fox have given mixed messages, both downplaying 

the existence of a democratic deficit, and lamenting the need to do anything about 

it. Shipton cites a comment by Fox made at a Media Wales staff briefing in 2014 

saying the problem with "this democratic deficit stuff" is that "it doesn't get enough 

clicks" (Shipton 2015). 

A year later, when asked to respond to the BBC’s plans for its nascent Local 

Democracy Reporter Scheme, he replied that as Trinity Mirror sees it, “there isn’t a 

democratic deficit” (Turvill 2015).  

It is unclear how companies like Trinity Mirror have innovated in their practices to 

incorporate the use of audience data in use of automated programmatic 

advertising, and a better understanding is needed of the effects on democratic and 

civic life. One area of concern that has emerged, however, is the use of real-time 

audience data on the click-rates of individual news pieces, and the success of 

individual writers, to motivate (or discipline) journalists and promote newsroom 

competition. A potential problem with such performance-related data is that it 

might further de-prioritise coverage of areas of public life which many in the 

audience might not be interested in, but which is nonetheless squarely in the 

public interest. There is also a need to explore more deeply the related realm of 

native advertising, and the potential of such advertorial content to further blur the 

increasingly fuzzy boundaries between marketing and editorial at a time when 

media companies are facing very tough commercial challenges. Again, the 

publishers are insistent that these fears are unfounded, but previous experience 

suggests it would be wise to monitor closely at what they do, as well as what they 

say.  

Tudalen y pecyn 94



Works cited: 

Davies, Nick. 2008. Flat Earth News. London: Chatto and Windus. 

Doyle, G. 2013. Understanding Media Economics (2nd Edition). London: Sage. 

Enders Analysis. 2011. “Competitive Pressures on the Press, presentation to the 

 Leveson Inquiry”, http://webarchive. 

 nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140122145147/http://www.levesoninquiry.org.u

 k/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Claire-Enders- Competitive-pressures-on-

 the-press.pdf    

Fenton, Natalie. 2010. Meeting the news needs of local communities. Media Trust, 

 London, UK. Available at: 

 www.mediatrust.org/uploads/128255497549240/original.pdf  

Franklin, Bob, Geoff Court, and Stephen Cushion. 2006. “Downgrading the ‘Local’ 

 in Local Newspapers’ Reporting of the 2005 UK General Election.” In Local 

 Journalism and Local Media: Making the local news edited by Bob Franklin. 

 London: Routledge. 

Franklin, Bob, and Judy Van Slyke Turk. 1988. “Information Subsidies: Agenda 

 setting traditions.” Public Relations Review Spring: 29-41. 

Franklin, Bob. 1988. Public Relations Activities In Local Government. London: 

 Charles Knight. 

Franklin, Bob. 2006a. “Preface.” In Local Journalism and Local Media: Making the 

 local news edited by Bob Franklin. London: Routledge. 

Franklin, Bob. 2006b. “Attacking the Devil? Local Journalists and Local Papers in the 

 UK.” In Local Journalism and Local Media: making the local news edited by 

 Bob Franklin. London: Routledge 

Franklin, Bob. 2011. “Sources, Credibility, and the Continuing Crisis of UK 

 Journalism.” In Journalism, Sources, and Credibility edited by Bob Franklin 

 and Matt Carlson. London: Routledge. 

Freedman, Des. 2010. ‘The Political Economy of the “New” News Environment’ in N. 

 Fenton (ed) New Media, Old News. London: Sage. 

Tudalen y pecyn 95

http://webarchive/
nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140122145147/http:/www.levesoninquiry.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Claire-Enders-%20Competitive-pressures-on-the-press.pdf
nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140122145147/http:/www.levesoninquiry.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Claire-Enders-%20Competitive-pressures-on-the-press.pdf
nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140122145147/http:/www.levesoninquiry.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Claire-Enders-%20Competitive-pressures-on-the-press.pdf
http://www.mediatrust.org/uploads/128255497549240/original.pdf


Greenslade, Roy. 2009. “British journalism is in crisis, but we are doing too little to 

 save it?” Guardian 24 September, available at: 

 http://www.guardian.co.uk/media/greenslade/2009/sep/24/downturn-

 mediabusiness 

Hamer, Martin. 2008. “Trading on Trust: News agencies, local journalism, and local 

 media.” In Local Journalism and Local Media: Making the Local News edited 

 by Bob Franklin. London: Routledge. 

Harrison, Shirley. 1998. “The Local Government Agenda: News From the Town 

 Hall.” In Making the Local News: Local Journalism in Context edited by bob 

 Franklin and David Murphy. London: Routledge. 

Howells, Rachel. 2015. Journey to the centre of a news black hole: examining the 

 democratic deficit in a town with no newspaper. PhD thesis, Cardiff 

 University 

IWA. 2015. IWA Wales Media Audit: 2015, Cardiff: Institute of Welsh Affairs, 

 available at: http://iwa.wales/wp-

 content/uploads/2016/01/IWA_MediaAudit_v4.pdf  

Jackson, Japer. 2016. “Google and Facebook to take 71% of UK online ad revenue 

 by 2020.” theguardian.com, December 15th. 

Media Reform Coalition. 2015. Who Owns the UK Media?. London, Media Reform 

 Coalition. Available at: http://www.mediareform.org.uk/who-owns-the-uk-

 media  

Media Wales/Western Mail and Echo, Annual Report and Financial Statements 

 (2000-2015), Companies House, Cardiff.  

Meikle, G. & Young, S. 2012. Media Convergence: Networked Digital Media in 

 Everyday Life. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. 

Mintel. 2013. Regional Newspapers UK, Market Sector Report, available at: 

 http://academic.mintel.com/display/638001/. 

Nel, Francois. 2010. ‘#LaidOff: What do UK journalists do next?’, UCLAN & 

 journalism.co.uk, https://www.journalism.co.uk/ uploads/laido report.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 96

http://www.guardian.co.uk/media/greenslade/2009/sep/24/downturn-%09mediabusiness
http://www.guardian.co.uk/media/greenslade/2009/sep/24/downturn-%09mediabusiness
http://iwa.wales/wp-%09content/uploads/2016/01/IWA_MediaAudit_v4.pdf
http://iwa.wales/wp-%09content/uploads/2016/01/IWA_MediaAudit_v4.pdf
http://www.mediareform.org.uk/who-owns-the-uk-%09media
http://www.mediareform.org.uk/who-owns-the-uk-%09media
http://academic.mintel.com/display/638001/


Oliver and Ohlbaum. 2015. UK news provision at the crossroads: The news market 

 in the 21st Century and the likely implications for the BBC’s role, a report for 

 the News Media Association. 

 http://www.newsmediauk.org/write/MediaUploads/PDFper 

 cent20Docs/OandO_NMA_-_UK_news_provision_at_the_crossroads.pdf. 

O’Neill, Deidre and Catherine O’Connor. 2008. “The Passive Journalist; How 

 Sources Dominate Local News.” Journalism Practice 2, no.3: 487-500. 

Ofcom. 2012. Measuring Media Pluraility. 19th June. 

 http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/consultations/measuring-

 plurality/statement 

Perch, Keith, 2015. ‘The collapse of the business model of regional newspapers 

 has been far greater than previously stated and is undermining public sphere 

 journalism’, unpublished paper, Cardiff University Future of Journalism 

 Conference, September. 

Picard, Robert. 2008.‘Shifts In Newspaper Advertising Expenditures And Their 

 Implications For The Future Of Newspapers’, Journalism Studies,  9:5, 704-

 716 

Ponsford, Dominic. 2016a. “Editor Axed by Trinity Mirror Uses Odd-Numbered 

 Listicle to Reflect on Ignominious Exit”, Press Gazette, August 2016, 

 available at: http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/editor-axed-by-trinity-mirror-

 uses-odd-numbered-listicle-to-reflect-on-an-ignominious-exit/  

Ponsford, Dominic. 2016b. “’Heartbroken’ Reporter Gareth Davies Saya Croydon 

 Advertiser Print Edition Now ‘Thrown Together Collection of Clickbait’", July 

 31st, available at: http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/heartbroken-reporter-

 gareth-davies-says-croydon-advertser-print-edition-now-thrown-

 together-collection-of-clickbait/  

Press Gazette. 2011. “Seven Compulsory Redundancies at Media Wales”, Press 

 Gazette, 8th August 2011, available at: 

 http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/story.asp?sectioncode=1&storycode=47659 

 (last accessed October 2011) 

Ramsay, Gordon and Martin Moore. 2016. Monopolising Local News: Is there an 

 emerging democratic Deficit in the UK due to the decline of local 

Tudalen y pecyn 97

http://www.newsmediauk.org/write/MediaUploads/PDFper
http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/consultations/measuring-%09plurality/statement
http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/consultations/measuring-%09plurality/statement
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/editor-axed-by-trinity-mirror-%09uses-odd-numbered-listicle-to-reflect-on-an-ignominious-exit/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/editor-axed-by-trinity-mirror-%09uses-odd-numbered-listicle-to-reflect-on-an-ignominious-exit/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/heartbroken-reporter-%09gareth-davies-says-croydon-advertser-print-edition-now-thrown-%09together-collection-of-clickbait/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/heartbroken-reporter-%09gareth-davies-says-croydon-advertser-print-edition-now-thrown-%09together-collection-of-clickbait/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/heartbroken-reporter-%09gareth-davies-says-croydon-advertser-print-edition-now-thrown-%09together-collection-of-clickbait/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/story.asp?sectioncode=1&storycode=47659


 newspapers? Kings College London: Centre for the Study of Media, 

 Communication and Power. https://www.kcl.ac.uk/sspp/policy-

 institute/CMCP/local-news.pdf 

Shipton, Martin. 2015. Panel Discussion, Conference: Who Will Pay for Welsh 

 Journalism? University of South Wales, 10th November 2016 

Sweney, Mark. 2015. “Johnston Press Chief: Local Newspaper Closures Blown out of 

 Proportion”. Guardian.co.uk. 19th November. 

 https://www.theguardian.com/media/2015/nov/19/johnston-press-chief-

 local-newspaper-closures-blown-out-of-proportion  

Thomas, Huw. 2015. “NUJ Fears Trinity Mirror Click Targets Could ‘Dumb Down’ 

 News”, BBC Wales News Website, September 10th, available at: 

 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-34209894  

Trinity Mirror Annual Reports and Accounts. 2000-2016. available online at: 

 http://www.trinitymirror.com/investors/financial-information/ 

Turvill, William. 2015 “Trinity Mirror Chief: ‘No Democratic Deficit’ in Local News”, 

 Press Gazette, November 5th, available at: 

 http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/trinity-mirror-chief-says-there-isnt-

 democratic-deficit-local-news-and-he-doesnt-want-more-bbc  

Williams, Andy and Bob Franklin. 2007. Turning Around the Tanker: Implementing 

 Trinity Mirror’s Online Strategy. Cardiff University School of Journalism Media 

 and Cultural Studies, available at: http://image.guardian.co.uk/sys-

 files/Media/documents/2007/03/13/Cardiff.Trinity.pdf  

Williams, Andy. 2012. “The Crisis in the Welsh Media and What to do About it.” 

 Cyfrwng: Media Wales Journal 9. 

Tudalen y pecyn 98

https://www.kcl.ac.uk/sspp/policy-%09institute/CMCP/local-news.pdf
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/sspp/policy-%09institute/CMCP/local-news.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/media/2015/nov/19/johnston-press-chief-%09local-newspaper-closures-blown-out-of-proportion
https://www.theguardian.com/media/2015/nov/19/johnston-press-chief-%09local-newspaper-closures-blown-out-of-proportion
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-34209894
http://www.trinitymirror.com/investors/financial-information/
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/trinity-mirror-chief-says-there-isnt-%09democratic-deficit-local-news-and-he-doesnt-want-more-bbc
http://www.pressgazette.co.uk/trinity-mirror-chief-says-there-isnt-%09democratic-deficit-local-news-and-he-doesnt-want-more-bbc
http://image.guardian.co.uk/sys-%09files/Media/documents/2007/03/13/Cardiff.Trinity.pdf
http://image.guardian.co.uk/sys-%09files/Media/documents/2007/03/13/Cardiff.Trinity.pdf


Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW11 

Ymateb gan ITV Cymru / Evidence from ITV Wales 

1. Cyflwyniad  

1.1 “Thriving and well-funded news media are an important part of any modern 

society. The better informed we are, the better we can play a full role in democratic 

processes. Nations, regional and local news media also play a valuable role in 

representing and reinforcing national and local identities. They help us to 

understand the communities in which we live, celebrate what is special about our 

nation or locality, and bring us together in common cause or common 

understanding.”1 

1.2 Mae’r uchod yn crisialu buddiannau sylweddol cyfryngau newyddion iach i 

gymdeithas. Fodd bynnag, mae dirywiad y diwydiant papur newydd yng Nghymru – 

gyda gostyngiad yng nghylchrediad papurau rhanbarthol, papurau’n cau a’r lleihad 

oherwydd hynny yn y buddsoddiad mewn newyddiaduraeth ymchwiliol, wleidyddol 

ac ymgyrchu – yn golygu heriau sylweddol i’r sector. Mae’r rhyngrwyd a datblygiad 

platfformau cyfryngau cymdeithasol wedi dod â llawer o fuddiannau o ran lledaenu 

gwybodaeth ar raddfa fyd-eang. Ond er bod twf sylweddol wedi bod yn y defnydd 

o wefannau newyddion (E.e. gwefan Wales Online Trinity Mirror), mae cyhoeddwyr 

masnachol yn wynebu heriau mawr wrth iddynt geisio gwneud elw o’r datblygiadau 

hyn. Yn y cyfamser, nid yw newyddiaduraeth gymunedol neu ddinasyddion, 

gwefannau hyperleol a gorsafoedd teledu lleol wedi gwneud cynnydd o bwys o ran 

graddfa a chynaliadwyedd.  

1.3 Yn y cyd-destun hwn, mae parhad cyflwr darparwyr newyddion darlledu 

gwasanaeth cyhoeddus (PSB) -ITV masnachol a’r BBC sy’n cael ei ariannu’n 

gyhoeddus – yn hanfodol, gan sicrhau bod newyddion a dadansoddiad o faterion 

Cymreig yn cael sylw a phwyslais priodol mewn system ddarlledu luosog. Mae 

ymchwil Ofcom wedi dangos dro ar ôl tro mai Newyddion “ydy'r genre darlledu 

gwasanaeth cyhoeddus pwysicaf i gynulleidfaoedd o hyd”.2 

1.4 Hefyd, mae ffenomenon ddiweddar “newyddion ffug” yn rhoi pwys ychwanegol 

ar bwysigrwydd ymddiried a gwasanaethau newyddion darlledu gwasanaeth 

                                       
1 News Where you Are: The Future Role of Nations and Regions TV News in the UK gan Robin Foster 

ac Aileen Dennis 2015 

2 Darlledu Gwasanaeth Cyhoeddus yn Oes y Rhyngrwyd, Ofcom 2015 

Tudalen y pecyn 99



cyhoeddus sydd ar gael i bawb ac sy’n denu cynulleidfaoedd mawr. Mae 

gweithredu o dan fframwaith rheoleiddiol Cod Darlledu Ofcom, sy’n cynnwys y 

gofyniad am gydbwysedd, cywirdeb ac amhleidioldeb yn bwysicach nag erioed i 

helpu i wasanaethu cymdeithas wybodus.  

2. Cyfraniad ITV News Cymru Wales  

2.1 Mewn marchnad newyddion gynhenid wan yng Nghymru, ITV Cymru Wales yw’r 

unig ddarlledwr cenedlaethol sy’n darparu newyddion a materion cyhoeddus 

heblaw am y BBC. Mae hwn yn cael ei ddarparu am ddim i’r gwyliwr heb ddim cost 

uniongyrchol i’r trethdalwr. Dylid edrych ar gyfraniad ITV Cymru yng nghyd-destun 

ehangach ITV News – darparwr newyddion y rhwydwaith masnachol, y cenhedloedd 

a’r rhanbarthau yn y DU gyda chyfanswm y buddsoddiad oddeutu £100 miliwn y 

flwyddyn.  

2.2 Yn ystod y blynyddoedd diwethaf, mae ITV wedi ad-drefnu ei fodel newyddion 

teledu ar gyfer y cenhedloedd a’r rhanbarthau. Mae technolegau newydd a dulliau 

gweithio newydd wedi galluogi darlledu gwell gyda llai o adnoddau. Mae costau 

wedi’u lleihau, ac mae cynnyrch ar y sgrin wedi gwella, gyda mwy o bwyslais ar y 

lleol, mwy o aml sgiliau, mwy o gamerâu yn y maes ac ymateb cyflymach, mwy 

hyblyg i storïau newydd. Mae gan newyddiadurwyr gamerâu fideo a gliniaduron, a 

gallant ffilmio, paratoi adroddiadau a golygu yn y maes cyn cyflwyno eu storïau a 

darlledu’n fyw ar draws y rhwydwaith 4G i ystafelloedd newyddion.  

2.3 Er 2014 mae ITV Cymru Wales wedi ei leoli yn ein canolfan ddarlledu manylder 

uwch fodern yn Assembly Square ym Mae Caerdydd – buddsoddiad gwerth 

miliynau o bunnoedd mewn darlledu yng Nghymru. Rydym yn cyflogi tua 100 o 

bobl mewn newyddion, rhaglenni a gweithrediadau: newyddiadurwyr, gohebwyr 

arbennig, golygyddion, cynhyrchwyr, cyflwynwyr, cyfarwyddwyr, gweithredwyr 

camerâu a staff technegol eraill. Mae bron i ddau draean, 65, yn newyddiadurwyr / 

gwneuthurwyr rhaglenni.  

Cynnydd yng nghyfran y gynulleidfa  

2.4 Mae amserlen oriau brig ITV Wales yn un o’r mwyaf poblogaidd yn y DU ac mae 

ei gwmpas a’i effaith ar gynnydd – ac mae hyn yn digwydd er gwaethaf y grymoedd 

andwyol sydd wedi bod yn effeithio ar ddarlledwyr gwasanaeth cyhoeddus yn ystod 

y degawd diwethaf. Mae hyn yn bwysig gan fod ITV Cymru yn darlledu’r rhan fwyaf 

o’i raglenni newyddion a materion cyfoes sydd o ddiddordeb i Gymru yn ystod 

Tudalen y pecyn 100



oriau brig, gan sicrhau’r gynulleidfa fwyaf posibl ar gyfer rhaglenni newyddion a 

materion cyfoes.  

2.5 Rydym yn awr yn nhrydedd blwyddyn ein trwydded deng mlynedd ar gyfer 

Sianel 3 yng Nghymru3, gan gyflawni’r ymrwymiadau a bennwyd gan Ofcom gan 

felly roi rhyw gymaint o sicrwydd i’r ddarpariaeth newyddion annibynnol. Mae’r 

gyllideb ar gyfer rhaglenni darlledu gwasanaeth cyhoeddus ITV Cymru – a nifer y 

cynyrchiadau darlledu gwasanaeth cyhoeddus – wedi bod yn sefydlog yn ystod y 

saith mlynedd diwethaf gyda 286 o oriau o newyddion a rhaglenni bob blwyddyn.  

2.6 Mae’n amlwg bod cyfraniad darlledu gwasanaeth cyhoeddus ITV yn cael ei 

werthfawrogi gan wylwyr yng Nghymru. Yn 2016, cododd cyfran y gwylwyr ar gyfer 

ein prif raglen newyddion min nos, Wales at Six, i 22.6%, cynnydd am y seithfed 

flwyddyn yn olynol. Yn ogystal â chynnwys cymysgedd o newyddion, chwaraeon a’r 

tywydd, mae’r rhaglen yn rhoi pwyslais ar yr agenda cenedlaethol yng Nghymru, 

gyda gohebwyr arbenigol yn rhoi sylw i’r prif feysydd polisi datganoledig.  

2.7. Mae ein tîm gwleidyddiaeth, sy’n gweithio o’n swyddfa yn Nhŷ Hywel a 

Millbank Tower yn San Steffan, yn sicrhau sylw cynhwysfawr i fusnes y Cynulliad ac 

i storïau Seneddol sy’n effeithio ar Gymru.  

2.8 Mae’r sylw a roddir i’r Etholiad Cyffredinol (ac a roddwyd i Etholiad y Cynulliad 

y llynedd ac i Etholiad Cyffredinol 2015) yn arwydd o bwysigrwydd agwedd 

Gymreig gref ITV News Wales ar wleidyddiaeth – sy’n cynnwys y cyfraniadau o 

ganolfannau cyfrif pwysig yng Nghymru ar raglen canlyniadau drwy’r nos ITV. Mae 

Wales At Six wedi dangos y cyfraniad a wneir ganddo at y broses ddemocrataidd 

trwy neilltuo llawer o amser ac adnoddau i’r ymgyrchoedd, gan adrodd ar y 

materion pwysig sy’n wynebu etholwyr, gan roi sylw helaeth i wleidyddion ac 

ymgyrchwyr a chynnwys cynulleidfaoedd yn y ddadl.  

2.9 Yn ogystal â sylw i’r etholiad cyffredinol, mae’r prif storïau newyddion sydd 

wedi cael sylw yn 2017 hyd yma yn cynnwys: stori unigryw ar ffatri Ford; sylw 

manwl i effaith argyfwng y gaeaf ar ofal iechyd yng Nghymru; adroddiadau 

arbennig yn edrych ar fywyd yng Nghymoedd y De; cyfres o adroddiadau a oedd yn 

rhan o Wythnos Ymwybyddiaeth Iechyd Meddwl. Mae ein cysylltiad agos ag ITN yn 

ein galluogi i gydweithio ar storïau o Gymru ar raglenni newyddion rhwydwaith ITV.  

                                       
3 Trwyddedau Sianel 3 yw ITV a STV; mae ymrwymiadau ar y ddau o ohonynt i ddarparu rhaglenni 

newyddion teledu rhanbarthol fel rhan o’u trwydded. 

Tudalen y pecyn 101



2.10 Mae ein heitem reolaidd “In Focus” ar Wales At Six yn neilltuo cryn amser i 

newyddiaduraeth ymchwiliol. Mae ymchwiliadau diweddar wedi cynnwys y cynnydd 

mewn hunanladdiad ymhlith dynion, caethiwed i gamblo, a chadw pobl â 

phroblemau iechyd meddwl mewn celloedd. Mae’r eitemau hyn wedi cynnwys ein 

cynulleidfa, gan roi cyfle i wylwyr i ddylanwadu ar yr eitemau.  

2.11 Mae ein cynnyrch newyddion dyddiol hefyd yn cynnwys bwletinau cynnar (yn 

Good Morning Britain), amser cinio a phenwythnosau. Mae ein sioe fore Sul, 

Newsweek Wales, yn cynnwys cymysgedd poblogaidd o newyddion, erthyglau a 

gwesteion diddorol. Mae gennym dîm yn y Gogledd, sydd wedi ei leoli yn ein 

swyddfa ym Mae Colwyn, a newyddiadurwyr mewn lleoliadau allweddol eraill ledled 

y wlad. Mae ein cerbydau lloeren (un yn y de ac un yn y gogledd) yn gallu anfon 

lluniau byw o ba bynnag ran o’r wlad lle mae’r stori’n digwydd.  

2.12 Yn 2016, cafodd dyfais o’r enw Live U ei gyflwyno gan ITV News. Mae hwn yn 

ddarn bychan o dechnoleg gludadwy (maint bag o siwgr) sy’n galluogi gohebwyr i 

ddarlledu’n fyw o unrhyw leoliad lle mae gwasanaeth 3G,4G neu ddiwifr ar gael. 

Mae Live U wedi gwneud cyfraniad pwysig at ein gallu i ddarlledu’n fyw gan ei fod 

mor fychan a chludadwy.  

2.13 Mae ein cyfraniad at newyddiaduraeth yng Nghymru’n ymestyn y tu hwnt i’r 

rhaglenni newyddion rheolaidd gyda’n darpariaeth materion cyfoes yn ein galluogi 

i roi sylw mwy trylwyr i bynciau penodol. Mae Wales This Week, ein prif raglen 

materion cyfoes, wedi tynnu sylw at faterion pwysig a chudd sy’n effeithio ar 

Gymru ers 30 mlynedd. Enillodd y rhifyn ar hunanladdiad â chymorth wobr sgŵp y 

flwyddyn i’r gohebydd Rob Osborne – a enillodd iddo hefyd wobr newyddiadurwr y 

flwyddyn – yng Ngwobrau Cyfryngau Cymru 2017. Mae ein rhaglen wythnosol ar 

wleidyddiaeth Sharp End yn rhoi sylw bywiog a dealladwy i wleidyddiaeth Gymreig 

o’r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol a San Steffan.  

2.14 Rydym hefyd yn cynnig lluosogrwydd mewn materion cyfoes yn y Gymraeg yn 

sgil y rhaglenni rydym yn eu cynhyrchu i S4C. Mae Y Byd Ar Bedwar wedi ennill 

gwobrau, ac mae wedi bod yn ymchwilio i storïau cenedlaethol a rhyngwladol am 

dros 30 o flynyddoedd; rydym yn cynhyrchu 21 rhifyn o’r gyfres i’r sianel yn ystod 

2017. Mae Hacio, ein rhaglen materion cyfoes ar gyfer pobl ifanc, wedi cael ei 

chanmol am roi llais i’r genhedlaeth iau. Mae dadl arbennig Hacio a chyfres o dair 

rhaglen Y Ras i 10 Downing Street yn rhan o sylw S4C i Etholiad Cyffredinol 2017.  

Tudalen y pecyn 102



Gwasanaeth newyddion digidol  

2.15 Mae gwefan ITV News Wales yn cynnwys gwasanaeth newyddion digidol i’r 

funud ar draws sawl platfform – o ben desg i symudol. Mae’r wefan hefyd yn 

ychwanegu lluosogrwydd pellach i’r ddarpariaeth newyddion ar-lein genedlaethol 

yng Nghymru ochr yn ochr â gwefan newyddion BBC Cymru a Wales Online Trinity 

Mirror. Mae gennym strategaeth “enw da yn erbyn cyrhaeddiad” yn yr ystyr nad 

ydym yn ddibynnol ar nifer y cliciau a gawn – ond yn hytrach, ar werthoedd 

ymddiriedaeth, cywirdeb ac amhleidioldeb sy’n deillio o’n statws fel darlledwr 

gwasanaeth cyhoeddus yn y gofod digidol. Mae ein harlwy unigryw yn cyrraedd 

mwy o bobl ac yn denu cynulleidfaoedd newydd i newyddion darlledu gwasanaeth 

cyhoeddus. Mae ein newyddion digidol yn cyrraedd cynulleidfa ieuengach na 

theledu, ac mae’r defnydd o blatfformau fel Facebook wedi ymestyn cyrhaeddiad 

ein cynnwys newyddion fideo’n sylweddol. Edrychwyd ar gynnwys fideo fwy na 5 

miliwn o weithiau ar ein tudalen Facebook yn 2016; hefyd mae mwy na 130,000 yn 

ein hoffi ar Facebook.  

2.16 Mae rhagor o botensial i ddatblygu’r wefan newyddion. Nid yw hyn yn golygu 

cystadlu’n uniongyrchol â gwefannau papurau newydd lleol neu safleoedd 

hyperleol, sydd ill dau’n cynnig arlwy gwahanol a mwy lleol i ddefnyddwyr. Ond yr 

hyn mae’n ei olygu yw adeiladu ar gryfderau rhanbarthol craidd y rhaglen 

newyddion presennol – fideo o ansawdd uchel, gohebu o’r fan a’r lle, cyflwynwyr a 

gohebwyr adnabyddus ac ati – i wella ansawdd cyffredinol ac ystod y 

gwasanaethau.   

Buddsoddi yn y dyfodol  

2.17 Mae ITV Cymru Wales wrthi’n recriwtio’r genhedlaeth nesaf o ohebwyr 

darlledu yng Nghymru. Rydym yn cynnig lleoliadau i fyfyrwyr o wahanol golegau a 

phrifysgolion yng Nghymru ac rydym hefyd yn cynnig prentisiaethau mewn 

disgyblaethau technegol a gweinyddol.  

2.18 Rydym yn cydweithredu ag Ysgol Eastern High yng Nghaerdydd o dan y 

cynllun “Dosbarth Busnes”. Mae hwn yn helpu i wireddu dyheadau a chyrhaeddiad 

disgyblion ac mae’n galluogi prosiectau sy'n fuddiol i ITV trwy roi syniad o sut y 

gallwn ymestyn ymhellach ac ennyn diddordeb y genhedlaeth iau mewn newyddion 

darlledu gwasanaeth cyhoeddus a’r defnydd a wneir ohono yn y dyfodol.  

Tudalen y pecyn 103



Amrywiaeth  

2.19 Elfen bwysig o’n rôl yw adlewyrchu amrywiaeth y Gymru fodern. Rydym yn 

monitro amrywiaeth ein portread ar y sgrin ac yn bwydo canfyddiadau i’r timau 

newyddion fel y bydd cydweithwyr yn ymwybodol o’r hyn y mae angen i ni ei wella. 

Rydym ar hyn o bryd yn gweithio â Chydraddoldeb Hiliol Cymru i ddarparu 

hyfforddiant yn y cyfryngau i 40 o wirfoddolwyr o amrywiaeth o gymunedau ar hyd 

a lled Cymru. Nod hyn yw cynyddu’r gronfa o leisiau cymunedol sy’n ddigon 

hyderus i ddatgan eu barn ar y teledu.  

2.20 Rydym hefyd yn rhan o’r cynllun “Breaking Into News”, sy’n gweithio i roi cyfle 

i ddarpar newyddiadurwyr i gael eu mentora gan rai o’n newyddiadurwyr teledu ac i 

gynhyrchu pecynnau newyddion. Bydd carfan newydd o bobl ifanc yn cael ei 

gwahodd i gymryd rhan yn ein digwyddiad “Ystafelloedd Newyddion Agored” ar 

gyfer y sawl a hoffai gael gyrfa mewn newyddion teledu.  

3. Heriau’r dyfodol  

3. 1 Yn amlwg, mae gan ITV News yng Nghymru rôl bwysig i’w chwarae i gynnal 

ystod a dyfnder darllediadau newyddion ac i sicrhau bod amrywiaeth o leisiau’n 

parhau i gael eu clywed. Rydym yn credu bod ein darpariaeth, ochr yn ochr â 

Newyddion BBC Cymru, yn gwasanaethu’r cyhoedd yng Nghymru’n dda o ran 

cystadleuaeth, dewis ac amrywiaeth o safbwyntiau.  

3.2 Fodd bynnag, rhaid cydnabod y realiti masnachol. I ITV, mae newyddion y 

cenhedloedd a’r rhanbarthau’n golygu cost sylweddol, o ystyried yr angen i 

gynhyrchu a darlledu dros 20 o raglenni ochr yn ochr. Fel y dywed Foster a Dennis 

yn eu hadroddiad, “a purely commercially motivated broadcaster would be highly 

unlikely to commit substantial resources to regional news”.4 

3.3 I sicrhau dyfodol newyddion y cenhedloedd a’r rhanbarthau, ac er mwyn cynnal 

lluosogrwydd yn yr hyn sy’n cael ei gynhyrchu, mae ITV yn credu y bydd yn bwysig 

cadw’r fframwaith darlledu ffafriol sydd wedi helpu i’w gynnal hyd yma. Dylai 

Llywodraeth y DU roi sylw i ddau beth o ran polisi / rheoleiddio:  

− Yn gyntaf, mae angen gweithredu i barhau i sicrhau’r mesurau hynny sy’n 

helpu’n benodol i ddigolledu ITV am y costau sydd ynghlwm wrth amodau’r 

drwydded darlledu gwasanaeth cyhoeddus, gan gynnwys newyddion y 

                                       
4 News Where you Are: The Future Role of Nations and Regions TV News in the UK gan Robin Foster 

ac Aileen Dennis 2015 

Tudalen y pecyn 104



cenhedloedd a’r rhanbarthau. Mae hyn yn cynnwys parhau i sicrhau 

mynediad at sbectrwm radio digonol i warantu bod gwasanaethau darlledu’r 

brif Sianel 3 yn cael eu trawsyrru’n ddigidol i bawb, a sicrhau lle amlwg 

priodol i’r prif sianelau gwasanaeth darlledu cyhoeddus ar y rhestr sianelau 

electronig (EPG) ar gyfer y dyfodol, a rhyngwynebau mynediad at gynnwys 

eraill.  

− Yn ail, sicrhau bod y fframwaith darlledu’n parhau i roi siawns teg i ITV i 

wneud elw rhesymol ar ei fuddsoddiad unigryw mewn lefelau uchel o 

gynnwys gwreiddiol yn y DU. Bydd hyn yn sicrhau cryfder tymor hir Sianel 3, 

yn seiliedig ar sianel â chynulleidfa dorfol gyda lefelau uchel o fuddsoddiad 

mewn cynnwys gwreiddiol am ddim i bawb. Dylid rhoi pwyslais penodol ar y 

cydbwysedd economaidd rhwng Darlledwyr Gwasanaeth Cyhoeddus a 

phlatfformau.  

3.4 Rydym yn gobeithio y bydd ein cyflwyniad yn help i oleuo’r Pwyllgor. Mae 

cyfraniad ITV Wales News ar ei orau pan fydd yn rhan o gyfundrefn o ffynonellau 

lluosog a bywiog. Ar ei ben ei hun, ni ellir disgwyl iddo roi sylw i bopeth. Nid oes 

gennym y gofod i roi sylw i fanion busnes cynghorau lleol. Ni allwn gynnig yr un 

lefel  

o berthnasedd lleol ag y mae safleoedd ar-lein hyperleol yn ei gynnig. Hefyd, 

oherwydd ei natur, fel y dywed Foster a Dennis, mae newyddion cenhedloedd a 

rhanbarthau ITV yn cael llai o effaith yn y maes ymgyrchu. Gellir priodoli hyn yn 

rhannol i’r fframwaith rheoleiddio yr ydym yn gorfod gweithio o fewn iddo, sy’n 

mynnu cydbwysedd ac amhleidioldeb.  

3.5 Ond rydym yn rhoi sylw i faterion cenedlaethol a lleol mawr y dydd ac yn helpu 

i feithrin ymdeimlad o hunaniaeth genedlaethol trwy sianel cynulleidfa dorfol a 

brand uchel ei barch ITV. Bydd dod o hyd i atebion parhaol i’r heriau economaidd 

sy’n wynebu’r sector papurau newydd a chyfryngau ar-lein yn anodd. Yn 

draddodiadol mae gwasanaethau newyddion darlledu gwasanaeth cyhoeddus wedi 

cael eu cyfoethogi gan gystadleuaeth o gyfeiriad cyfryngau newyddion eraill ac fel 

ffynonellau syniadau a thalent newydd. O’r herwydd, mae gan eu dirywiad 

oblygiadau i ITV Cymru Wales – yn enwedig pan ddaw’n fater o ddatblygu talent 

newydd a lleisiau newydd. Yr hyn sy’n amlwg yw bod sicrhau newyddion darlledu 

gwasanaeth cyhoeddus masnachol cynaliadwy yng Nghymru yn bwysicach nag 

erioed.  

Tudalen y pecyn 105



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW12 

Ymateb gan Rhea Stevens, Sefydliad Materion Cymreig / Evidence from Rhea 

Stevens, Institute of Welsh Affairs 

1. About the IWA  

1.1 The Institute of Welsh Affairs is an independent think-tank. Our only interest is 

in seeing Wales flourish as a country in which to work and live. We are an 

independent charity with a broad membership base across the country. We aim to 

bring people together from across the spectrum in a safe space where ideas can 

collide and solutions can be forged in our five priority areas: the economy, 

education, governance, health & social care, and the media in Wales.  

2. IWA Media Policy Group  

2.1 The IWA Media Policy group guides and informs our policy priorities. Its 

members include practitioners, academics and policy professionals with expertise 

across a diverse range of media platforms and issues. A list of members is 

available on request. The purpose of the IWA Media Policy Group is to develop, 

influence and improve media policy for an engaged and connected Wales. In late 

2015 we produced the second Media Audit. In 2017, we ran our 3rd Cardiff IWA 

Media Summit, bringing together broadcasters, journalists, creative industries and 

universities to consider the future of the media in Wales. Evidence from both these 

activities informs this response.  

3. Summary of recommendations  

− The Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee should 

closely examine the potential impact of the Department for Culture, Media 

and Sport's (DCMS) consultation on proposals to deregulate commercial 

radio. While there is much to be commended within the consultation 

document regarding the importance of protecting the provision of local 

news, we are particularly concerned about proposals to deregulate the 

requirement that local news (and news for Wales as a whole) broadcast by 

stations based in Wales should be produced in Wales . It is essential that 

commercial radio news production for Wales remain within Wales.  

− The Welsh Government should create a challenge fund for the development 

of innovative local online content. This should be administered at arm’s 

length from the Welsh Government, for example by the Arts Council of Wales 

or the Welsh Books Council.  

Tudalen y pecyn 106



− The Welsh Government and Ofcom should jointly commission a study of the 

future of those local media in Wales which are particularly vulnerable, and 

this study should include commercial and community radio, local newspaper 

and hyper-local sites.  

− The Welsh Government should consider the available evidence on workforce 

diversity1, and how the recommendations of “Rewriting the Script”, Diverse 

Cymru2, might apply to News Journalism in Wales.  

− The BBC should make its regional and local audio and video content available 

for immediate use on the internet for use by local and regional news 

organisations’ internet services.  

4. Context  

4.1 We welcome this important inquiry from the Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee. News journalism plays a central role in informing 

people of the political, social and economic realities of Wales, and directly affects 

both their understanding and their ability to be active citizens. Robust, pluralistic 

news journalism is a democratic, social and cultural necessity.  

4.2 Our most recent Media Audit (November 2015) found that whilst the availability 

of media communications had significantly improved since the 2008 audit, the 

position regarding content for audiences across Wales was considerably worse. 

While there have been substantial increases in Welsh audiences’ ability to access 

news through a range of digital platforms, this has not compensated for a 

reduction in the forensic capacity of Welsh Journalism as resources and revenue 

options continue to shrink. The primary issues relating to news journalism in Wales 

are sustainability and plurality. It is becoming more difficult for Wales to retain its 

visibility to itself and portray the reality of relevant issues beyond its borders to the 

rest of the UK, and further afield.  

5. Innovative models to support news journalism in Wales  

5.1 The continued growth and increased availability of digital platforms has meant 

that much innovation has and will continue to develop online, such as Yr Awr 

Gymraeg (The Welsh language hour) on Twitter, Wednesdays from 8-9pm. There 

has also been encouraging growth in hyper-local web sites in Wales, in large part 

                                       

 

2 https://www.diversecymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rewriting-the-script-Exec-Summary.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 107

https://www.diversecymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rewriting-the-script-Exec-Summary.pdf


as a response to a diminished local newspaper industry. Joint research3 between 

Cardiff University’s Centre for Community Journalism and NESTA found that 46 of 

the 400 active hyper-local sites in the UK are in Wales, almost twice the proportion 

expected based on population share. This research also found that 48% of hyper-

local site owners have journalistic training or experience of working in the media, 

and that most sites are self-funded. Only 13% were found to generate more than 

£500 per month. While 44% had carried out an investigation into a local issue, 

many were carried out by people with no formal journalistic training.  

5.2 This evidence raises important issues about sustainability. Many hyper-local 

sites rely on the work of volunteers. As well as making the production of content 

vulnerable and dependent on individual’s personal circumstances, it also means 

these sites are operating without legal and administrative support, to which more 

formal institutions have access.  

5.3 It also raises questions about the rigour and quality of some output, given the 

variable qualifications of those involved. Some hyper-locals are compiled by 

individuals with no formal journalism training, whilst others have significant input 

from professional journalists, albeit by some who are contributing on a voluntary 

basis. Whilst hyper-locals are making an important contribution to a greatly 

reduced local news service -for instance The Port Talbot Magnet, Caerphilly 

Observer and the Pembrokeshire Herald are examples of ‘hyper-local’ news 

operations that have had a significant impact in their local areas -they cannot be 

viewed as directly replacing the work of professional paid journalists.  

Securing sustainable sources of funding for hyper-locals, and resourcing 

independent, paid, professional journalism, are key challenges.  

5.4 Improved collaboration offers the opportunity to improve the sustainability of 

news journalism in a small nation. There is a need to explore possible linkages 

between hyper-locals and the community radio sector, and in some circumstances 

the commercial radio sector. With commercial radio, community radio and hyper-

locals all under financial pressure, hybrid models are an obvious source of 

potential collaboration. We fully support the BBC’s proposal to make its regional 

and local audio and video content available for immediate use on the internet 

services of local and regional news organisations.  

                                       
3 http://www.cardiff.ac.uk/news/view/137125-intervention-for-uks-hyperlocal-journalism-sector 

Tudalen y pecyn 108

http://www.cardiff.ac.uk/news/view/137125-intervention-for-uks-hyperlocal-journalism-sector


5.5 IWA recommends that the Welsh Government should create a challenge fund 

for the development of innovative local online content. This should be 

administered at arm's length from the Welsh Government, for example by the Arts 

Council of Wales or the Welsh Books Council. This would support the sustainability 

and quality of local online services. It would build on the model of the Welsh 

Government’s support for the Welsh language magazine Golwg and its associated 

website Golwg 360, but mitigate concerns about the impact of direct state aid on 

journalistic output.  

6. The provision of news journalism in Wales
4

 

6.1 A more robust evidence base tracking news consumption across media and 

looking at UK, Wales and local news would provide a stronger basis for 

understanding the impact of changing news provision in Wales. It is difficult to 

access data on news audiences in Wales consistently partly due to commercial 

confidentiality. This presents a fundamental challenge to scrutiny, in particular the 

extent to which the public are effectively served.  

6.2 Ensuring plurality and sustainability are key issues affecting news journalism in 

Wales. Print circulations of Welsh newspapers have dropped sharply in recent 

years, like newspapers the world over. Online usage has, in many instances, risen 

just as sharply. Print products of newspaper groups remain relevant since they are 

vehicles for display advertising and, in general, tend to generate up to 90 per cent 

of their advertising revenues. At the recent IWA Media Summit (March 2017), Claire 

Enders of Enders Analysis presented evidence that for every £1 gained in digital 

press revenues in the UK, £31 is being lost from revenues formerly sourced from 

print.  

6.2 This decline in print circulation has been more than matched by the growth in 

usage of newspaper online sites, many of which have considerable followings, in 

particular WalesOnline. Although access to hard data is limited due to commercial 

confidentiality, anecdotally it would appear that some online sites in Wales do not 

attract sufficient advertising revenue comparable to print, presenting a significant 

challenge for the future sustainability of the online market. There are also 

significant questions to be asked as more news is consumed via social media 

platforms. At our March 2017 Media Summit, Claire Enders presented evidence 

from the USA on Millennial’s news consumption: of  

                                       
4 Additional information on the numbers and reach of news outlets in Wales can be found in our 

Media Audit 2015: http://iwa.wales/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/IWA_MediaAudit_v4.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 109

http://iwa.wales/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/IWA_MediaAudit_v4.pdf


24 separate news and information topics probed, Facebook was the No. 1 gateway 

to learn about 13 of those, and the second-most cited gateway for seven others5. 

We are not aware of any evidence that suggests the picture in Wales or the UK is 

significantly different. Globalisation is bringing prominence to new on-line 

platforms that are making substantial sums publishing content from media news 

organisations. With no regulatory framework in place to address this shift, these 

organisations are not required to invest (in any sense of the word) in Wales or 

Welsh public life.  

6.3 The loss of local newspaper titles and the reduction in the number of 

journalists, even in those titles that remain, has meant a net reduction in 

professional journalistic capacities. The erosion of local reporting means that local 

democratic institutions, such as justice and local government, are not being 

scrutinised in anything like the depth they once were: a significant barrier to local 

democracy. For example, according to2013 research by Cardiff University6, "the 

number of journalists at Media Wales has also dropped extremely sharply. In 1999 

there were almost 700 editorial and production staff at Media Wales, now there are 

only 136. These figures include the loss of some non-journalists, but they are still 

incredibly worrying. Only a fraction are now left of the reporters who produced our 

south Wales papers ten years ago". This has meant a significant narrowing of the 

range of voices. Plurality remains a key concern in television too. Outside the BBC, 

and including its provision for S4C, ITV Cymru Wales continues to make a 

significant contribution, providing around 4 hours per week of TV news for Wales, 

much of which is broadcast in peak time supplemented by content delivered 

online. The ITV Cymru Wales licence, which includes this news commitment, runs 

until the end of 2024.  

6.4 Universities in Wales make a very significant contribution to the education of 

future journalists both within Wales, the UK and internationally. However, jobs and 

career pathways have never been less certain. Current and future news journalists 

face very real barriers to joining and remaining in the workforce in Wales. This 

raises questions about diversity in newsrooms, and the extent to which the 

workforce now and in the future represents the diversity of Wales’ population. We 

                                       
5 American Press Institute, How Millennials Get News: Inside the Habits of America’s First Digital 

Generation, March 2015. Accessed at: 

http://www.mediainsight.org/PDFs/Millennials/Millennials%20Report%20FINAL.pdf  

6 Williams, A., Stop press? The crisis in the Welsh media and what to do about it, Cyfrwng: Media 

Wales Journal 10, pp. 71-80, 2013 

Tudalen y pecyn 110

http://www.mediainsight.org/PDFs/Millennials/Millennials%20Report%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwia_ab22vvTAhUlKcAKHRTACtgQFggmMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Forca.cf.ac.uk%2F49504%2F&usg=AFQjCNGJL1qAPAguNUqS9RFJBy1f-n5Feg


encourage the Welsh Government to consider the available evidence, and how the 

recommendations of “Rewriting the Script”, Diverse Cymru7, might apply to News 

Journalism in Wales.  

6.6 Alongside the BBC’s services for Wales -Radio Cymru and Radio Wales -

commercial and community radio stations also produce news bulletins for their 

localities. Ofcom’s recent announcement of a further round of community radio 

licensing in areas of Wales currently un-served provides a welcome opportunity to 

enhance this output. The Department for Culture, Media and Sport’s recent 

consultation on Commercial Radio deregulation emphasised the importance of 

protecting the news services provided by local and regional commercial stations, 

however it also proposed “giving all local commercial stations the flexibility to 

produce and broadcast locally relevant content for the licensed areas they serve 

without requirements on where that local content is made or broadcast from8”. A 

move to produce news for Wales outside Wales risks further reducing the range of 

voices within the Welsh media and the provision of relevant local and regional 

news. Such a move could also result in an even further reduction in the number of 

professional paid journalists working in Wales. We consider the Culture, Welsh 

Language and Communications Committee has a clear role to play by examining 

the potential impact of such a move for Wales.  

6.7 The way in which Wales is represented to itself and the rest of the UK by UK 

based media should also be a point of consideration for the Committee during this 

inquiry. Though the terms of this inquiry relate to news journalism in Wales, it is 

important not to lose sight of the fact that the majority news consumed in Wales 

comes from UK based media9. The extent and manner in which UK press and 

broadcasters do or do not cover stories of relevance to Wales matters. A 2014 BBC 

Wales Poll10 found that 43% and 31% of respondents thought health and education 

respectively were the UK government’s responsibility, while 42% of people wrongly 

believed policing was an assembly matter.  

                                       
7 https://www.diversecymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rewriting-the-script-Exec-Summary.pdf  

8 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/591508/RadioDer

eg-Final13Feb.pdf  

9 http://theconversation.com/british-media-is-failing-to-give-voters-the-full-picture-ahead-

ofelections-57020  

10 Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-27739205  

Tudalen y pecyn 111

https://www.diversecymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rewriting-the-script-Exec-Summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/591508/RadioDereg-Final13Feb.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/591508/RadioDereg-Final13Feb.pdf
http://theconversation.com/british-media-is-failing-to-give-voters-the-full-picture-ahead-ofelections-57020
http://theconversation.com/british-media-is-failing-to-give-voters-the-full-picture-ahead-ofelections-57020
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-27739205


7. Welsh Government support for local news journalism  

7.1 It is critical that good policy be built on robust evidence. An overarching 

priority for impactful media policy in Wales should be ensuring we have regular, 

comprehensive information about the state of the media, including News 

Journalism, upon which reliable analysis can be produced for good policy. The 

sector is evolving rapidly to keep pace with a fast-moving external environment, 

and it essential that we have the information needed to ensure policy both 

responds to and anticipates change.  

7.2 Our 2015 Media Audit recommended that the Welsh Government and Ofcom 

should jointly commission a study of the future of those local media to Wales 

which are particularly vulnerable, to include commercial and community radio, 

local newspaper and hyper-local sites. Specifically, we call for the study to include 

consideration of:  

− The future of FM and Medium Wave transmission in a DAB environment. It is 

worth noting that the recent DCMS consultation on commercial radio de-

regulation now envisages placing local content requirements for local DAB 

radio services. Currently, legislation does not require this).  

− The relationship between commercial and community radio and the 

possibility of hybrid models  

− The future of papurau bro  

− The likely impact of the BBC’s proposals for a shared journalistic resource 

(Local Accountability Reporting Service, Shared Data Journalism Centre, News 

Bank).  

Tudalen y pecyn 112



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 

Newyddiaduraeth Newyddion yng Nghymru / News Journalism in Wales 

CWLC(5) NJW13 

Ymateb gan Emma Meese, Prifysgol Caerdydd / Evidence from Emma Meese, 

Cardiff University 

There are in the region of 40 hyperlocal news publications across Wales which we 

are aware of, in addition to more than 50 Welsh language Papurau Bro, which have 

been printed and sold for over 40 years in communities across Wales. It is of vital 

importance that we recognise the value these publications bring to communities, 

and that we find a way to nurture them and help them grow. 

Among the valuable work contributing to civic discourse, hyperlocal and 

community news publishers are holding authority to account, delivering 

contemporaneous and in-depth election coverage, campaigning, encouraging civic 

participation, giving communities a voice, storytelling, reflecting cultural identity, 

promoting civic pride, changing perceptions, and plugging gaps in news provision. 

Shining examples of leading local news publications across Wales – which are small 

in terms of staffing but huge in terms of impact and importance to the 

communities they serve – are the Caerphilly Observer, Wrexham.com, My Newtown, 

My Welshpool and Deeside.com. Each is run by a handful of individuals who 

regularly publish new, original and up-to-the-minute newsworthy content. 

They tackle issues that matter and report on all aspects of civic life, including 

courts and council meetings. These micro businesses are agile and entrepreneurial, 

and are vital to ensuring a thriving news sector in Wales. 

We need to ensure that smaller run organisations such as these are no longer 

disadvantaged in that they cannot access the same level of funding and support as 

the large traditional newspapers, which have a monopoly across Wales. 

The Port Talbot Guardian closed its doors in 2009, which overnight left 139,000 

residents without access to a single source of local news or information. Around 

the same time seven journalists all lost their jobs from other mainstream media 

organisations. They formed a co-operative and created the Port Talbot Magnet. 

This was of great importance to residents during the uncertainty over the future of 

Tata Steel. However, without access to funding or support, and small local business 

cutting back on their advertising spend, the Magnet was forced to cease 

operations. No town in Wales should be deprived of their local news publication, 

Tudalen y pecyn 113

https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/directory-of-hyperlocals-in-wales/


particularly when a small amount of help could have ensured the Magnet continued 

to provide good quality, and essential, local journalism. 

Last year Nesta produced a report into revenue streams for hyperlocal publishers 

across the UK and Europe. The findings show that a sustainable business model is 

an increasing challenge, and evidence suggests that the ‘hardest to fund has been 

local news reporting’. Advertising is a common, yet unpredictable, income for 

hyperlocals yet few have the capacity or skills to market their service or sell 

advertising. 

The Centre for Community Journalism (C4CJ) is part of Cardiff University’s 

Transforming Communities engagement projects that demonstrate the University’s 

commitment to the communities of Cardiff, Wales and beyond. We were 

established in 2013 to support new forms of local digital journalism and to explore 

new, sustainable models for news. Our focus is at the local level; the place where 

journalism is most valued, but also most at risk. As well as sitting on the National 

Assembly’s Digital News and Information Taskforce, the BBC’s Local Journalism 

Working Group and the Institute of Welsh Affairs Media Policy Group we have 

trained more than 32,000 learners from 130 different countries. We also provide 

training to Welsh Government, PR professionals, universities and members of the 

community.  

Our mission is to promote quality journalism, help address the democratic deficit 

in news poor communities and help create more jobs in journalism at the local and 

hyperlocal level.  

We are in the process of launching Independent Community News Network (ICNN), 

which is the UK representative body for the independent community and hyperlocal 

news sector.  

There are currently over 400 independent community publications, across the UK, 

many of which are holding decision makers and public services to account; they 

are now a mainstay of the modern media ecology. 

But they still face numerous challenges. Chief among these is economics – how to 

make community publications sustainable or viable. 

To this end, our objectives are to increase recognition of community publishers, 

make representations on their behalf to policy makers, regulatory bodies, third 

Tudalen y pecyn 114

http://www.nesta.org.uk/publications/hyperlocal-revenues-uk-and-europe
https://www.communityjournalism.co.uk/about-us/


sector funders, businesses and other organisations, and fight for opportunities and 

fair treatment. 

In addition to lobbying and advocacy work, the network will draw upon C4CJ’s 

ongoing research in order to inform high quality journalism and sustainability in 

the local and community news sector. 

ICNN will broker collaborations with industry partners to contribute to sustainable 

and innovative development within the sector. 

ICNN will offer free consultancy services to start-ups and established publications 

alike on issues concerning media law guidance, funding, and new media.  

ICNN is in a unique position to deliver the recommendations of this consultation to 

the drastically under-funded community news sector. 

ICNN will promote and protect the shared interests of the community news sector 

in the UK by: 

− acting on behalf of all community news publications, from start-ups to 

established businesses; for profits and nonprofits; committed volunteers and 

experienced journalists, and entrepreneurs;  

− to attain recognition and accreditation for the valuable contribution they 

provide to their respective communities and to the democratic process, and 

to advance the case for strong community journalism; 

− by seeking to enhance and foster a dynamic and sustainable community 

news sector through lobbying, advocacy, training, networking, research and 

monitoring 

− to ensure the success of our members’ organisations through leveraging 

economic opportunities; 

− to lead innovation and collaboration that serves the aims and ambitions of 

the sector; 

− to promote and help maintain the highest possible standards of journalism; 

− to seize opportunities to strengthen job growth in the sector by researching 

and investing in models of good and effective practice and in technology 

based solutions. 

Tudalen y pecyn 115



There is a myth that we need to continue to support and prop up traditional print 

media in order to save local journalism from certain death. Whilst continued 

support is important, what is even more important is that hundreds of other 

deserving news publishers are no longer ignored. 

The BBC reported that Newquest was awarded £245,808 in 2015 to secure 50 jobs 

and safeguard a further 15 positions in Newport. This is in addition to the £95,226 

support it received under the Skills Growth Wales programme in 2013/14. 

Giving money to a single news provider, which has continued its steady flow of job 

cuts for a number of years, was never going to be the solution to saving jobs in 

journalism. However, sharing a slice of the pie among many smaller independent 

publishers would be of far greater democratic and economic benefit to tax payers 

across Wales. 

We need to stop thinking in terms of ‘newspapers’ and start thinking in terms of 

‘news publishers’. This is as crucial when deciding who can publish public notices 

as it is when giving out funding. It’s time to balance the scales and ensure that all 

news publishers are given the same opportunities to grow and flourish. 

We live in a digital era and news providers no longer look the same. The media 

ecology has expanded far beyond local news simply being provided via a local 

newspaper. 

The growing hyperlocal and community news sector thrives in various guises 

across the UK. Many are plugging the gap left behind by traditional print media, 

which have either diminished in communities or left altogether. 

The smaller news publications may not all look the same, but they have one thing 

in common – they play an increasingly important role in addressing the democratic 

deficit and supporting the information needs of communities. These individuals 

choose to suffer long council meetings and monotonous briefings in order to 

scrutinise those representing them and provide civic value. 

Look at the amazing work they do with only one or two members of staff, and 

imagine the impact they could have as a team of three or four. A relatively small 

amount of funding can go a long way, in the right hands. 

Local news needs reporters who are embedded in the communities they serve, not 

filing remotely from the other end of the country. Geographic proximity delivers 

Tudalen y pecyn 116

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-39217385


nuance, accountability, and better journalism. It helps build trust between 

journalism and local people. Something that is needed now more than ever. 

It’s time to start looking at the big picture and provide funding to those who really 

can make a difference: hyperlocal and community news publishers. 

Instead of ignoring the individual contributions of these relatively smaller 

publishers, it is the recommendation of C4CJ and ICNN that governments and 

public bodies start to realise the potential of the sector as a whole and its capacity 

to affect positive change in communities. 

Money shared between several grassroots publications across Wales could have a 

much bigger impact and genuinely helped revive journalism at the local level. 

The NJ News Commons is a groundbreaking initiative established to connect news 

organisations throughout the state of New Jersey. It reflects the commitment of 

Montclair State University and its innovative Center for Cooperative Media at the 

School of Communication and Media to ensure that New Jersey’s news ecosystem 

is healthy, vibrant and dynamic. A project which is this inquiry may be interested in 

looking at is The NJ Story Exchange. It is an initiative to facilitate sharing within the 

New Jersey news ecosystem. The Story Exchange is powered by iCopyright, which 

allows news organisations to offer their content for embedding on other sites for 

free (with ads) or for payment (without ads). iCopyright also helps publishers brand 

and sell reprints of their stories. 

There are advantages to sharing content: views you receive on embedding sites 

counts toward your overall web traffic; click-throughs bring you new readers; there 

is no Google indexing penalty for stories running on other sites; and you can send 

ads with your content. 

Another project of interest is The Knight Foundation, which funds journalism 

projects in the USA. Wales has no equivalent offering seed corn funding for small 

start up news organisations. Like any other sector, journalism start-ups need 

support in order to be sustainable and viable.  

Hyperlocal media is already an established part of the Welsh media ecology. We 

believe all that is needed is a perception change about the value it adds, so that 

not only communities and publishers are actively aware, but that businesses, 

potential advertisers, public bodies, funders and governments are too. 

Tudalen y pecyn 117

http://njnewscommons.org/
http://centerforcooperativemedia.org/story-exchange/
http://info.icopyright.com/
https://knightfoundation.org/


Tudalen y pecyn 118



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Y Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a ChyfathrebuTudalen y pecyn 119



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 120

Eitem 4



Response to the consultation on the draft Operating Licence for the BBC’s UK 

public services 

Ofcom’s Advisory Committee for Wales 

The ACW welcomes the approach taken by Ofcom towards regulating the performance of 

the BBC under its new Charter. It does provide overall for an effective regulatory regime 

that will hold the BBC to account against delivery of the public purposes set out in the 

Charter. We welcome in particular the emphasis on first-run original content, on the need 

for distinctiveness against other broadcasters and the requirement on the BBC to invest in 

and reflect the whole of the United Kingdom. 

We wish in this response to consider the objectives and regulatory conditions particular to 

Wales, referring in detail to the document entitled The BBC’s services: audiences in Wales 

dated March 29, 2017. We have sought throughout to maintain the important distinction 

between the role of the regulator and the role of the BBC management. Our concern is to 

ensure that the regulatory conditions make practical sense, that they are internally 

consistent and that they are sufficiently challenging while not being unduly onerous. 

1.31  We welcome the inclusion of the requirement that BBC programming for the nations 

should include ‘ a wide range of genres, including drama, comedy, sports and indigenous 

language broadcasting’, as this reflects the BBC’s stated intentions in relation to Wales. We 

suggest that this phrase should be used consistently where relevant through the regulatory 

conditions (see 2.67). The assumption here is that this clause is a reference to television 

services, but that is not explained. 

2.42  We welcome the requirement that the BBC spends a minimum of 5% in terms of both 

hours and expenditure on network television programmes made in Wales. It is important to 

maintain the requirement in terms of hours as well as expenditure to ensure a sufficient 

diversity of output. It is important also that the 5% is seen as a floor not a ceiling, so as to 

avoid the possibility of a regulatory requirement leading to an actual reduction in the 

volume of network production in Wales. We welcome the reference to programme 

production at different centres in Wales, but we must beware of the risk of productions 

being badged as made in Wales while in reality the work is being done – and the money 

spent – elsewhere. We therefore see the term ‘is referable to’ as too weak in this context. 

Since the reference in this sentence is to expenditure, we suggest instead ‘is spent on 

programme production at different production centres in Wales’. 

2.46/2.48   We find this section on UK Public Radio Services unnecessarily timid. The 

comparison with television services is stark. The requirement relating to expenditure 

outside the M25 is less than for network television and there is no requirement at all for 

radio production in the nations. While we accept that there is no history of nations’ quotas 

for radio, that is not sufficient reason for not introducing them now. It is an argument 

instead for setting targets which can be reached over a given number of years. We 

recommend that the BBC’s UK radio services should be required to ensure that at least 5%  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 130



2. 

of their programmes made in the United Kingdom should be made in Wales by 2022, and 

that each year the BBC should report on their progress towards that target. 

2.49/2.50  We find the data in these sections baffling and in considerable need of 

clarification. We guess that it is the result of lumping all the programme hours for the 

nations and the English regions together, although that is indeed guesswork. There is no 

benefit, regulatory or otherwise, in combining the nations and the English regions together, 

as these will not be figures which anybody is going to find useful.  

2.66/2.68  We presume that these two sections refer to programming produced for the 

audience in Wales, although it does not say so. We suggest that after the words 

programmes/programming, the term ‘specifically for Wales’ should be inserted. While we 

understand that the minimum hours each year for non-news programming on BBC 1 Wales 

and BBC 2 Wales have been based on those in previous service licence services, there is now 

an opportunity to update them to reflect the level of programming the BBC has now 

undertaken to provide. The minimum requirement for BBC 1 Wales in this section is 65 

hours against 175 for BBC 2 Wales. The comparison with Scotland and Northern Ireland is 

instructive – the minimum requirement for non-news programming for BBC 1 Scotland is 

155 hours, more than double that for BBC 1 Wales, whereas the requirement for BBC 2 

Scotland, including Gaelic language output, is 200 hours – only just above that for BBC 2 

Wales. The relevant figure for BBC 1 Northern Ireland is 90 hours, and for BBC 2 Northern 

Ireland is 60 hours. The balance for Wales is out of kilter compared with the other two 

nations, when there should be more of an incentive to transmit programmes for Welsh 

audiences on the channel with the bigger audience. We suggest that the minimum hours on 

BBC 1 Wales should be more in line with Scotland with a corresponding decrease in the 

minimum hours on BBC 2 Wales. 

2.67   The wording in this section should replicate the wording in 1.31 in order to avoid the 

regulatory requirement appearing inconsistent. In other words, it should refer to ‘a wide 

range of genres, including drama, comedy, sports and indigenous language broadcasting’. 

2.69  Radio Wales and Radio Scotland are equivalent services and there is no particular 

justification for the minimum weekly hours requirement for news and current affairs 

programming to be less for Radio Wales than for Radio Scotland (32 against 50). We suggest 

that equivalent services should meet equivalent regulatory obligations. 

2.70  While we accept that Radio Cymru is referred to in Schedule 4 as being available with 

programming in the Welsh language, it might be helpful here to specify that Radio Cymru is 

required to be ‘a dedicated Welsh language service’. 

2.71  The proposed requirements for the BBC online service for Wales are now out of date, 

and do not reflect the objectives of the current provision. We suggest the following 

formulation:  

‘In respect of BBC Online, the BBC must ensure that: 

Tudalen y pecyn 131



3. 

It provides a separate service for Wales, which – 

Provides news and information about Wales, 

Provides coverage of sport in Wales, 

Provides educational support for the devolved curriculum in Wales, 

Provides a dedicated service in the Welsh language which meets the same requirements’. 

The issue of educational support is particularly important because of the extent to which 

the curriculum in Wales has now diverged from the English curriculum. The BBC Bitesize 

service is highly valued in Welsh schools. 

2.78-2.81  We strongly support the objectives of these sections, which are intended to hold 

the BBC to account on the issues of diversity, representation and portrayal around the 

United Kingdom. Some of the wording, however, does not carry enough weight (eg ‘have 

regard to’). The BBC will certainly be collecting data on these matters, so we suggest that 

the wording be strengthened where relevant to require the BBC to report annually ‘how it 

has delivered’ the various requirements in 2.78. This will be a stronger regulatory tool than 

any surveys of audience satisfaction. 

 

Related questions 

We note the reference in 1.31 to indigenous language broadcasting as one of the regulatory 

requirements.  BBC Wales is currently obliged by statute to provide a minimum of ten hours 

of programming per week to S4C. The question is whether this should be acknowledged in 

the regulatory conditions in the Operating Licence. 

BBC public radio services are obliged in sections 2.53/54 to ensure that 100% of programme 

content during breakfast peak hours is speech content. We support that as a regulatory 

requirement of existing services. We understand that Radio Cymru is considering launching 

a separate breakfast service on digital which would contain a considerable proportion of 

music content. This service would presumably require a separate Ofcom licence, but it is 

important to understand whether such a licence would be possible under the provision of 

sections 2.53/54. 

One of the key problems in securing a greater audience for news and information about 

Wales is the percentage of radio listeners who tune into the BBC’s UK stations and thus get 

only English news – especially Radio 2 which has a stronger signal across much of Wales on 

FM than Radio Wales. We understand that the BBC is considering placing opt-out Welsh 

news bulletins on Radio 2 in Wales (although no decision has yet been made). If this is given 

the go-ahead, we would like to consider whether it can be captured in the regulatory 

conditions. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 132



4. 

We would be grateful if the Operating Licence Team could respond to the points we have 

raised in this paper, either at a meeting or in writing. 

Glyn Mathias, Chair, Ofcom Advisory Committee for Wales 

May 2, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 133



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

   
Secretary of State for Culture, Media 
and Sport  
4th Floor 
100 Parliament Street 
London SW1A 2BQ 
 
 
www.gov.uk/dcms 
enquiries@culture.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

 
Our Ref: 300764/dm/5  
  
 
 
Bethan Jenkins AM 
Chair 
Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee 
adam.vaughan@assembly.wales  
  
   
   
            15 May 2017 
 
Dear Bethan, 

  

 

Thank you for your correspondence of 16 February, regarding the Committee's recently 
published report on broadcasting in Wales, and for bringing my attention to the 
Committee's recommendations for the UK Government. I apologise for the delay in 
responding. 

 

Recommendation 6 (S4C funding and review) 

 

The Government is committed to the future of Welsh language broadcasting and of S4C. 
That is why we made a commitment to carry out an independent review of the 
broadcaster during 2017, covering S4C’s remit, funding and governance, and it is why we 
announced earlier this year that we will be providing an additional £350,000 of capital 
funding to S4C for 2017/18. This funding will enable S4C to carry out upgrades to its 
technical and IT equipment, which are necessary for S4C to remain up-to-date in an 
increasingly competitive and fast-changing broadcasting market. As you may know, the 
Government is also investing in S4C’s long-term future with a £10 million loan to enable 
the relocation of S4C’s headquarters to Carmarthen and co-location of technical facilities 
with the BBC in Cardiff.  

 

Recommendation 8 (EPG prominence) 

 

The Communications Act 2003 gives Ofcom a duty to ensure that “appropriate 

Tudalen y pecyn 134

Eitem 5.1

http://www.gov.uk/dcms
mailto:enquiries@culture.gov.uk


 
Department for Culture, Media & Sport 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

prominence” on the Electronic Programme Guide for linear TV is given to Public Service 
Broadcasters (PSBs) such as S4C.  

 

As part of the Balance of Payments Consultation, the Government considered extending 
the Electronic Programme Guide (EPG) prominence regime for PSBs to include their on-
demand services such as the BBC's iPlayer.  

 

Our conclusion then - which remains our view – is that we have not seen compelling 
evidence of harm to PSBs to date. However, we recognise that this is a fast moving 
technological landscape which needs to be kept under review and therefore under the 
Digital Economy Act 2017, Ofcom has been placed under a new duty to publish a report 
which will look at the ease of finding and accessing PSB content across all TV platforms 
on both a linear and on-demand basis. Ofcom will also be required to review its 
broadcast EPG code by 1 December 2020 and publish its first report on accessibility and 
discoverability of PSB content before then. 

 

There are at present no requirements on how PSBs' on-demand players should organise 
the content available within their services. So the prominence of S4C programmes within 
iPlayer is a matter for the BBC. 

 

I am copying this letter to the Secretary of State for Wales, the Rt Hon Alun Cairns. 

 

I hope that this is helpful. 

 

 
 

The Rt Hon Karen Bradley 

Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 135



GM/del/SG 

Bethan Jenkins AM 
Chair of the Culture 
Welsh Language and Communications Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF991NA 

20 April 2017 

Dear Bethan 

CONSULTATION: THE FUTURE OF S4C 

I am the Head of the Broadcasting, Entertainment, Cinematograph and Theatre Union 
C'BECTU'') sector of Prospect. I am writing to you regarding the evidence received by you 
in the course of the Consultation by the Culture, Welsh Language and Communications 
Committee ("the Committee'') on the Future of S4C. 

As you know, BECTU submitted written evidence to the Committee, and David Donovan 
and Sian Gale of BECTU attended a meeting of the Committee to give oral evidence on 
30 March 2017. 

My decision to write to you has been prompted by the evidence given to the Committee 
by Ron Jones, Executive Chairman of production company Tinopolis, at the meeting on 
30 March 2017. During the course of his evidence, Mr Jones was asked a question by Lee 
Waters AM. Mr Waters referred to BECTU's evidence and asked why, among private 
suppliers for S4C, trades unions were not recognised. Mr Jones responded: 

''our relationship with BECTU is long and acrid, on the basis that when I first set up 
the company, BECTU blacked us for five years on the basis that we would not employ 
people made redundant by H~ and I was committed then and now to an 
arrangement whereby I recruited my own staff, trained them to a high standard and 
made them part of the industry. So), whilst a lot of our members), a lot of our 
colleagues are union members), NUJ and BECTU particularly, my record of dealing with 
them shows them not to be partners I can trust in commercial negotiations. " 

At the conclusion of Mr Jones' eVidence, and the Committee's proceedings that day, you 
suggested to him, and to Nia Thomas, MD for Boom Cymru who provided evidence at the 
same time, that you would be prepared to accept a note from them on the question of 
their relationship with the unions. I hope that on the basis of that offer you are generally 
willing to consider further evidence on this important issue. More significantly, Mr Jones' 
statement set out above contains two serious inaccuracies and I wish to put on the 
record BECTU's position in relation to them. This is all the more necessary where Mr 
Jones is a very prominent individual within the media sector in Wales, who chairs the 
Welsh Government's advisory panel for the creative industries. 

BECTU 
BROA.DCASTING 

ENTERTAINMENT 

COMMUNICATIONS , 

THEATRE UNION 

HfAO oma 

373-377 (IAPHAM ROAD 

LONDON SW9 98T 

TEl: 020 7346 0900 

fAX: 020 7346 090 I 

www.bertu.org.uk 

HfAO OflEOU 

Gerry Monissey 

NATIONAL SffRETARIES 

Philippa Childs 
Spen(er Ma(Donakl 
Sarah Ward 

a sedor of Prospetf 

union for profeSSIonals Tudalen y pecyn 136

Eitem 5.2



Firstly, Mr Jones alleges that BECTU blacklisted his company for five years because it 
would not employ staff made redundant by HTv. This is demonstrably false. 

Mr Jones' company Tinopolis was previously named Agenda. During 1991 and 1992, 
BECTU and Mr Donovan (then a field officer involved in the negotiating process) liaised 
with Agenda over the completion of a "House Agreement" which would cover workers 
who would be recognised as staff for the purposes of collective bargaining. At a late 
stage in the process of settling the fina l terms of the House Agreement, Mr Jones became 
involved in the negotiations. No further progress was achieved following his involvement 
and, ultimately, BECTU wrote to him regarding the involvement of Teledwyr Annibynnol 
Cymru ("TAC''), and placing Agenda in TAC's disputes procedure. Mr Jones refused any 
involvement by TAC in achieving the conclusion of a House Agreement, and his refusal to 
negotiate over BECTU's role at his company has continued to this day. In short, his 
company has obstinately and wrongly refused to countenance an entirely legitimate 
agreement with BECTU regarding its activities. 

In contrast to Mr Jones' position of unfounded antipathy towards BECTU, th is Union has 
never threatened or in fact acted to blacklist Mr Jones or Tinopolis for the time period or 
reasons that he alleges, or at al l. There is no reference to any purported or actual 
blacklisting in the contemporaneous correspondence between BECTU and Agenda, and 
neither Mr Donovan nor anyone else at BECTU ever issued an instruction or threat to 
blacklist the company. I n the years that BECTU has been representing members in 
Wales, in individual cases or collectively, it has never issued such a threat to any 
employer, large or small. 

I n any event, to blacklist a company such as Agenda/Tinopolis would be unreasonable 
and wrong. It would be entirely contrary to BECTU's policy of pursuing constructive 
engagement with businesses where its members work, and would be a flagrant betrayal 
of the interests both of its members and those who work in the entertainment sector 
nationally. I n addition to its inaccuracy, this is a further reason why his allegation is 
particularly objectionable, and requires correction. 

Second, Mr Jones alleges that BECTU has acted in a way that means it is an 
untrustworthy partner in commercial negotiations. This is a serious allegation of 
dishonesty. It is also one for which Mr Jones indicates no factual basis whatsoever. As set 
out above, BECTU negotiated with Mr Jones in good fa ith to set up a House Agreement 
at his company. BECTU and its representatives never behaved in a way that could fairly 
be described as untrustl,\lorthy, and the break-down in these discussions simply cannot 
be laid at BECTU's door. Like Mr Jones' allegation of black-listing, this is an accusation 
which goes to the heart of BECTU's work, and, again, requires correction. 

The media sector in Wales involves only a relatively small number of individuals and 
organisations, and a number of those have given evidence to your committee. I n these 
circumstances, there is an obvious risk, as he must have known when he made them, 
that Mr Jones' allegations reflect directly on the integrity of identifiable individual officers 
of BECTU. I must emphasise in this regard that BECTU's officers have conducted 
themselves with integrity and always acted in good fa ith in their relationships with others 
in the sector. 

Tudalen y pecyn 137



I would be grateful if this correspondence could be included in BECTU's evidence to your 
Committee, and if a copy could be provided to each member in order that they are aware 
of BECTU's position in respect of Mr Jones' allegations. 

I am not clear whether or not Tinopolis does at this stage intend to provide further 
evidence of its own on the question of the company's relationship with the Unions. 

The company's approach to that relationship is obviously an important issue. Moreover, 
the specific allegations made by Mr Jones and BECTU's detailed objections to them set 
out above are, as I have explained, a matter of serious concern for BECTU and the sector 
more widely. I n the circumstances, I respectfully suggest that it would be appropriate for 
Tinopolis to provide for the Committee an explanation for them. Alternatively, if tv1r Jones 
decides on reflection not to persist in them, it would be appropriate for him to indicate 
that the allegations are formally withdrawn. 

Yours sincerely 

.. "Y ~»::-:j 
Gerry Morrissey­
Head of BECTU 

Tudalen y pecyn 138



Tudalen y pecyn 139


	Agenda
	2 Newyddiaduraeth newyddion yng Nghymru: Sesiwn Dystiolaeth 1
	Papur 1 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 2a (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 2b (Saesneg yn unig)

	2.1 Ymatebion i'r Ymgynghoriad: Newyddiaduraeth yng Nghymru
	Cynnwys
	NJW01 Prifysgol Bangor
	NJW02 BBC Cymru
	NJW03 Media Cymru (Saesneg yn Unig)
	NJW04 Neil Taylor (Saesneg yn Unig)
	NJW05 NUJ Cymru
	NJW06 S4C
	NJW06 S4C (Mewnol yn Unig)
	NJW07 Caerphilly Observer (Saesneg yn Unig)
	NJW08 Paul Rowland, Trinity Mirror (Saesneg yn Unig)
	NJW09 Dr. Andy Williams, Prifysgol Caerdydd - Newyddion Cymunedol Hyperleol (Saesneg yn Unig)
	NJW10 Dr. Andy Williams, Prifysgol Caerdydd – Newyddion Lleol (Saesneg yn Unig)
	NJW11 ITV Cymru
	NJW12 Sefydliad Materion Cymreig (Saesneg yn Unig)
	NJW13 Emma Meese, Prifysgol Caerdydd (Saesneg yn Unig)
	Tudalen Cefn

	4 Trwydded weithredu drafft ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus y DU y BBC: sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda Phwyllgor Cynghori Ofcom.
	Papur 3 (Saesneg yn unig)

	5.1 Ymateb Llywodraeth y DU i adroddiad y Pwyllgor: Y Darlun Mawr – Safbwyntiau cychwynnol y Pwyllgor ar ddarlledu yng Nghymru
	5.2 Dyfodol S4C: Rhagor o wybodaeth gan BECTU



